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In the District Court for the Territory of Alaska

First Judicial Division

No. 6725-A

HENRY RODEN,
Plaintiff,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corpora-

tion,

Defendant.

AJMENDED COMPLAINT

Comes Now the plaintiff and files this amended

complaint herein, herein, and for a claim against

the defendant, alleges:

1. That plaintiff has heretofore been, and is now
a citizen of Juneau, Alaska, and the duly elected,

qualified and acting Treasurer of the Territory of

Alaska, and a person of good reputation among his

neighbors and fellow citizens.

2. That under existing law the Treasurer of said

Territory is ex officio a member of what is com-

monly known as the "Territorial Board of Road
Commissioners'^ for said Territory, and said Board
is composed of the Governor, the Highway Engineer

and the Treasurer of said Territory ; that Frank A.

Metcalf is the duly elected, qualified and acting

Highway Engineer of said Territory; that Ernest
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Gruening is the duly appointed, qualified and acting

Governor, and said two last named persons, to-

gether with this plaintiff, at all times herein men-

tioned, composed said Board of Road Commission-

ers and as such performed all duties assigned to it

by the laws of said Territory.

3. That the defendant above named is a domestic

corporation, engaged in the printing and publishing

business and said corporation is the publisher and

proprietor of that cei-tain newspaper known as "The

Daily Alaska Empire," printed and published at

Juneau, Alaska, and of daily circulation in said

town of Juneau and elsewhere in said Territory and

other places.

4. That before the commission of the acts by de-

fendant hereinafter complained of, the said Frank

A. Metcalf, the said Ernest Gruening and this plain-

tiff, acting as the duly constituted Board of Ter-

ritorial Road Commissioners, and pursuant to law,

purchased and acquired for and on behalf of the

Territory, the motor vessel "Chilkoot," and caused

the same to be operated upon and in the waters of

Southeastern Alaska for the transportation of pas-

sengers and the caiTying of freight; that in order

to operate said vessel as aforesaid it became and

was necessary to employ seafaring men, purchase

supplies and keep said vessel in seaworthy condi-

tion ; that the cost and expenses thus incurred were

paid, in part, by said Board out of revenues earned

by said vessel.
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5. That before the commission of the acts by de-

fendant hereinafter complained of, one Oscar G.

Olson had been the duly elected, qualified and act-

ing Treasurer of the Territory of Alaska : that said

Olson, upon indictment duly found by the Grand

Jury for the Territory of xVlaska, First Judicial Di-

vision, charging him, the said Olson with embezzle-

ment of funds and money belonging to the Territory

of Alaska, and coming into his possession as Treas-

urer of said Territory, entered liis plea of guilty to

such charges and upon such plea was duly sentenced

by the United States District Court for the Ter-

ritory of Alsaka, Fii^st Judicial Division, and to

serve such sentence in the penitentiary on McNeil's

Island, in the State of Washington, and said Olson,

at all times herein mentioned was and now is con-

fined in said penal institution.

6. That on the 25th day of September, 1952, the

above named defendant, did then and there in the

said newspaper called "The Daily Alaska EmiDire,"

publish, and caused to be published, certain false,

scandalous, defamatory, and libelous headlines,

articles and editorial: that a complete photostatic

copy of the front page of "The Daily Alaska Em-
pire" for September 25, 1952, is attached hereto

marked Exhibit "A" and made a part, hereof by

reference the same as though copied herein ver-

batim; that of the material appearing on said front

page, the following false, scandalous, defamatory,

and libelous portions were published of and con-

cerning this plaintiff:
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Headline

:

"Bare * Special' Ferry Fund'^

Sub-headline

:

*'Reeve Raps Graft, Corruption"

Sub-headline

:

''Gruening, Metcalf, Roden, Divert *Chilkoot'

Cash to Private Bank Account"

News Article:

Entire article appearing two right hand

columns, front page, including continuation

right hand column, page two

Editorial

:

Entire editorial entitled ''Start Talking,

Boys" center front page.

7. That said headlines, articles and editorial

were maliciously published of and concerning plain-

tiff and were intended to and did expose plaintiff to

the scorn, hatred and contempt of the general pub-

lic and residents of Alaska and his friends and

neighbors, and the same were intended to convey

and did convey to the entire conununity and the

general public the belief that plaintiff was dis-

honest and corrupt, and that he and his associates,

Metcalf and Gruening, were guilty of the crime of

embezzlement and of converting funds belonging to

the Territory of Alaska to his and their own use,

contrary to and in violation of law.

8. That the libel complained of herein was the

culmination of a campaign of misrepresentation,
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falsehood and calumny against the said Governor

of Alaska, Ernest Gniening, intended to discredit

and disgrace liini and his associates in the admin-

istration of the affairs of the Territory of Alaska,

including this plaintiff, and that the libel com-

plained of herein and the campaign waged by the

defendant for a long time prior thereto was wil-

ful, wrongful and malicious and intended and de-

signed to injure, disgrace and defame this plain-

tiff and to bring him into public disgrace and con-

tempt.

That by reason of the false, malicious and de-

famatory publication aforesaid, plaintiff has been

publicly disgraced and injured in his good name, to

his damage in the sum of Fifty Thousand ($50,000)

Dollars.

Wherefore, plaintiff prays judgment against the

defendant in the sum of Fifty Thousand ($50,000)

Dollars as compensatory or general damages and the

sum of Fifty Thousand ($50,000) dollars as pimitive

or exemplary damages, and for costs and a reasonable

attorneys' fee herein.

KAY, ROBISON AND MOODY,

/s/ HENEY RODEN,
Plaintiff.

Duly verified.

[Endorsed] : Filed April 16, 1953.
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In the District Court for the Territory of Alaska

First Judicial Division

No. 6726-A

ERNEST GRUENING,
Plaintiff,

YS.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corpora-

tion,

Defendant.

AMENDED COMPLAINT

Comes now the plaintiff and files this amended

complaint herein, and for a claim against the de-

fendant, alleges:

1. That plaintiff has heretofore been, and now is,

a citizen of Juneau, Alaska, and the duly appointed,

qualified and acting Governor of the Territory of

Alaska, and a person of good reputation among his

neighbors and fellow citizens.

2. That under existing law the Governor of said

Territory is ex-officio a member of what is commonly

known as the "Territorial Board of Road Com-

missioners" for said Territory, and said Board is

composed of the Governor, the Highway Engineer

and the Treasurer of said Territory; that Henry

Roden is the duly elected, qualified and acting

Treasurer of said Territory ; that Frank A. Metcalf
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is the duly elected, qualified and acting Highway

Engineer, and said two last named persons, to-

gether with this plaintiff, at all times herein men-

tioned, composed said Board of Road Commissioners

and as such performed all duties assigned to it by

the laws of said Territory.

3. That the defendant above named is a domestic

corporation, engaged in the printing and publishing

business and said corporation is the publisher and

proprietor of that certain newspaper known as * * The

Daily Alaska Empire," printed and published at

Juneau, Alaska, and of daily circulation in said

town of Juneau and elsewhere in said Territory

and other places.

4. That before the commission of the acts by de-

fendant hereinafter complained of, the said Henry
Roden, the said Frank A. Metcalf and this plain-

tiff, acting as the duly constituted Board of Ter-

ritorial Road Conmiissioners, and pursuant to law,

purchased and acquired for and on behalf of the

Territory, the motor vessel ''Chilkoot," and caused

the same to be operated upon and in the waters of

Southeastern Alaska for the transportation of pas-

sengers and the carrying of freight; that in order

to operate said vessel as aforesaid it became and
was necessary to employ seafaring men, purchase

supplies and keep said vessel in seaworthy condi-

tion ; that the cost and expenses thus incurred were

paid, in part, by said Board out of revenues earned

by said vessel.
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5. That before the commission of the acts by de-

fendant hereinafter complained of, one Oscar G.

Olson had been the duly elected, qualified and act-

ing Treasurer of the Territory of Alaska ; that said

Olson, upon indictment duly found by the Grand

Jury for the Territory of Alaska, First Judicial Di-

vision, charging him, the said Olson with embezzle-

ment of funds and money belonging to the Territory

of Alaska, and coming into his possession as Treas-

urer of said Territory, entered his plea of guilty

to such charges and upon such plea was duly sen-

tenced by the United States District Court for the

Territory of Alaska, First Judicial Division, and

to serve such sentence in the penitentiary on Mc-

Neil's Island, in the State of AVashington, and

said Olson, at all times herein mentioned was and

now is confined in said penal institution.

6. That on the 25th day of September, 1952, the

above-named defendant, did then and there in the

said newspaper called ''The Daily Alaska Empire,"

publish, and caused to be published, certain false,

scandalous, defamatory, and libelous headlines,

articles and editorial; that a complete photostatic

copy of the front page of "The Daily Alaska Em-
pire" for September 25, 1952, is attached hereto

marked Exhibit "A" and made a part hereof by

reference the same as though copied herein ver-

batim ; that of the material appearing on said front

page, the following false, scandalous, defamatory,

and libelous portions were published of and con,-

cerning this plauitiff

:
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Headline

:

"Bare 'Special' Ferry Fund"

Sub-headline

:

*' Reeve Raps Graft, Corruption"

Sub-headline

:

''Gruening, Metcalf, Roden, Divert 'Chilkoot'

Cash to Private Bank Account"

News Article

:

Entire article appearing two right hand

columns, front page, including continuation

right hand column, page two.

Editorial

:

Entire editorial entitled ''Start Talking,

Boys" center front page.

7. That said headlines, articles and editorial were

maliciously published of and concerning plaintiff

and were intended to and did expose plaintiff to the

scorn, hatred and contempt of the general public

and residents of Alaska and his friends and neigh-

bors, and the same were intended to convey and did

convey to the entire community and the general pub-

lic the belief that plaintiff was dishonest and cor-

rupt, and that he and his associates, Roden and Met-

calf, were guilty of the crime of embezzlement and
of converting funds belonging to the Territory of

Alaska to his and their own use, contrary to and in

violation of law.

8. That the libel complained of herein was the

culmination of a campaign of misrepresentation,
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falsehood and calumny against the plaintiff intended

to discredit and disgrace him and his administration

of the affairs of the Territory of Alaska, and that

the libel complained of herein and the campaign

waged against the plaintiff by the defendant for a

long time prior thereto was wilful, wrongful and

malicious and intended and designed to injure, dis-

grace and defame this plaintiff and to bring him

into public disgrace and contempt.

That by reason of the false, malicious and de-

famatory publication aforesaid, plaintiff has been

publicly disgraced and injured in his good name,

to his damage in the sum of One Hundred Thousand

($100,000) Dollars. That by reason of said false

and malicious publication plaintiff demands ex-

emplary and punitive damages against said defend-

ant in the further sum of One Hundred Thousand

($100,000) Dollars.

Wherefore, plaintiff prays judgment against the

defendant in the sum of Two Hundred Thousand

($200,000) Dollars and for costs and a reasonable

attorneys' fee herein.

KAY, ROBISON AND MOODY,

/s/ ERNEST GRUENING,
Plaintiff.

Duly verified.

[Endorsed] : Filed April 16, 1953.
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In the District Court for the Ten-itory of Alaska,

First Judicial Division

No. 6727-A

FRANK A. METCALF,
Plaintiff,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corpora-

tion,

Defendant.

AMENDED COMPLAINT

Comes Now the plaintiff and files this amended

complaint herein, and for a claim against the de-

fendant, alleges:

1. That plaintiff has heretofore been, and was at

times mentioned herein, a citizen of Jimeau, Alaska,

and the duly elected, qualified and acting Highway
Engineer of the Territory of Alaska, and a person

of good reputation among his neighbors and fellow

citizens.

2. That under existing law the Highway En-

gineer of said Territory is ex officio a member of

what is commonly known as the ''Territorial Board
of Road Commissioners" for said Territory, and

said Board is composed of the Governor, the High-

way Engineer and the Treasurer of said Territory;

that Henry Roden is the duly elected, qualified and



14 Empire Pn»Uing Co. vs.

acting TTeasurer of said Territoiy; Uiat Uraest

Graening is the duly api>ointed, qualified snd acting

Governor, and said two last named pexsons, to-

gether with this plaintiff, at all times herein men-

tioned, composed said Board of Road CkMmnissioneis

and as saeh peifoimed all duties assigned to it by

the laws of said Territory.

3. That the defendant above named is a domestic

corporation, engaged in the printing and publishing

business and said corporation is the publisher and

proprietor of that certain newspaper known as "The

Daily A1a<;ka Empire," printed and pubUshed at

Junean, Ala^lra^ and of daily circulation in said

town of Juneau and elsewhere in said Territory and

other plaeeSw

4. That before the commission of the acts by de-

fendant hereiuafter complained of, the said Hemy
Boden^ the said Ernest Gruening and this plan: if.

acting as the duly constituted Board of Territorial

Boad Commissioners, and pursuant to law, purchased

and acquired for and on behalf of the Territory, the

motor Tessel "Chilkoot," and cause the same to be

operated upon and in the waters of Southeastern

AlAi^ka for the transportation of passengers and 'ii-

carrying of freigjit; fliat in order to operate :

vessel as aforesaid it becanie and was neeessary :

employ seafaring men, purchase supplies and .: ^y

said vessel in seaworflky condition; that tibe ^^^

and expenses thus incurred were paid, in part, by

said Board out of revenues earned by said vesseL
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5. That before the cormnission of the acts by de-

fendant lieroinafter complained of, one Oscar G.

Olson had been the duly elected, qualified and acting

Treasurer of the Territory of Alaska; that said

Olson, upon indictment duly found by the Grand

Jury for the Territory of Alaska, P^irst Judicial Di-

vision, charging him, the said Olson with embezzle-

ment of funds and money belonging to the Ter-

ritory of Alaska, and coming into his possession as

Treasurer of said Territory, entered his plea of

guilty to such charges and upon such plea was duly

sentenced by the United States District Court for

the Territory of Alaska, First Judicial Division,

and to serve such sentence in the penitentiary on

McNeil's Island, in the State of AVashington, and

said Olson, at all times herein mentioned was and

now is confined in said penal institution.

6. That on the 25th day of September, 1952, the

above-named defendant, did then and there in the

said newspaper called "The Daily Alaska Empire,"

publish, and caused to be published, certain false,

scandalous, defamatory, and libelous headlines,

articles and editorial; that a complete photostatic

copy of the front page of "The Daily Alaska Em-
pire" for September 25, 1952, is attached hereto

marked Exhibit "A" and made a ])art hereof

by reference the same as though copied herein ver-

batim ; that of the material appearing on said front

page, the following false, scandalous, defamatory,

and libelous portions were published of and con-

cerning this plaintiff

:
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Headline

:

*'Bare 'Special' Ferry Fund"

Sub-headHne

:

"Reeve Raps Graft, Con^uption"

Sub-headline

:

"Gruening, Metcalf, Roden. Divert 'Chilkoot'

Cash to Private Bank Account"

News Article

:

Entire article appearing two right hand

columns, front page, including continuation

right hand coliunn. page two.

Editorial

:

Entire editorial entitled "Start. Talking

Boys" center front page.

7. That said headlines, articles and editorial were

maliciously published of and concerning plaintiff

and were intended to and did expose plaintiff to the

scorn, hatred and contempt of the general public and

residents of Alaska and his friends and neighbors,

and the same were intended to convey and did

convey to the entire community and the general

public the belief that plaintiff was dishonest and cor-

rupt, and that he and his associates, Roden and

Gruening, were guilty of the crime of embezzle-

ment and of converting funds belonging to the Ter-

ritory of Alaska to his and their own use, con-

trary to and in violation of law.

8. That the Ubel complained of herein was the

culmination of a campaign of misrepresentation,



J/( uri/ liodcn, et al. 17

fals(;li()<)(l and caluiniiy a^^ainst the said (iuvernor

ol' Alaska, Knu^st (inicnin^', intended to discredit

and dis^'race liim and liis associates in tlie a<Jmin-

istration of tlie affairs «»f tlie Territory of Alaska,

including' this })huntilT, and that the lihel coni-

plaiin'(l (if hociri and the eampaipjn wa^^ed by the

defendant for a h)n^ time prior thereto was wilful,

wronj^ful and in.ilicioiis and intcndiMJ and desij^ned

to injure, disgrace and defame this plaintiff and

to l)i-ing hini into public dis^rracc and contempt.

'J'hat by I'eason of the false, malicious and de-

famatory publication aforesaid, jil.iintiiT has been

publicly disgraced and injured in his good name, to

his damage in the sum of One Ifundrcd Thousand

(5i^lUU,UOaOO; Dollai-s.

Wherefore, plaintiff prays judgment against the

defendant in the sum of One Hundred Thousand

($1UU,0UU.0U; iJollars and for costs and a reason-

able attorneys' fee herein.

KAY, ROBISON AND MOODY,

/s/ FRANK A. MpyrCALF,
Plaintiff.

Duly verified.

[Endorsed] : Filed April 16, 1953.
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[Title of District Court and Cause.]

No. 6725-A

ANSWER OF DEFENDANT
TO AMENDED COMPLAINT

Comes now the Empire Printing Company, a cor-

poration, defendant above named, and in answer

to the Complaint filed in the above-entitled case,

admits, denies and alleges as follows:

T.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph I.

II.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph II.

III.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph III.

TV.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph TV.

Y.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph V.

YI.

Referring to the allegations contained in Para-

graph YI, the defendant admits that it published in

The Daily Alaska Empire the articles and editorial

set foHh in Exhibit "A" to plaintiff's Amended
Complaint, and defendant denies that any portions



Henry Roden, et ah 19

of the articles or editorial were false, scandalous,

defamatory or libelous.

VII.

Defendant denies the allegations contained in

Paragraph VII of plaintiff's Amended Complaint.

VIII.

Defendant denies each and every allegation con-

tained in Paragi'aph VIII of the Amended Com-

plaint, and in this connection alleges that plaintiff's

reputation and name have remained the same since

the publication of the articles complained of in

Paragi-aph VI of the Amended Complaint, as they

were before the publication of those articles.

For a further, separate and affirmative defense to

plaintiff's Complaint, the defendant alleges as fol-

lows:

First Affirmative Defense

I.

Defendant realleges all the allegations and re-

peats the admissions and denials contained in Para-

graphs I to VIII, inclusive, of its answer to the

Amended Complaint as hereinabove set forth.

II.

That the articles complained of and referred to in

plaintiff's Amended Complaint are set forth in full

in Exhibit *'A," ^'B" and ^*C" hereto attached and

made a part of this Answer, and prayed to be read

in connection herewith as fully as though set forth
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in each and every paragraph to which reference is

made thereto.

III.

That all the facts stated in the articles com-

plained of are true and correct, and as therein

stated, and these facts are of record in the office

of the Auditor of the Territory of Alaska and all

opinions expressed in setting forth the facts are a fair

comment thereon and privileged, as more fully set

forth and claimed hereinafter.

IV.

That all the facts set forth in the editorial con-

tained on page one of the issue of the Empire of

September 25, 1952, and contained in Exhibit "A''

attached to plaintiff's Amended Complaint are true

and correct and all comment made upon the facts

set forth in the editorial are fair comment and

privileged criticism, as more fully set forth herein-

after.

Second Affirmative Defense

I.

Defendant realleges all the allegations set forth

in Paragraphs I to VI, inclusive, of its Answer to

plaintiff's Complaint, and in Paragraphs I to IV,

inclusive, of the First Affirmative Defense.

IL
That the Daily Alaska Empire is a newspaper of

general circulation published in Jimeau, Alaska, and

circulated and read throughout the Territory and
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elsewhere, and one of its functions is to keep the

people, the taxpayers and voters and all the in-

habitants of the Territory, fully informed of the

official acts of its Territorial and Federal officials,

and especially to inform the taxpayers and in-

habitants of the Territory of the disposition of

public funds and all methods employed in the dis-

bursement thereof, and to call attention of the public

to all irregularities in the receipt, disbursement and

handling of public funds, and the articles com-

plained of by the plaintiff and which are set forth

in Exhibits **A" and '*B^' to this answer were

written for that purpose and on information fur-

nished the defendant from public records and based

upon information furnished by public officials, and

that information is true, and one of the duties of

the defendant in the publication of facts pertaining

to the official acts of its officials and of the Federal

officials dealing with Territorial affairs is to com-

ment upon such facts, express opinions and draw
conclusions for the benefit of the taxpayers, voters

and inhabitants of the Territory of Alaska, and the

defendant is privileged and it is its duty to make
such comment.

III.

That in the venture of the Territory into the

transportation business as set forth in plaintiff's

Complaint, there has been a very substantial loss of

public fimds, not only in the purchase and repair of

the vessel "Chilkoot," but in its operation, and one

of the duties of the defendant is to inform the pub-

lic of the facts and of all irregularities in the han-
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dling of funds, whether these irregularities were in

good faith or otherwise, and it was especially the

duty of the defendant to publish such facts during

an election campaign. That Territorial Highway En-

gineer Frank A. Metcalf was a candidate for re-

election to his office at the time the publication was

made, and plaintiff is another elective official of the

Territory, and the Governor is an appointed of-

ficial appointed b}^ the President of the United

States, and at the time of the publication of the

articles complained of there was an election pending

for President of the United States and for members

of CongTess. That the Territorial election had been

set by law for October 14, 1952, and the Presidential

election for November 4, 1952.

IV.

That the publication complained of and which

was based upon facts furnished the defendant and

which the defendant firmly believed to be true, con-

tained comments and opinions of the defendant

which were based upon the belief of the officers of

defendant that the facts were true, and that the com-

ments and opinions expressed were justified, and

these comments and opinions were not published for

the purpose of injuring the plaintiff or anyone else,

and they contained no statement or implication that

the plaintiff had embezzled, stolen or converted to

his OT^TL use any monies whatsoever, but the inten-

tion of the articles as a whole was to inform the gen-

eral public, the taxpayers, inhabitants of the Territory

and the candidates for public offices, including can-
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didates for the Territorial legislature, that there

were irregularities aud illegal and unauthorized acts

committed by the plaintiff, Gruening and Metcalf,

in the receipt, handling and disbursement of public

funds.

V.

That the matters covered by the publication afore-

said were matters of public concern in which the

public of the Territory of Alaska was vitally in-

terested, and the criticism of the acts of plaintiff,

Gruening and Metcalf, was justified and based upon

true and privileged statements of fact which were

known and available to all members of the jDublic, in-

cluding the plaintiff; the opinions were the actual

opinions of defendant and its officers, employees and

writers, and they were not expressed for the pur-

pose of causing harm to anyone, and they dealt only

with the public conduct of public officials.

Third Affirmative Defense

I.

As a third and separate Affirmative Defense, de-

fendant realleges all the allegations, admissions and

denials contained in the Answer to plaintiff's Com-
plaint, and in the First and Second Affirmative De-

fenses.

II.

That on September 25, 1952, in the issue of the

Daily Alaska Empire and on page one of the Em-
pire and immediately adjoining the article com-

plained of, the defendant published the explana-
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tion of plaintiff and Frank A. Metcalf, Territorial

Highway Engineer, who were the two members of

the Territorial Board of Road Commissioners serv-

ing with the Governor, Ernest Gruening, and their

opinion and explanation was published in detail

and it was published for the purpose of giving to the

public such explanation as the members of the Ter-

ritorial Board of Road Commissioners, including

this plaintiff, desired to give regarding the handling

of the funds referred to. A full, true and correct

cop3^ of the statement of plaintiff and Metcalf is

hereto attached and marked Exhibit "C," and

prayed to be read as a part of this answer, and ref-

erence is made thereto as though fully set forth

herein.

III.

That at the time of the publication the Governor

was not available for comment, but the Territorial

Highway Engineer and the plaintiff constituted a

majority of the membership of the Board, and their

explanation and their statement has not at any time

been denied in whole or in part by the Governor, and

although the columns of the Daily Alaska Empire

have been open to him at all times and all state-

ments given by him to the defendant have been

published in full.

IV.

That there was no malice in the publications of

September 25, 1952, which are complained of, and

the publication was made solely in the public in-

terest and for the purpose of giving information to
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the public, as heremabove alleged; and it was

privileged criticism.

V.

That in order to emphasize the fact that there

was no malice intended in the publication of articles

complained of in plaintiff's Complaint and no in-

tent to injure the plaintiff' or to charge him with the

commission of any crime, the defendant, on Sep-

tember 26, 1952, published in a prominent place on

the front page of its issue of the Daily Alaska Em-
pire of that date, in large type, a statement, a full,

true and correct copy of which is hereto attached

and marked Exhibit '^D," and prayed to be read as

a part of this Answer as though fully set forth in

this paragraph, and to which reference is hereby

made.

Wherefore defendant prays that plaintiff's

Amended Complaint be dismissed, and that it have

and recover from the plaintiff its costs and disburse-

ments herein.

A jury is requested for the trial of the above-en-

titled cause.

Dated at Juneau, Alaska, this 11th day of August,

1953.

/s/ H. L. FAULKNER,

/s/ R. E. ROBERTSON,
Attorneys for Defendant.

Duly Verified.
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EXHIBIT *'A"

Bare ''Special" Ferry Fund

Gruening, Metcalf, Roden

Divert ''Chilkoot" Cash to

Private Bank Account

Auditor Neil Moore and Assistant

Attorney General John Dimond
Halt Payments From Fund

By Jack D. Daum

To avoid paying territorial money into the gen-

eral fund as provided by law, Governor Gruening,

Treasurer Roden and Highway Engineer Frank

Metcalf have set up a "special fund" at a Juneau

bank, territorial auditor Neil Moore disclosed today.

Illegal Payments

The ''special fund," which dated back to early

last year, is in the B. M. Behrends bank under the

name "Chilkoot Ferry—by Robert E. Coughlin."

Into it have gone the receipts from the operation of

the ferry which was purchased by the Territory in

May, 1951, and there have been thousands of dol-

lars of illegal receipts and disbursements recorded

in the fund to date, Moore charged.

After learning of the unauthorized account late

last month. Auditor Moore and assistant attorney

general John Dimond ordered the bank to stop pay-

ment on all checks drawn against the account.
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The case closely i)arallels that of Oscar Olson,

former territorial treasurer who is now serving a

prison term at McNeil's Island penitentiary for vio-

lating the law in the receipt and disbursement of

public funds.

Bookkeeping Trick

The special account, established and maintained

without knowledge of the territorial auditor, was set

up to enable the highway engineer, Frank Metcalf,

to keep the ferry receipts out of the normal channels

of territorial finances, Moore declared. Metcalf

labeled the move a "trick of bookkeeping" which

permits him to operate the ferry without depleting

the funds given him by the legislature to run his de-

partment.

Both Metcalf and Henry Roden, territorial treas-

urer, admitted the existence of the fund and did

not deny that pajonents have been made from it.

They declared there was no provision in law under

which the money could be kept in the highway en-

gineer's department, and admitted they acted as

members of the Territorial Board of road commis-

sioners in side-tracking the money into a private

bank instead of into the territorial treasury.

Governor Absent

The third member of the board, Ernest Gruen-

ing, has not returned from his pre-election "road

inspection" tour and was not available for com-

ment today. He is expected to return to Juneau,
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however, in time to attend a Democratic rally Satur-

day night.

When questioned by an Empire reporter, Metcalf

produced a record of the June 6, 1951, meeting of

the board of road commissioners, attended by him-

self, Roden, Gruening and J. Gerald Williams, ter-

ritorial attorney general.

The minutes disclose discussion by the board as to

the possibility of depositing ferry receipts in the

motor fuel tax fund for use by the highway en-

gineer instead of placing them into the general fund

as required by law, where the money would be used

for schools, hospitals and other trritorial-wide bene-

fits.

Abandon Scheme

This idea was abandoned, the minutes show, on

the advice of Williams, who told the board such a

transaction would be illegal.

Then, the minutes disclose, on a motion by Roden,

the board decided to set up the '^ special account" in

a private bank. There the money could be deposited

and spent without the knowledge or approval of the

auditor. Such an account was opened at Behrends

bank, under the name ''Robert E. Coughlin" in-

stead of in the name of the board or of the highway

engineer.

Opinion

On June 19, less than two weeks after the board

meeting. Auditor Moore asked Attorney General

Williams for an opinion as to where the receipts of
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the ferry should he deposited. AVilliams replied on

June 21 with the written opinion that, under Section

12-2-1, ACLA 1949, it is mandatory that the money

be placed in the general fund.

Williams added, however, that a new act the 1951

Reorganization Act which Williams later declared

invalid—the money could be deposited in the motor

fuel fund. His letter to Moore did not mention the

legality of the outside "special fund."

News to Moore

Auditor Moore learned of the existence of the un-

authorized account late last month, when the ferry-

boat captain, Steve Larsson Homer, who resigned

the position brought him the check Homer had re-.

ceived in payment for overtime.

Moore noted that the check was drawn on the

''Chilkoot Ferry" account and was signed by Robert

E. Coughlin. Homer, as a territorial employee,

should have been paid by territorial warrant, Moore

said. Homer then disclosed that some of the operat-

ing expenses of the ferry were being paid from the

''special account."

Letter

The auditor then wrote the following letter, dated

August 25, 1952, to Attorney General Williams:
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'*Mr. J. Gerald Williams,

**Attorney General of Alaska,

*'Juneau, Alaska.

''Dear Mr. Williams:

'

' This office lias irrefutable evidence that the Ter-

ritorial Board of Road Commissioners, consisting

of the Governor of Alaska, the Treasurer of Alaska,

and the Highway Engineer, have violated the laws

of the Territory and repeated opinions of your office

relative to the handling of funds collected from

shippers and travelers using the Territorial-owned

'Chilkoot ferry.'

''For your information, the Board of Road Com-

missioners is paying claims against the Territory

out of a special account which they have set up at

B. M. Behrends Bank, of Juneau. This special ac-

comit is made up from the receipts earned by the

ferry, which receipts, according to your opinion,

must be deposited in the General Fund by the Treas-

urer.

"The procedure followed by the said Board is the

same as that followed by the former Treasurer of

Alaska, i. e., unauthorized payments.

"Therefore, in view of your several opinions and

the various Territorial laws, namely

:

"Section 11-3-8, ACLA, 1949, 'Salaries and ex-

penses to be paid from appropriations';

"Section 12-2-1, ACLA, 1949, 'Territorial

Moneys; Accounting and payment to Territorial

Treasurer; covering into General Fund'; and
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''Section 12-3-1, ACLA, 1949, 'Disbursements: To

be made on vouchers: Accountability of disbursing

officers, ' which have all been ignored, the matter, be-

cause of its extreme seriousness, is being turned over

to you to recover the money and to immediately stop

all illegal payments of Territorial funds.

'

' Respectfully yours,

"NEIL F. MOORE,
"Auditor of Alaska."

Stop Order

Williams was out of town and did not receive

this letter, but his assistant, John Dimond, read it

and went immediately to Moore and to the bank to

verify the charges. After learning such an account

existed, Dimond and Moore ordered the bank to stop

pa\Tnent on all checks against the ferry fmid. This

order was verified by a letter from Moore the fol-

lowing day.

Since then there has been no further action in the

case. Any investigation to determine the extent to

which the law has been broken now rests presum-

ably with the U. S. district attorney, P. J. Gilmore,

Jr., who said last night he is the sole prosecuting

officer in this di^dsion for territorial and federal

criminal cases.

The Empire learned of the unprecedented trans-

action when Homer told the story to a reporter.
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EXHIBIT *'B"

Start Talking, Boys

(An Editorial)

Disclosed in today's Empire is a story almost too

fantastic for belief, but the facts have been per-

sonally verified by both the territorial auditor and

assistant attorney general.

By agTeement between the governor, the treas-

urer and the highway engineer, territorial money

has been diverted from the channels prescribed by

law and placed in a '' special account" to be dis-

bursed without the approval or knowledge of the

auditor, without territorial warrant, and by a man
who is not a territorial officer.

The laws of Alaska, well known to Gruening,

Eoden and Metcalf, carefully spell out the method

by which public money may be spent. The law stipu-

lates that every expenditure by the department

heads will be made by warrant and approved by the

auditor.

This is no vague technicality hidden away in

smaU print. It is a matter of law known and under-

stood by every territorial employee who handles

public money.

The law was designed to protect the taxpayers' in-

terest. When money is received by the Territory it is

placed in the general fund unless specifically ear-

marked by the legislature for other purposes. The
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treasurer is the custodian of that money, and the

auditor is the watchdof^ whose duty is to make cer-

tain it is legally spent.

Here we have three of Alaska's highest officials

—

two of them elected and the other a presidential ap-

])()intee—setting up an outside bank account with the

money which should have gone to the general fund.

The minutes of the June 6, 3951, meeting of the

])oard of road commissioners disclose that the de-

cision to establish the fmid was agreed upon by

unanimous consent.

Disbursements from this fund wore neither re-

ferred to nor approved by the auditor. The only

name on the checks was that of Robert E. Coughlin.

Roden and Metcalf offer the explanation that the

special treatment of this money was made necessary

by an ''emergency." They said the board had to act

quickly in buying the ferry to keep it from going

out of business, and that the receipts from the ferry

operation had to be diverteed so they could be used

directly to pay operating costs.

If this method of by-passing the law is acceptable

to the attorney general and the U. S. District At-

torney, why is it not possible for every department

head who finds himself running over his appropria-

tion to set up ''special funds" from the money his

office takes in ?

If disbursements by the highway engineer's de-

partment need not be approved by the auditor, why
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should any other department take the trouble to

obtain such an approval.

And if the law can be by-passed and disregarded

in this case, why must anyone obey the law?

This is, of course, merely the latest in the many

"deals" with which Gruening has closely aligned

himself. His personal defense of the Palmer Air-

port Deal as a "highly intelligent transaction" still

rings stridently in the ears of all honest Alaskans.

Yet the "highly honorable" Palmer Deal was de-

nounced by a bi-partisan committee of United States

senators as an underhanded attempt to cheat the

federal government out of thousands of dollars of

taxpayers' money.

We can rest assured that when the governor

returns from his pre-election "road inspection"

tour he will be the first to scream "politics" at Neil

Moore's disclosure of this latest "deal."

But this is a case where Gruening, Roden and

Metcalf will have to stand on their own feet and ex-

plain to Alaskans whether the territorial law is ap-

plicable to some and not to others or whether they

acted in complete defiance to the law in the belief

they would not be caught.

Oscar Olson sits today in his prison cell, dream-

ing of the days when he thought territorial laws

were only for the underlings.
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EXHIBIT ''C"

Roden, Metcalf Say "Nothing Crooked" Here

Territorial treasurer Henry lioden and highway

engineer, Frank Metcalf admitted this week that

the board of road commissioners set uj) a "special

fund" at the B. M. Behrends bank, and offered the

following explanation of how it was done:

In the sirring of 1951, when the ow^iers of the

JM. V. Chilkoot decided to sell the ferry, there were

no buyers available. There was a danger of the

ferry, which connects Haines wdth Juneau, going

out of business.

The board did not want to see the ferry go out of

business because it had been advertised widely in

the States that tourists could drive their cars to

Haines, Juneau and Skagway. The board considered

the ferry an integral part of the road system.

Buy Ferry

In May, the board decided to buy the ferry, which

it did, paying some $30,000 for the boat and busi-

ness.

The ferry's operation was placed under the con-

trol of Metcalf, who supei-vised the needed repairs,

amounting to about $29,000, and hired the necessary

personnel.

To operate his department, Metcalf is allowed

to spend only the money appropriated for it by the

legislature. The ferry operation placed a strain on

this money, threatening to deplete it.
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Receipts from the ferry's operation would have

bolstered the department's funds, but the attorney

general advised that the law requires all monies

paid the territory to go into the general fund. The

receipts, therefore, could not legally be used to pay

ferry operating expenses.

If the law were disregarded and the receipts

poured back into the ferry, the act would come to

the attention of the Auditor of Alaska, who is the

territory's w^atchdog on money matters.

Bypass Auditor

Thus, the only method by which the money could

be used without detection, to operate the ferry, was

to keep the money separate from the normal finan-

cial channels of the Territory. To this end the board

agreed, on June 6, 1951, to set up the "special

account" in the bank and to deposit all receipts in

this account instead of into the general fund.

The board further agreed to pay all operating

expenses of the ferry out of this "special account."

None of the vouchers for receipt of payment of this

money was to go through the auditor's office.

Roden and Metcalf each insisted that there "is

nothing crooked about this. The books are open

for auditing any time." Metcalf termed the deal

"just a trick of bookkeeping."

Governor Gruening, the third member of the

board was not in town for comment.
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EXHIBIT ''D"

Attention

Our attention has been called to a paragraph in

yesterday's lead story about the Chilkoot Ferry

bank account. A parallel was drawn between this

case and that of a former Territorial official now
confined to a federal prison.

It was not our intention to infer that there has

been any misappropriation or theft of these funds,

but merely that in both cases, checks were drawn

against territorial funds in bank accounts without

being offered for the scrutiny of the Office of the

Auditor as provided for by the law.

The Empire regrets any misunderstanding that

may have arisen from this paragraph and hastens

to repeat that there has been no evidence of any

fraudulent or personal use of any of the funds in

the special account.

[Endorsed] : Filed August 14th, 1953.

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

No. 6726-A

ANSWER OF DEFENDANT
TO AMENDED COMPLAINT

Comes now the Empire Printing Company, a

corporation, defendant above named, and in answer
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to the Complaint filed in the above-entitled case,

admits, denies and alleges as follows:

I.

Referring to the allegations contained in Para-

graph I, the defendant admits that the plaintiff has

heretofore been a resident of Juneau, Alaska, and

that he was for twelve years and until April 10,

1953, the duly-appointed and acting Governor of

the Territory of Alaska, and with reference to the

allegation regarding plaintiff's reputation, the de-

fendant alleges that he has been for twelve years

a controversial figure in Alaskan politics and that

his reputation among a certain class who have been

allied with him in politics has apparently been good,

but it has been otherwise with more than an equal

nimiber of plaintiff's neighbors and fellow citizens

and residents of the Territory.

II.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph II.

III.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph III.

IV.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph IV.

V.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph V.
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VI.

Referring to the allegations contained in Para-

graph VI, the defendant admits that it published

in The Daily Alaska Empire the articles and edi-

torial set forth in Exhibit "A" to plaintiff's

Amended Complaint, and defendant denies that any

portions of the articles or editorial were false, scan-

dalous, defamatory or libelous.

VII.

Defendant denies the allegations contained in

Paragraph VII of plaintiff's Amended Complaint.

VIII.

Defendant denies each and every allegation con-

tained in Paragraph VIII of the Amended Com-

plaint, and in this connection alleges that plaintiff's

reputation and name have remained the same since

the publication of the articles complained of in

Paragraph VI of the Amended Complaint, as they

were before the publication of those articles.

For a further, separate and affirmative defense

to plaintiff's Complaint, the defendant alleges as

follows

:

First Affirmative Defense

I.

Defendant realleges all the allegations and repeats

the admissions and denials contained in Paragraphs

I to VIII, inclusive, of its answer to the Amended
Complaint as hereinabove set forth.
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II.

That the articles complained of and referred to in

Plaintiff's Amended Complaint are set forth in full

in Exhibits ^'A," ''B" and "C" hereto attached and

made a part of this Answer, and prayed to be read in

connection herewith as fully as though set forth in

each and every paragraph to which reference is

made thereto.

III.

That all the facts stated in the articles complained

of are true and correct, and as therein stated, and

these facts are of record in the office of the Auditor

of the Territory of Alaska and all opinions ex-

pressed in setting forth the facts are a fair comment

thereon and privileged, as more fully set forth and

claimed hereinafter.

IV.

That all the facts set forth in the editorial con-

tained on page 1 of the issue of the Empire of Sep-

tember 25, 1952, and contained in Exhibit ''A" at-

tached to plaintiff's Amended Complaint are true

and correct and all comment made upon the facts

set forth in the editorial are fair comment and privi-

leged criticism, as more fully set forth hereinafter.

Second Affirmative Defense

I.

Defendant realleges all the allegations set forth in

Paragraphs I to VI, inclusive, of its Answer to plain-

tiff's Complaint, and in Paragraphs I to IV inclu-

sive of the First Affirmative Defense.
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II.

That the Daily Alaska Empire is a newspaper of

general circulation published in Juneau, Alaska, and

circulated and read throughout the Territory and

elsewhere, and one of its functions is to keep the

people, the taxpayers and voters and all the inhabi-

tants of the Territory, fully informed of the official

acts of its Territorial and Federal officials, and es-

[)ecially to inform the taxpayers and inhabitants of

the Territory of the disposition of public funds and

all methods employed in the disbursement thereof,

and to call attention of the public to all irregularities

in the receipt, disbursement and handling of public

funds, and the articles complained of by the plaintiff

and which are set forth in Exhibits "A" and "B" to

this answer were written for that purpose and on

information furnished the defendant from public rec-

ords and based upon information furnished by public

officials, and that information is true, and one of the

duties of the defendant in the publication of facts per-

taining to the official acts of its officials and of the

Federal officials dealing with Territorial affairs is

to comment upon such facts, express opinions and

draw conclusions for the benefit of the taxpayers,

voters and inhabitants of the Territory of Alaska,

and the defendant is privileged and it is its duty to

make such comment.

III.

That in the venture of the Territory into the

transportation business as set forth in plaintiff's

Complaint, there has been a very substantial loss of

public funds, not only in the purchase and repair of
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the vessel "Chilkoot," but in its operation, and one

of the duties of the defendant is to inform the public

of the facts and of all irregularities in the handling

of funds, whether these irregularities were in good

faith or otherwise, and it was especially the duty of

the defendant to publish such facts durmg an elec-

tion campaign. That Territorial Highway Engineer

Frank A. Metcalf was a candidate for re-election to

his office at the time the publication was made, and

the Treasurer Henry Roden is another elective

official of the Territory, and the plaintiff is an

appointed official, appointed by the President of the

United States, and at the time of the publication of

the articles complained of there was an election

pending for President of the United States and for

members of Congress. That the Territorial election

had been set by lav/ for October 14, 1952, and the

Presidential election for November 4, 1952.

lY.

That the publication complained of and which

was based upon facts furnished the defendant and

which the defendant firmly believed to be true, con-

tained comments and opinions of the defendant

which were based upon the belief of the officers of

defendant that the facts were true, and that the

comments and opinions expressed were justified, and

these comments and opinions were not published for

the purpose of injuring the plaintiff or anyone else,

and they contained no statement or implication that

the plaintiff had embezzled, stolen or converted to his

own use any monies whatsoever, but the intention
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of the articles as a wliole was to infonn the general

|)ii])lic, the taxpayers, inhabitants of the Territor}^

and the candidates for public offices, including can-

didates for the Territorial legislature, that there

were irregularities and illegal and unauthorized acts

connnitted by the i)laintitf, Roden and Mctcalf, in

the receipt, handling and disbursement of public

funds.

V.

That the matters'covered by the publication afore-

said were matters of i)ublic concern in which the

public of the Territory of Alaska was vitally in-

terested, and the criticism of the acts of plaintiff,

Roden and Metcalf, was justified and based upon

true and privileged statements of fact which were

known and available to all members of the public,

including the plaintiff ; the opinions were the actual

opinions of defendant and its officers, employees

and writers, and they were not expressed for the

purpose of causing harm to anyone, and they dealt

only with the public conduct of public officials.

Third Affirmative Defense

I.

As a third and separate Affirmative Defense, de-

fendant realleges all the allegations, admissions and

denials contained in the Answer to plaintiff's Com-

plaint, and in the First and Second Affirmative

Defenses.

II.

That on September 25, 1952, in the issue of the

Daily Alaska Empire and on page one of the
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Empire and immediately adjoining the article

complained of, the defendant published the ex-

planation of Henry Roden, Territorial Treas-

urer, and Frank A. Metcalf, Territorial Highway

Engineer, who were the two members of the Terri-

torial Board of Road Commisioners serving with the

plaintiff, and their opinion and explanation was

published in detail and it was published for the

purpose of giving to the public such explanation

as the members of the Territorial Board of Road
Commissioners, including this plaintiff, desired to

give regarding the handling of the funds referred

to. A full, true and correct copy of the statement

of Roden and Metcalf is hereto attached and marked

Exhibit *'C," and prayed to be read as a part of

this answer, and reference is made thereto as though

fully set forth herein.

III.

That at the time of the publication the plaintiff

was not available for comment, but the Territorial

Highway Engineer and the Tenitorial Treasurer

constituted a majority of the membership of the

Board, and their explanation and their statement

has not at any time been denied in whole or in part

by the plaintiff, and although the columns of the

Daily Alaska Empire have been open to him at all

times and all statements given by him to the de-

fendant have been published in full.

IV.

That there was no malice in the publications of

September 25, 1952, which are complained of^ and
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the publication was made solely in the public inter-

est and for the purpose of giving information to the

public, as hereinabove alleged; and it was privileged

criticism.

V.

That in order to emphasize the fact that there was

no Tnalice intended in the publication of articles

complained of in plaintiff's Complaint and no intent

to injure the plaintiff or to charge him with the

commission of any crime, the defendant, on Septem-

ber 26, 1952, published in a prominent place on the

front page of its issue of the Daily Alaska Empire

of that date, in large type, a statement, a full, true

and correct copy of which is hereto attached and

marked Exhibit ''D," and prayed to be read as a

part of this Answer as though fully set forth in this

paragraph, and to which reference is hereby made.

Wherefore, defendant prays that plaintiff's

Amended Comj)laint be dismissed, and that it have

and recover from the plaintiff its costs and dis-

bursements herein.

A jury is requested for the trial of the above-

entitled cause.

Dated at Juneau, Alaska, this 11th day of August,

1953.

/s/ H. L. FAULKNER,

/s/ R. E. ROBERTSON,
Attorneys for Defendant.

Duly Verified.
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[Exliibit A, B, C and D attached to the fore-

going are identical to Exhibits A, B, C and D at-

tached to the Answer, Cause No. 6725-A, set out in

full, pages 26 to 37 of this printed record.]

[Endorsed] : Filed August 14th, 1953.

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

No. 6727-A

ANSWER OF DEFENDANT
TO AMENDED COMPLAINT

Comes now the Empire Printing Company, a

corporation, defendant above named, and in answer

to the Complaint filed in the above-entitled case,

admits, denies and alleges as follows:

I.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph I.

II.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph II.

III.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph III.

IV.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph IV.

V.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph V.
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VI.

Referring to the allegations contained in Paragraph

VI, the defendant admits that it published in the

Daily Alaska Empire the articles and editorial set

forth in Exhibit **A" to plaintiff's Amended Com-

plaint, and defendant denies that any portions of

the articles or editorial were false, scandalous, de-

famatory or libelous.

VII.

Defendant denies the allegations contained in

Paragraph VII of plaintiff's Amended Complaint.

VIII.

Defendant denies each and every allegation con-

tained in Paragraph VIII of the Amended Com-

plaint, and in this comiection alleges that plain-

tiff's reputation and name have remained the same

since the publication of the articles complained of

in Paragraph VI of the Amended Complaint, as

they were before the publication of those articles.

For a further, separate and affii-matives defense

to plaintiff's Complaint, the defendant alleges as

follows

:

Fii'st AffiiTQative Defense

I.

Defendant realleges all the allegations and repeats

the admissions and denials contained in Paragraphs

I to Vm, inclusive, of its answer to the Amended
Complaint as hereinabove set forth.

II.

That the articles comx^lained of and referred to in
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plaintiff's Amended Complaint are set forth in full

in Exhibits "A," ^'B" and ''C" hereto attached

and made a part of this Answer, and prayed to be

read in connection herewith as fully as though set

forth in each and -every paragraph to which refer-

ence is made thereto.

III.

That all the facts stated in the articles complained

of are true and correct, and as therein stated, and

these facts are of record in the office of the Auditor

of the Territorj^ of Alaska and all opinions ex-

pressed in setting forth the facts are a fair comment

thereon and pri^dleged, as more fully set forth and

claimed hereinafter.

IV.

That all the facts set forth in the editorial con-

tained on page one of the issue of the Empire of

September 25, 1952, and contained in Exhibit "A"
attached to plaintiff's Amended Complaint are true

and correct and all comment made upon the facts

set forth in the editorial are fair comment and priv-

ileged criticism, as more fully set forth hereinafter.

Second Affirmative Defense

I.

Defendant realleges aU the allegations set forth in

Paragraphs I to VI, inclusive, of its Answer to

plaintiff's Complaint, and in Paragraphs I to IV,

inclusive, of the First Affirmative Defense.

11.

That the Daily Alaska Empire is a newspaper of

general circulation published in Juneau, Alaska,
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and circulated and road tlirougliout the Territory

and elsewhere, and one of its functions is to keep the

])eople, the taxj)ayers and voters and all the inhabi-

tants of the Territory, fully informed of the official

acts of its Territorial and Federal officials, and

especially to inform the taxpayers and inhabitants

of the Territory of the disposition of public funds

and all methods employed in the disbursement

thereof, and to call attention of the public to all

irregularities in the receipt, disbursement and

handling of ])ublic funds, and the articles com-

plained of by the plaintiff and which are set forth in

Exhibits ''A" and *'B" to this answer were w-ritten

for that puri3ose and on information furnished the

defendant from public records and based upon in-

fonnation furnished by public officials, and that in-

formation is true, and one of the duties of the de-

fendant in the publication of facts pertaining to the

official acts of its officials and of the Federal officials

dealing with Territorial affairs is to comment upon

such facts, express opinions and draw conclusions

for the benefit of the taxpayers, voters and inhabi-

tants of the Territory of Alaska, and the defendant

is privileged and it is its duty to make such com-

ment.

III.

That in the venture of the Territory into the

transportation business as set forth in plaintiff's

Complaint, there has been a very substantial loss

of public funds, not only in the purchase and repair

of the vessel ''Chilkoot," but in its operation, and

one of the duties of the defendant is to inform the
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public of the facts and of all irregularities in the

handling of funds, whether these irregularities were

in good faith or otherwise, and it was especially

the duty of the defendant to publish such facts

during an election campaign. That plaintiff was a

candidate for re-election to his office at the time the

publication was made, and the Treasurer Henry

Roden is another elective official of the Territory,

and the Governor is an appointed official appointed

by the President of the United States, and at the

time of the publication of the articles complained

of there was an election pending for President

of the United States and for members of Congress.

That the Territorial election had been set by law

for October 14, 1952, and the Presidential election

for November 4, 1952.

IV.

That the publication complained of and which was

based upon facts furnished the defendant and which

the defendant firmly believed to be true, contained

comments and opinions of the defendant which were

based upon the belief of the officers of defendant

that the facts were true, and that the comments and

opinions expressed were justified, and these com-

ments and opinions were not published for the pur-

pose of injuring the plaintiff or anyone else, and

they contained no statement or implication that the

plaintiff had embezzled, stolen or converted to his

own use any monies whatsoever, but the intention

of the articles as a whole was to inform the general

public, the taxpayers, inhabitants of the Territory

and the candidates for public offices, including can-
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didates for the Territorial Legislature, that there

were irregularities and illegal and unauthorized acts

committed by the plaintiff, Gruening and Roden, in

the receipt, handling and disbursement of public

funds.

V.

That the matters covered by the publication afore-

said were matters of j)ublic concern in which the

public of the Territory of Alaska was vitally inter-

ested, and the criticism of the acts of plaintiff,

Gruening and Roden, was justified and based upon

true and privileged statements of fact which were

known and available to all members of the public,

including the plaintiff; the oi)inions were the actual

opinions of defendant and its officers, employees and

writers, and they were not expressed for the purpose

of causing harm to anyone, and they dealt only

with the public conduct of public officials.

Third Affirmative Defense

I.

As a third and separate Affirmative Defense, de-

fendant realleges all the allegations, admissions

and denials contained in the Answer to plaintiff's

Complaint, and in the First and Second Affirmative

Defenses.

II.

That on September 25, 1952, in the issue of the

Daily Alaska Empire and on page one of the Em-
pire and immediately adjoining the article com-

plained of, the defendant published the explanation
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of plaintiff and Henry Roden, Territorial Treasurer,

who were the two members of the Territorial Board

of Road Commissioners serving with the Governor,

Ernest Gruening, and their opinion and explanation

was published in detail and it was published for the

purpose of giving to the public such explanation as

the members of the Territorial Board of Road

Commissioners, including this plaintiff, desired to

give regarding the handling of the funds referred

to. A full, true and correct copy of the statement of

plaintiff and Roden is hereto attached and marked

Exhibit ''C," and prayed to be read as a part of

this answer, and reference is made thereto as though

fully set forth herein.

III.

That at the time of the publication the Governor

was not available for comment, but the Territorial

Treasurer and the plaintiff constituted a majority

of the membership of the Board, and their explana-

tion and their statement has not at any time been

denied in whole or in part by the Governor, and

although the columns of the Daily Alaska Empire

have been open to him at all times and all state-

ments given by him to the defendant have been

published in full.

IV.

That there was no malice in the publications of

September 25, 1952, which are complained of, and

the publication was made solely in the public in-

terest and for the purpose of giving information

to the public, as hereinabove alleged; and it was

privileged criticism.
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V.

That in order to cmiiliasize the fact that there was

no malice intended in the publication of articles

complained of in plaintiff's Complaint and no intent

to injure the plaintiff or to charge him with the

commission of any crime, the defendant, on Septem-

ber 26, 1952, i)ubliyhed in a prominent place on the

front page of its issue of the Daily Alaska Empire

of that date, in large type, a statement, a full, true

and correct copy of which is hereto attached and

marked Exhibit '*D," and prayed to be read as a

part of this Answer as though fully set forth in this

paragraph, and to which reference is hereby made.

Wherefore, defendant prays that plaintiff's

Amended Complaint be dismissed, and that it have

and recover from the plaintiff its costs and dis-

bursements herein.

A jury is requested for the trial of the above-

entitled cause.

Dated at Juneau, Alaska, this 11th day of August,

1953.

/s/ H. L. FAULKNER,

/s/ R. E. ROBERTSON,
Attorneys for Defendant.

Duly Verified.

[Exhibits A, B, C and D attached to the fore-

going are identical to Exhibits A, B, C and D at-

tached to the Answer, Cause No 6725-A, set out in

full, pages 26 to 37 of this printed record.]

[Endorsed] : Filed August 14th, 1953.
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In the United States District Court for the District

of Alaska Division Number One, at Juneau

No. 6725-A

HENRY RODEN,
Plaintiff,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corporation,

Defendant.

No. 6726-A

ERNEST GRUENINO,
Plaintife,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corporation,

Defendant.

No. 6727-A

FRANK A. METCALF,
Plaintiff,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corporation,

Defendant.

ORDER FOR CONSOLIDATION

The court having examined the pleadings in the

above-captioned cases, which are all libel suits

against the defendant, and it appearing that the

issues of fact and of law are common to all cases,
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and that it would be an unnecessary expense to all

parties and to tlie government if separate trials

were had of the issues involved in the cases,

Now, Therefore, under the provisions of Rule

42(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, it

is hereby

Ordered, that the above-entitled cases be consoli-

dated and tried jointly.

Dated at Juneau, Alaska, this 24th day of Sep-

tember, 1954.

/s/ GEORGE W. FOLTA,
Judge.

[Endorsed]: Filed September 28th, 1954.

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

Nos. 6725-A, 6726-A and 6727-A

MOTION OF DEFENDANT FOR
DIRECTED VERDICT

Defendant now moves the court to direct the jury

to find verdicts for defendant in the three consoli-

dated cases. This motion is based on grounds as

foUow^s

:

First:

The article published by defendant on September

25, 1952, entitled ''Reeve Raps Graft; Corruption"

made no reference directly or indirectly to any one
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of the defendants. No innuendo or implication is

contained in this article which could be construed

as libel of anyone. Its appearance on the front page

of the newspaper of defendant as a news item in a

political campaign could harm no one.

Second

:

The micontroverted evidence is that the article

containing the '^ story," or report of the setting up

of the special ferry fund, recited true facts as given

to the reporter from an official source. This is not

libel. The handling of the ferry funds, which were

public monies, was a violation of the laws of Alaska,

namely Ch. 133, Session Laws, 1951, or Sections

12-2-1 and 12-3-1 A.C.L.A. 1949. It could not be

libel for defendant to make the statement that plain-

tiffs had violated the laws of Alaska in the receipt

and disbursement of public monies.

Third:

The comments in the article containing the facts

about the ferry fund, and in the editorial, which

contained the references to Oscar Olson, were fair

comment and absolutely privileged. This is for

the reason that the facts show, that while no claim

is made that plaintiffs stole, or converted any public

funds to their own use, the manner of handling the

ferry funds, being a violation of the law, made the

plaintiffs subject to the provisions of the same law,

which Oscar Olson, former Treasurer of Alaska,

had violated and for which violation he had been

sentenced to prison. This law is found in Section

65-5-63 A.C.L.A. 1949. There could be no libel in
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drawing the parallel to the Olson case and even if

malice had existed, it would be immaterial.

Dated at Juneau, Alaska, the 18th day of Novem-

ber, 1955.

/s/ H. L. FAULKNER,
Attorney for Defendant.

Denied.

[Endorsed]: Filed November 18th, 1955.

In the District Court for the District of Alaska

Division Number One

Nos. 6725-A, 6726-A and 6727-A

ERNEST GRUENING, et al..

Plaintiffs,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corporation,

Defendant.

DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED
INSTRUCTIONS

Members of the Jury :

Instruction No. 1

The three actions above numbered were brought

by Ernest Gruening, Henry Roden and Frank Met-

calf against the Empire Printing Company, owner

and publisher of a daily newspaper called the

"Daily Alaska Empire" and published at Jimeau.
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Since the issues of law and fact are the same in the

three cases, they were consolidated for trial and

have all been tried together.

The plaintiffs complain that on September 25,

1952, the defendant published certain articles in its

newspaper, concerning the three plaintiffs, which

injured them and caused them damage. Therefore,

these are what is known as libel suits.

The published articles complained of are set forth

as Exhibits to the complaints, and also as Exhibits

to defendant's answers. You will be given these

complaints and answers to take w^ith you to the jury

room when you retire.

The plaintiffs, at the time of the publications,

were all public officials. Plaintiff Ernest Gruening

was governor of Alaska; Roden was Territorial

Treasurer, and Metcalf was Highway Engineer.

These three constituted the Board of Road Com-

missioners of Alaska.

Instruction No. 2

There is no statute in Alaska which defines civil

libel; that is the libel which plaintiffs claim is in-

volved in these cases. Many states have laws which

do define civil libel, but we have no such statutes in

Alaska. Therefore, the definition which you must

adopt is what is known as the common law defini-

tion. The common law definition of libel is

:

'* Every false and unprivileged publication

which exposes a person to hatred, ridicule, con-



Henry Roden, ct al. 59

temj)t or obloquy or causes him to be shunned

or avoided or which tends to injure him in liis

occuj^ation."

Golden North Airways vs. Tanana Pub. Co.,

218 Fed. 2nd, 612 (U. S. Court App., 9th

Cir.) at page 623.

You will note that to constitute libel, the publi-

cation nuist be false and unprivileged. It is not

enough that it be false if it is privileged, and it is

not enough if it be true even though it be unprivi-

leged. The })ublication must be both false and un-

privileged.

Instruction No. 3

The coui-t instructs you that the facts reported in

the published articles complained of are established

by the evidence in this case. The only thing re-

maining for 3^ou to consider is whether the comment

on those facts was fair comment and privileged

criticism. Fair comment is not libel. (Golden North

Airways vs. Tanana Pub. Co., 218 Fed. 2d, p. 612

at p. 627 ; U. S. Ct. of Appeals, 9th Cir.)

''Privileged criticism" or ''privileged publica-

tion" arises w^here the publication contains a correct

or substantially correct statement of facts and the

criticism is based on those facts. The general rule

is:

" (1) Criticism of so much of another's activities

as are matters of public concern is privi-

leged if the criticism, although defamatory,
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''(a) is upon,

" (I) A true or privileged statement of

fact, or

"(II) upon facts otherwise known or

available to the recipient as a member of

the public, and

*'(b) represents the actual opinion of the critic,

and

** (c) is not made solely for the purpose of caus-

ing harm to the other.
'

'

Restatement Law of Torts: Sec. 606, p. 275.

Instruction No. 4

The plaintiffs complain of the publication of cer-

tain articles in defendant's newspaper, all of which

are set up in the Exhibits to the complaint, and re-

ferred to in paragraph 6 of the amended complaint

of Ernest Gruening, No. 6726-A. The defendant

admits the publications. Plaintiff's, in their com-

plaint, say that the publications were ''false, scan-

dalous, defamatory and Libelous," and the plaintiff,

Gruening and the other plaintiffs allege that they

were the "culmination of a campaign of misrepre-

sentation, falsehood and calumny" by the defendant

against plaintiff' Gruening; that they were "wilful,

wrongful and malicious and intended and designed

to injure, disgTace and defame him" and "bring him

into public disgrace and contempt." Therefore, the

plaintiffs allege malice. "Malice" in its common
acceptation means ill will toward some person. In
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its lo^al sense it a])])lies to a wrongful act done

intentionally, without le^al justification or excuse.

One may do an act wilfully and yet be free from

malice.

(Black's Law Dictionary.)

The defendant, in its answers, denies that the

articles complained of were false, defamatory, scan-

dalous or libelous. It alleges that the articles were

mostly facts obtained from official sources, with

certain comments thereon, and that the whole ar-

ticles complained of, were privileged, and the com-

ments by defendant were based on the facts and

were what is known as fair comment and privileged

criticism. Defendant further alleges that it is the

function and duty of a newspaper to publish such

facts to taxpayers, voters and to all inhabitants of

the Territory, and to make such comments, express

such opinion, and draw^ such conclusions for the

benefit of the public, by way of criticism or other-

wise as the facts warrant. Defendant further states

in its answers, that there was no malice in the pub-

lications and that they were made solely in the pub-

lic interest.

You are instructed that malice means actual evil-

mindedness. There is no presumption of the exist-

ence of malice in any libel suit and when malice is

claimed, it must be proved from an intei-pretation of

the writing, its malignity, or intemperance by show-

ing recklessness in making the charge, pernicious-

ness in circulating or repeating it, the situations and
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relations of the parties, the facts and circumstances

surrounding the publication, and by its falsity.

Coleman vs. McLennan, 98 Pac. 281, at pp.

291-292.

Instruction No. 5

You are instiiicted that you are to disregard the

article complained of which bore the headline,

'^ Reeve Raps Graft, Corruption." It has not been

shown that this article even remotely refers to any

one of the plaintiffs. Furthermore, that appears from

reading the article. It has no connection with any-

thing else which appears in the "Empire" on Sep-

tember 25, 1952, and therefore should have no place

in your deliberations.

Instruction No. 6

You are instructed that there can be no dispute

about the facts published with reference to the set-

ting up of the Special Ferry Fund, and of the re-

ceipts and disbursements of moneys in connection

with the operation of the "Chilkoot" or Haines

ferry. This was done on the express authority of

plaintiffs acting as the Board of Road Commis-

sioners for Alaska. I instruct you that this was a

violation of the laws of Alaska.

Section 14 of Chapter 133, S.L.A. 1951, reads as

follows

:

"All receipts from any source whatever shall be

forwarded to the Territorial Treasurer each day, or
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as promptly as practicable, and at the same time a

rei)()rt of all receipts since the last previous report

and of the disposition thereof shall be submitted to

the Commissioner of Finance by the depositing

agency. All monies received by the Treasurer during

any month shall be credited by him and by the Com-
missioner of Finance to the proj)er funds not later

than the first day of the following month."

Section 28 of Chapter 133, S.L.A., 1951, reads as

follows

:

''Section 7-1-6, sub-section (b), A.C.L.A., 1949,

is hereby repealed and re-enacted so as to read as

follo>vs

:

"Section 7-1-6. (b-1) The Treasurer shall dis-

burse public monies by check only and then only

upon warrants drawn upon him by the Commis-

sioner of Finance or as otherwise provided by law,

not inconsistent with this Act. Such w^arrants shall

be paid by the Treasurer when presented and from

proper appropriations, but funds shall be retained

in the Treasury to meet payments of all warrants

issued prior to the ones presented and paid, and the

Treasurer shall keep such records as will accurately

reflect the receipts of and checks issued against the

general and each special fund, the cash balance

available for disbursement in each such fund, all

bank balances and other records necessary to reflect

the current cash position and effectuate treasury

and bank reconciliation."



64 Empire Printing Co. vs.

Sub-section (b) of Section 11, Chapter 133, S.L.A.

1951, reads as follows:

''(b) No payment shall be made and no obliga-

tion shall be incurred against any fund, allotment,

or appropriation unless the Commissioner shall first

certify that there is a suffcient unencumbered balance

in such fund, allotment or appropriation, after tak-

ing into consideration all previous expenditures and

outstanding obligations, to meet the same. Every

expenditure or obligation authorized or incurred

in violation of the provisions of this Act shall be

deemed illegal, and every official knowingly author-

izing or making such payment, or taking part

therein, and every person receiving such payment

knowing it to be unlaw^ful, or any part thereof,

shall be jointly and severally liable to the Terri-

tory for the full amount so paid or received. If any

appointive officer or employee of the Territory shall

knowingly incur any obligation or shall authorize

or make any expenditure in violation of the provi-

sions of this Act, or take part therein, it shall be

ground for his removal by the appointing authority,

and if the appointing authority be other than the

Board of Administration and shall fail to remove

such officer or employee, the Board of Administra-

tion may exercise such power of removal, after

giving notice of the charges and opportunity for

hearing thereon to the accused officer or employee

and to the appointing authority.
'^

It is also undisputed that the certified public

accountants and auditors who audited the books and



Henry Roden, et al. 65

accounts of the Territory; its boards, agencies and

officials for the years 1951-2, found discrepancies

in the special ferry fund account and a shortage of

$300.58, and that they also found that the accounts

had not been accurately ke])t, but kept in such

manner that it was impossible to ascertain from

any source the exact status of the ferry funds.

Instruction No. 6

You are instructed that there can be no dispute

a])out the facts published with reference to the

setting- up of the Special Ferry Fund, and of the

receipts and disbursements of moneys in connection

wiih the operation of the ''Chilkoot" or Haines

ferry. This was done on the express authority of

plaintiffs acting as the Board of Road Commission-

ers for Alaska. I instruct you that this was a viola-

tion of the laws of Alaska.

Section 12-2-1 ACLA 1949 reads as follows:

"Every officer, board, commission or bureau

authorized to collect or receive any fees, licenses,

taxes or other money, and every office, commission

or bureau of the United States, or other authorized

agency authorized to collect any fees, licenses, taxes

or other money belonging to this Territory, shall

account for and pay such fees, licenses, taxes or

other money, less any fees he may be entitled to

under existing law, to the Territorial Treasurer at

least once each month and the same shall be covered

into the general fund."

r

t
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Section 12-3-1 reads

:

'' Disbursing officers of the Territory of Alaska

shall (1) disburse moneys only upon, and in strict

accordance with, vouchers duly certified by the head

of the department, establishment or agency con-

cerned, or by an officer or employee thereof duly

authorized in writing by such head to certify such

vouchers; (2) make such examination of vouchers

as may be necessary to ascertain whether they are

in proper form, duly certified and approved, and

correctly computed on the basis of the facts cer-

tified; and (3) be held accountable accordingly."

It is also undisputed that the certified public

accoimtants and auditors who audited the books

and accounts of the Territory; its boards, agencies

and officials for the years 1951-2, found discrep-

ancies in the special ferry fund account and a

shortage of $300.58, and that they also foimd that

the accounts had not been accurately kept, but kept

in such manner that it was impossible to ascertain

from any source, the exact status of the ferry

funds.

Instiniction No. 7

In the articles complained of, it is stated that the

case closely parallels that of Oscar Olson in the re-

ceipt and disbursement of public funds.

You are instructed that since Olson pleaded guiltj^

in this court to embezzlement and since the articles,

as wi'itten, accused the plaintiffs of illegally receiv-

ing and disbursing public funds, the comparison
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witli tlio Olson case is not a comment but a fact.

The law defining the crime of embezzlement covers

cases wliere public funds are converted by the de-

fendant to his own use and also where they are

not received and disbursed in accordance with the

statutes of the Territory. It also covers deposits in

])ank accoimts of public funds without authority of

law. All of these acts constitute embezzlement so

that in this connection there is no difference in law

])etween the acts of Olson and the acts of the plain-

tiffs in this case and the parallel was a fact and its

pul)lieation, therefore, would not be libel.

Instruction No. 8

The comment and criticism in this case com-

plained of is the parallel dravrn to the Oscar Olson

case. The facts show^ that Olson, a former Treas-

urer of Alaska, had also set up a private bank

account contrary to law. He embezzled public funds,

causing a loss to the taxpayers. For this he was

indicted and imprisoned.

The defendant avers in its pleading that its com-

ment and criticism of plaintiffs did not imply that

they had stolen any fimds, and it now claims that

the parallel consisted of the violation of the law and

the loss of public fimds in both cases. In the one

case the monies were lost through theft ; in the other

case through some as yet unexplained means. In

both cases there was a violation of Territorial law

and a loss of public funds. Defendant says this is

the parallel meant.



68 Empire Printing Co. vs.

In considering whether defendant's comment was

fair and its criticism justified, you must not con-

sider whether you, or any one of you would have

made the same or a similar comment. You must

consider only whether defendant, its reporters, edi-

tors or manager, in good faith considered it to be

fair comment and privileged. The test is whether a

fair minded person might reasonably draw the same

inference from facts truly stated, and that the

inference represents the honest opinion of the

writer.

Foley vs. Press Pub. Co.,

235 N.Y. Supp. 340.

It is not, therefore, what the jury feels its mem-

bers would have done or said ; but whether they be-

lieve the publisher of the article honestly thought,

in good faith, the comment made on the facts, was

fair comment and privileged. It is sufficient if a

reasonable man may honestly entertain such an

opinion.

Instruction No. 9

In connection with the intention of the publisher

in drawing the parallel to the Olson case, you

should take into consideration the statement pub-

lished on the front page of the Empire on Septem-

ber 26th, the day after the publication of the ar-

ticles complained of, in which it is stated that no

charge of theft was implied and that defendant

did not wish to be misunderstood in this respect.

This statement is Exhibit D in the answers.

You should also take into consideration the fact

that defendant opened its columns to plaintiffs on
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the same day as the articles complained of were

published, and that th(»ir explanations in full were

published on the same day and on the same page

of the paper. This explanation of their actions is

set forth on plaintiff's Exhibit "A'' to their com-

plaints.

Instruction No. 10

It is admitted that on the day following the pub-

lications complained of, the defendant published

in a prominent place on the front page of its paper

for that day, a statement that the articles concern-

ing the plaintilfs, published on September 25, 1952,

should not be taken to mean that the defendant

had charged plaintil^s with theft or misappropri-

ation of funds. This article is set foi-th in Exhibit

"D" to each amended answer.

This must be considered by you only if you first

find i^laintiffs or any of them were damaged by the

publications on September 25th. It should then be

considered in mitigation or reduction of any dam-
ages which you might find, if you should find that

plaintiffs suffered any such damages.

You are instructed, if you find this statement

published on September 26, 1952, to have been fair

and unequivocal, you should consider its bearing

on defendant's defense of lack or absence of malice.

(Am. Jur. Vol. 33 p. 202, sec. 218.)

Instruction No. 11

All the plaintiffs were, at the time of the pub-

lication complained of, public officials. The Gover-
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nor was an appointed official and the Treasurer

and Highway Engineer were elected by the voters.

Public officials enjoy certain unqualified privi-

leges in connection with their spoken and printed

statements to other public officials and to the gen-

eral public, and they possess immunity for almost

any press release they care to make, so long as it

is more or less in connection with general matters

committed by law to their control or supervision.

Spalding vs. Yilas,

161 U.S. 483.

Matson vs. Margiotti,

88 Atl. 2nd 892.

Glass vs. Ickes,

117 Fed. 2nd 273.

Mellon vs. Brewer,

18 Fed. 2nd 168.

Conversely criticism and comment, even though

severe and extravagant, of public officials is more

readily justified than criticism of persons in private

life.

Publications by which it is sought to convey perti-

nent information to the public in matters of public

interest are permitted wide latitude. In contro-

versies of a political nature, in particular, the cir-

cumstances often relieve statements, which might

otherwise be actionable, of possible defamatory im-

putations. Mere expressions of opinion or severe

criticism are not libelous if they clearly go only
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to the merits or demerits of a condition, cause or

controversy which is under ])ublic scrutiny, even

tliou^li they may adversely reflect upon the public

activities or fitness for office of individuals who are

intimately connected with the principal object of

the attack.

(Howard vs. Southern California Associated

New^spapers

;

213 Pac. p. 402 cited by U. S. Court of

Appeals in Golden North Airways case

218 Fed. 2nd at page 628.)

In all matters that are entirely of a public nature,

such as the conduct of public officials, the proceed-

ings and acts of all persons who are responsible to

the public at large, tlie proceedings, acts and con-

duct are deemed to be public property, and all bona

fide and honest remarks upon such persons and

their conduct may be made with perfect freedom.

Coleman vs. McLennan,

98 Pac. 281.

A newspaper's right to comment on facts, criti-

cize and draw inferences from facts pertaining to

the acts of public officials is the same as that of an

individual in his conversation wdth other individ-

uals.

What one ma}^ lawfully speak, he may lawfully

write and publish.

Yankvdch "It's Libel or Contempt If You
Print It" page 303 and cases there cited.
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Instruction No. 12

The plaintiff, Frank Metcalf, was at the time of

the publications involved in this case, a candidate

for re-election to the office of Highway Engineer.

That fact allows a newspaper more latitude in com-

menting on his official acts than w^ould be allowed

if he were in private life and not a candidate.

This is because the public has the right to be in-

formed of the qualifications and to hear and read

every honest statement either commending him or

criticizing him.

It is fit and proper that newspapers should be

free to give the public all facts obtainable about

candidates for public office and to make all honest

comment on those facts. It is one thing to publish

false statements as facts and then to comment un-

fairly on those statements, and quite another thing

to comment on actual facts, and draw conclusions

and publish opinions which may adversely affect

those whose acts and conduct have been correctly

and truthfully reported. I repeat: that full and

free discussion of all acts of officials which affect

the public is sanctioned by the law. Honesty is least

likely to suffer serious injury from full and free

discussion of facts and comment thereon, even when

that free discussion and comment affects it unjustly.

Coleman vs. McLennan,

98 Pac. 281.
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Instnietion No. 13

In considering this case, bear in mind what I

have said about the facts contained in the published

articles which are the basis of the complaints. These

facts have not been controverted. Therefore they

stand as true, and you will not have any duty with

reference to their determination.

But in arriving- at correct answers to the ques-

tions the couii: will submit to you in connection with

3^our verdict, you must take the published articles

as a wiiole, and hold them up figuratively by the

four corners, and first taking the established facts

as true, determine whether any reasonable and

honest person; (not necessarily yourselves) but any

reasonable and honest person, acting in good faith,

would have felt justified in the comment and criti-

cism.

You are instructed that '4f the public is to be

aided in forming its judgment upon matters of pub-

lic interest by a free interchange of opinion, it is

essential that honest criticism and comment, no

matter how foolish or prejudiced, be privileged.

The fact that the criticism may be fantastic is im-

material, and the extravagant form of its expression

is imimportant. It is necessary, however, that the

comment have some relation to the facts upon which

it is made. If it has not, it may well be taken to

imply the existence of other undisclosed defamatory

facts."

Restatement : Torts

:

Sec. 606, p. 277-8.
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You are therefore not to attempt to pass on the

nature of the comment and criticism alone, but in

connection with the facts in the article. A cardinal

rule of the law of libel is one which flatly prohibits

any attempt to wrench a word or a phrase of an

article out of context and base an action thereon.

The whole of the article must be considered.

Rose vs. Indianapolis Newspapers, Inc.,

213 Fed. 2nd p. 227.

Instruction No. 14

In this case, the plaintiffs complain that defend-

ant, in the publication of the articles on September

25, 1952, imputed to them the commission of the

crime of theft. Defendant denies that any such im-

putation was intended, and that the articles cannot

be so interpreted.

A '*crime" is defined in section 65-2-1 ACLA
1949 as follows:

''That a crime or public offense is an act or om-

mission forbidden by law, and punishable, upon con-

viction, by either of the following punishments

:

''First. Death;
'

' Second. Imprisonment

;

"Third. Fine;

"Fourth. Removal from office

;

"Fifth. Disqualification to hold and enjoy any

office of honor, trust or profit.

"Embezzlement of public money" is defined in

section 65-5-63, ACLA, 1949. This section reads:
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''That if any person sliall receive any money

whatever for said Teri-itory or for any county, town,

or other municipal or public corporation therein, or

shall have in his possession any money whatever

l)elon,<;in,u- to such Teri'itory, county, town or cor-

poration, or in which said Territory, county, town

or corporation has an interest, and shall in any way
convert to his own use any portion thereof or shall

loan, mth or without interest, au}^ portion thereof,

or shall neglect or refuse to pay over any portion

thereof as by law directed and required, or when
lawfully demanded so to do, such person shall be

deemed giiilty of embezzlement, and upon conviction

thereof shall be punished by imprisonment in the

penitentiary not less than one nor more than fifteen

years, and by fine equal to twice the amount so

converted, loaned, or neglected or refused to be

paid, as the case may be.
'

'

If you find that the section of the code last above

set forth, was violated by plaintiffs, it would not

matter what defendant intended to impute in this

respect, and you must find a verdict for the defend-

ant.

Instruction No. 15

In the matter of damages, I instruct you that you

should consider this only if you should find that the

two articles complained of were libelous; that is,

that the conoment made on the admitted facts was
not fair comment and privileged criticism. If you

do find the comment to have been ''fair comment"
as I have defined that term for you, then there is
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nothing further for you to consider, for as I have

already instructed you, "fair comment" is not libel.

(Golden North Airways vs. Tanana Pub. Co.,

supra.)

If the criticism is what is known as '* privileged

criticism" as herein defined, and there was no

malice in the publications, you must find for the

defendant.

If, however, you do not first find the comment to

have been fair comment, or the criticism to have

been privileged under the circumstances, then, and

only then should you consider damages.

The plaintiff, Ernest Gruening, in his complaint,

alleges that by reason of the public disgrace and

injury to his good name, he has been damaged to

the extent of $100,000.00. He seeks the further sum

of $100,000.00 as punitive damages, or what is some-

times called "smart money." This, he seeks by way

of punishment of defendant for the publications.

The plaintiffs Roden and Metcalf claim that they

have each been damaged in the sum of $100,000.00

on account of the alleged public disgrace and in-

jury to their good names. They do not seek any

punitive damages.

It is for you to consider, if you should first find

that the publications were not fair comment and

privileged criticism, whether either one or all of

plaintiffs have been publicly disgraced and their

good names injured by the publications; that is to
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say, In' the opinions of defendant on the estab-

lished facts.

If you find that no such injury was suffered by

Roden or Metcalf, then your verdict on their com-

plaints, must be for the defendant.

In the ease of Ernest Gi'uenino:, tlie same instruc-

tion applies to his claim for damages on account of

public disjj^race and injury to his good name.

Punitive damages are allowed only by way of

punishment of a Avrongdoer. Therefore, if you find

that plaintiff, Ernest Gruening, is not entitled to

the general damages he claims, or any part of it,

and that there was no malice in the publications,

that plaintiff is not entitled to punitive damages.

Malice, as I have defined it must be shown by the

evidence to exist. Tt may be established by all the

facts and circumstances, but it is never presumed.

"No question of exemplaiy or punitive damages

is involved in an action for libel where there is no

evidence of actual malice or a reckless disregard

of plaintiff's rights."

(News Leader Co. vs. Kocen:

3, S.E. 2nd, 385: 122 A.L.R. 842).

Therefore, you will see that in all cases punitive

damages or "smart money" are not to be allowed

unless it is fii^st showm that actual damages have

been established first, and that the defendant was

actuated bv malice.
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In any event, the burden is on the plaintiffs to

prove damages and unless they have shown that

they suffered some pecuniary damage or loss, your

verdict must be for the defendant regardless of any

other consideration.

Instiiiction No. 16

In these cases, as in all trials the plaintiffs have

the burden of proving their cases by a preponder-

ance of the evidence: that is to say by the greater

weight of the evidence. You are not bound to find

in conformity with the declarations of any number

of witnesses which do not produce conviction in

your minds against a less munber, or against a pre-

sumption or other evidence satisfying your minds.

In this connection you are instructed that the

burden of proving malice is on the plaintiffs. The

defendant is not required to prove absence of malice.

(Curtis Pub. Co. vs. Fraser:

209 Fed. 2nd, p. 1.)

You will see, therefore, that the burden is on the

plaintiffs to prove, by preponderance of evidence,

to your satisfaction the material allegations of the

complaints before the}^ are entitled to recover any-

thing from the defendant.

Malice has been described as follows:

''The malice which avoids the privilege is actual

or express malice, existing as a fact at the time

of the communication and which inspired or colored

it. Such malice exists where one casts an imputa-
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tion which he does not believe to be true or where

the communication is actuated by some sinister or

cruel motive or motives or personal spite or ill will,

or where the communication is made with such stosb

indifference to the rights of others as will amount

to a willful or wanton act."

International k Gnr Co. v. Edmonston,

222 S.W. p. ia5.

Johns V. Association Aviation Underwriters,

203 F. 2d 208.

In this connection you are instructed that there

is no allegation in the complaints that the defend-

ant did not believe the statements published to be

true.

The law raises a presumption of good faith on the

part of the defendant and even negligence on the

part of the defendant cannot take the place of

malice. There is neither allegation nor proof that

the defendant did not believe the statements which

it published to be true, and in the ateenc-e of such

allegation and proof, no malice can arise in this

ease.

Instruction Xo. 17

Tour power of judging the effect of evidence is

not arbitrary, but is to be exercised with legal dis-

cretion and in subordination to the rules of evi-

dence, and the instructions of the court.

You should judge the case solely on the evidence

and that alone, and vou should not allow vour
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acquaintance with, friendship for, or hostility to

any of the parties, witnesses or attorneys, influence

you in deciding any of the questions that will be

submitted to you for determination.

InstiTiction No. 18

A witness wilfully false in one part of his testi-

mony may be distrusted in other parts.

Evidence is to be estimated not only by its own

intrinsic weight, but also according to the evidence

which it is in the power of one side to produce,

and of the other to contradict: and, therefore, if

the weaker and less satisfactory evidence is offered

when it appears that stronger and more satisfactory

e^^dence was within the power of the party, the

evidence offered should be viewed with distriLst.

In this connection you are instructed that the

plaintiffs have not- produced here the records of the

Chilkoot Ferry fund transactions. These records

should be in the office of the Highway Engineer and

all dociunents, checks, bank statements, and other

instruments and papers in writing concerning the

l^ank account which is mentioned in the pleadings

herein should be on file in either the office of the

TeiTitorial Treasurer or the office of the Highway

Engineer. The certificates of these officials and of

the Commissioner of Finance, who succeeded to the

office of Auditor, have been introduced in evidence

showing that no canceled checks are in either of

their offices. It was the duty of the plaintiffs to

have seen that these checks, other instruments and
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bank statements were filcMl iji the proper office and

you are instructed that il' any person having cus-

tody of any public record, ])ook, paper or writing

shall wilfully destroy, secrete or mutilate the same,

he is guilty of a crime and lia])le to punishment

under the provisions of Section 65-7-21, ACLA 1949.

The plaintiffs were all Territorial officials at the

time these records were made and at the time the

checks were issued, and it Avas their duty to produce

the records before you or to explain why they were

not i)roduced and what disposition was made of

them.

Sections 65-7-21-22-23 read as follows:

'^ 65-7-21. Public Records: Destroying, Secretion

or Mutliation: Act of Custodian: Act of Attorney.

That if any person, having the legal custody of any

public record, book, paper, or writing, shall will-

fully destroy, secrete, or niutiliate the same; or if

any attorney shall willfully destroy, secrete, or

mutiliate any such record, book, paper, or writing,

or shall wrongfully take the same from the person

having the legal custody thereof, or having ob-

tained possession of such record, book, paper, or

^T:'iting lawfully, shall wrongfully refuse or neglect

to return or produce the same when lawfully re-

quired or demanded so to do, such pei*son or attor-

ney, upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by

imprisonment in the penitentiary not less than six

months nor more than one year, or by imprisonment

in the coimty jail not less than three months nor
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more than one year, or by fine not less than one

hundred nor more than five hundred dollars.

''65-7-22. Act of Officer Having Custody. Every

officer having the custody of any record, map, or

book, or of any paper or proceeding of any court,

filed or deposited in any public office or placed in

his hands for any purpose, who is guilty of stealing,

wilfully destroying, mutilating, defacing, altering

or falsifying, removing or secreting the whole or

any part of such record, map, book, paper, or pro-

ceeding, or who permits any other person so to do,

is punishable by imprisonment in the penitentiary

not more than five years, or by a fine of not more

than five thousand dollars, or by both such fine and

imprisonment.

'

' 65-7-23. Act of Person Not Officer. Every person

not an officer such as referred to in the preceding

section, who is guilty of any of the acts specified in

that section, is punishable by imprisonment in the

penitentiary not to exceed three years, or by a fine

not to exceed two thousand dollars, or by both such

fine and imprisonment."

Instruction No. 19

You should not consider any evidence sought to

be introduced but excluded by the court, nor should

you consider any evidence that may have been

stricken from the record by the court.

You should consider all the instructions together

and not disconnectedly, and you should consider all
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tlio evidence calmly and dispassionately, and not

allow any bias in favor of, or prejudice against, any

of the parties or witnesses to influence you in your

deliberations.

Instruction No. 20

Plaintiffs claim the setting up of the special

ferry fund and the disbursement thereof were done

for the sake of expediency and convenience.

You are instructed that expediency and conveni-

ence are no excuse for violation of the law.

Instruction No. 21

You are instructed that Oscar Olson, the former

Tei*ritorial Treasurer, was convicted for violation

of Sec. 7-1-9 ACLA 1949, which reads as follows:

"If the Treasurer of the Territory of Alaska, or

any person exercising the duties of that office, shall

fail, neglect or refuse, to account for or pay over,

all moneys in his hands as said Treasurer in accord-

ance with law, or shall unlawfully convert to his

own use in any manner whatever, or to the use of

another not lawfully entitled thereto, or use by way
of investment in any kind of property, or loan with-

out authority of law, any portion of the public

money intrusted to him for safe keeping, transfer

or disbursement, or unlawfully convert to his own
use, or to the use of another not entitled thereto,

money or other property which may come into his

hands by virtue of his office he shall be deemed

guilty of the embezzlement of so much of the money

%
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or property as is thus taken, converted, invested,

used, loaned, or unaccounted for, and upon convic-

tion thereof he shall be subject to the same punish-

ment as is otherwise provided in the laws of Alaska

for the crime of embezzlement."

He was punished under the provisions of Sec.

65-5-63, which reads

:

"That if any person shall receive any money

whatever for said Territory or for any county,

town, or other municipal or public corporation

therein, or shall have in his possession any money

whatever belonging to such Territory, county, town,

or corporation, or in which said Territory, county,

town, or corporation has an interest, and shall in

any way convert to his o^vn use any portion thereof

or shall loan, with or without interest, any portion

thereof, or shall neglect or refuse to pay over any

portion thereof as by law directed and required, or

when lawfully demanded so to do, such person

shall be deemed guilty of embezzlement, and upon

conviction thereof shall be punished by imprison-

ment in the penitentiary not less than one nor more

than fifteen years, and by fine equal to twice the

amount so converted, loaned, or neglected or re-

fused to be paid, as the case may be."

Plaintiffs are charged by defendant with com-

mitting acts which parallel the acts of Olson "in

the receipt and disbursement of public fimds."

It is not charged that either of plaintiffs had

stolen or misappropriated public funds to their
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own use. Tn fact it is not stated that Olson had

stolen pul)lic funds and the judgment in his case

(introduced here), does not so state. It adjudi^es

him guilty of a violation of Sec. 7-1-9, which defines

the crime of embezzlement by the Treasurer sub-

stantially the same as it is defined in Sec. 65-5-63

for all other persons.

Instruction No. 22

You are instructed that in all libel actions, the

truth of facts published is a complete defense.

Motive and purpose are immaterial. If the charges

are true, it does not matter whether defendant

knew at the time the facts were published they

were true, but discovered that afterward, for the

truth whenever discovered is a complete defense.

Yankwich, It's Libel or Contempt If You
Print It, p. 359-60.

Instruction No. 23

The testimony shows the charge that plaintiff's

action in connection v\T.th the special ferry fund,

paralleled the Olson case in the receipt and dis-

bursement of i^ublic funds, is a statement of fact.

Defendant claims that the editorial is what is known
in the law as ''fair comment." Now "fair com-

ment" is essentially opinion based on fact. It

must (1) be based on facts truly stated; (2) not

contain imputations of comipt or dishonorable

motives on the person whose conduct or work is

criticized, save insofar as such imputations are
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waiTanted by the facts; (3) be the honest ex-

pression of the writer's real opinion. Fair com-

ment is not libel. Therefore, if you find that the

facts set forth in the publications were true or

substantially true, and the opinion of the writer

was fair comment, your verdict must be for the

defendant.

Yankwich Book p. 370-1.

Golden North case, 218 Fed. 2nd p. 627.

The statement in the article complained of that

the plaintiffs' action in connection with the special

ferry fund paralleled the Olson case in the receipt

and disbursement of public funds is a statement of

fact. If you find this fact to be true, and the other

statements purporting to be facts to be true also,

and the opinion or comment contained in the edi-

torial to be fair comment and privileged criticism,

your verdict must be for the defendant.

Instruction No. 24

We have stated that to constitute ''fair com-

ment" the comment or opinion must be based on

facts. This rule,
'

' extends, in the absence of malice,

to misstatements of fact." Golden North case, p.

630. Therefore, when malice is not shown, if the

facts commented upon are substantially true, the

right of fair comment is a complete defense.

Instruction No. 25

In the letter from Neil Moore, the Auditor, to J.

Gerald Williams, the Attorney General, dated Au-
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^ist 25, 1952, and j)iil)lishod by defendant on Sep-

lenil)(M- 25, 1952, he calls attention to a violation by

plaintiffs of certain statntes found in the Alaska

Com])iled Laws 1949.

However, in 1951, the legislature had j)assed

Chapter 133, Session Laws, 1951. Section 14 of the

law reads:

''All receipts from any source whatever shall be

forwarded to the Territorial Treasurer each day,

or as promptly as practicable, and at the same time,

a report of all receipts since the last previous report

and of the disposition thereof, shall be submitted to

the Commissioner of Finance by the depositing

agency. All monies received by the Treasurer dur-

ing any month shall be credited by him and by the

Commissioner of Finance to the proper funds not

later than the first day of the following month."

Section 3 reads:

"The prov-isions of this Act shall apply to aU

agencies of the government of the Territory. As

used in this Act, the term agency or agencies shall

mean and include every department, board, bureau,

commission, officer, employee and other instrumen-

tality of the Territory, except municipalities and

other political subdivisions of the Territory, with

the limitations hereafter provided. '

'

Section 50 of Chapter 133 reads

:

"In case any section, provision or part of this

xict or any application thereof shall be declared
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invalid, it shall not in any way affect any other

section, provision, or part hereof, or any other

application hereof."

These sections of the law above quoted were in

force and effect during the entire year 1952 and

they were in full force at the time the plaintiffs,

acting as the Board of Road Commissioners, set up

the special ferry fund and authorized the purser,

Robert E. Coughlin, to make payments from this

fimd. Therefore, the setting up of the fund in the

Behrends Bank, and the payments therefrom, were

in violation of the laws of Alaska.

Instruction No. 26

The statement in the editorial, referring to Oscar

Olson sitting in his prison cell dreaming of the

days when he thought Territorial laws were only

for underlings, is at most an expression of the

writer's opinion, and if based on true facts con-

tained in other portions of the publication, it is

privileged and not libel.

Instruction No. 27

It is admitted that plaintiffs, as Board of Road

Commissioners, authorized the handling of the ferry

funds in the manner described in the publications

complained of. They constituted Robert E. Cough-

lin purser of the ferryboat Chilkoot, their agent

to receive these funds and to disburse them by check

without any counter-signature. Therefore, Coughlin

became the agent of the plaintiffs and his acts in
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the receipt, disburseniont and handling of the ferry

funds were the acts of phiintiffs.

If an agent is appointed to perform an illegal

act, and he does so, the one appointing him is re-

sponsil)le criminally, and, if a tort is committed he

is civilly liable.

Restatement: Agency, Vol. 1, Sec. 19.

The possession of the ferr}^ funds by Coughlin

was the possession by the plaintiffs. The disburse-

ment of the funds by Coughlin was the same as if it

had actually been done personally by plaintiffs.

The loss of any portion of the funds would there-

fore be attributable to plaintiffs.

Instruction No. 28

You are instructed that under the laws of Alaska

there existed no authority in 1951 and 1952 for the

Territory to operate a ferry ; that no appropriation

was made by the legislature for the purchase of the

Ferry Chilkoot and none was made for its operation

and the purchase and operation were therefore

without sanction of law. You are instructed that

funds of the Territory were used in the purchase

of the ferry and Territorial funds were used to pay

the deficit from operation. Notwithstanding the

fact that there was no authority in law to purchase

the ferry, having used Territorial funds for that

piu*pose and having used Territorial funds in the

operation of the ferry, all laws applicable to the

receipt and disbursement of public funds should

have been applied in the handling of these monies.
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Instruction No. 29

To constitute a violation of Sec. 65-5-63 ACLA
1949, it is not necessary that the person charged

should have actual physical possession of the money

loaned, converted to his own use or not deposited

with the Treasurer as directed by law. It is suffi-

cient that he had it in his control.

People V. Knott,

104 Pac. 2nd 33.

Garner v. State,

158 So. 546.

State V. Workman,

114 S.E. 276.

Allred v. United States,

146 Fed. 2nd 193 (Alaska Case), Ninth

Circuit.

Instmction No. 30

The court submits to you certain specific ques-

tions which you will be required to answer by your

verdict, a form of which is submitted to you. This

form of verdict is self explanatory. You will be

given these instructions, the pleadings, exhibits

and the form of verdict. Upon retiring to the jury

room, you will elect one of your number foreman,

and he or she will sign the verdict which you must

first unanimously agree upon.

A separate form of verdict is given you in each

of the three cases. You will first consider the ques-
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tion No. 1 in eacli case and if you answer *'Yes"

to that question, you need not answer the remaining

questions.

[Endorsed] : Filed November 18, 1955.

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

Nos. 6725-A, 6726-A, 6727-A

COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY

No. 1

Ladies and Gentlemen of the Jury:

It now becomes the duty of the Court to instruct

you as to the law that will govern you in your

deliberations upon and disposition of this case.

When you were accepted as jurors you obligated

yourselves by oath to try well and truly the matters

at issue between the plaintiff and the defendant

in this case, and a true verdict render according to

the law and the evidence as given you on the trial.

The oath means that you are not to be swayed by

passion, prejudice or sympathy, but that your ver-

dict should be the result of your careful consider-

ation of all the evidence in the case. It is equally

your duty to accept and follow the law as given to

you in the instructions of the Court.

On the other hand, it is the exclusive province of

the jury to declare the facts in the case, and your

decision in that respect, as embodied in your verdict,
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when arrived at in a regular and legal manner, is

final and conclusive upon the Court. Therefore, the

greater ultimate responsibility in the trial of the

case rests upon you, because you are the triers of

the facts.

No. 2

Jurors are chosen and sworn in civil cases to try

issues of fact presented by the allegations of the

complaint of the plaintiff and the answers thereto

of the defendant.

Three such civil cases have been consolidated for

trial in this instance, each of which involves the

same issues of fact except as hereinafter noted.

It is admitted by the complaint and answer in

each case that the plaintiffs were, at the time of the

libel complained of, the Treasurer, Governor, and

Highway Engineer of the Territory of Alaska and

that mider existing Territorial law such three offi-

cials constituted what was known as the Territorial

Board of Road Commissioners, and as such per-

formed all duties assigned to it by the laws of the

Territory. It is further admitted that the defendant

was engaged in the printing and publishing busi-

ness, and was the publisher and proprietor of the

newspaper known as the ''Daily Alaska Empire,'^

printed and published at Juneau, Alaska, with a

daily circulation in said town of Juneau and else-

where in said Territory and other places.

It is also admitted that before the commission of

the acts complained of, the plaintiffs, acting as said
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Board and pursuant to law, purchased and acquired

for and on beluilf of the Territory the "Motor

Vessel Chilkoot," and caused the same to be oper-

ated in the waters of southeastern Alaska for the

transportation of passengers and the carrying of

freight, and that the cost and expenses thus in-

curred were paid in part by the Board out of

revenues earned by the vessel.

It is also admitted that before commission of the

acts complained of, one Oscar Olson had been the

Treasurer of the Territory and that said Olson,

upon indictment found by the gTand jury for the

Territory and his plea of guilty, was convicted of

embezzlement of funds and money belonging to the

Territory and coming into his possession as the

then Treasurer of said Territory and was at all

times herein mentioned confined in a penitentiary

on ^IcNeil's Island upon his sentence for said offense.

The complaint in each case alleges that on the

25th day of September, 1952, the defendant pub-

lished in said newspaper certain false, scandalous,

defamatory and libelous headlines, articles, and

editorial, the complete text of which is offered in

evidence as Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1. Complaint

is particularly made as to the following material

appearing on the front page of said newspaper:

''Headline:

''Bare 'Special' Ferry Fund

'

' Sub-headline

:

'* Reeve Raps Graft, Corruption
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** Sub-headline:

"Gruening, Metcalf, Roden, Divert 'CMlkoot'

Cash to Private Bank Account

*'News Article:

"Entire article appearing two right-hand

columns, front page, including continuation

right-hand column, page two.

^'Editorial:

"Entire editorial entitled 'Staii: Talking,

Boys' center front page."

It is further alleged that said headlines, articles

and editorial were maliciously published of and

concerning the plaintiifs and were intended to and

did expose plaintiffs to the scorn, hatred, and con-

tempt of the general public and residents of Alaska

and their friends and neighbors and that the same

were intended to convey and did convey the belief

that the plaintiffs were dishonest and corrupt and

that they were guilty of the crime of embezzlement

and of converting fmids belonging to the Territory

to his or their own use in violation of the law;

further, that the libel complained of was the cul-

mination of a campaign of misrepresentation, false-

hood and calumny against said officials and was

wilfully, wrongfully, and maliciously designed to

injure, disgrace and defame plaintiffs and to bring

them into public disgrace and contempt.

Each plaintiff alleges that by reason of such

false, malicious and defamatory publication he has

been publicly disgraced and injured in his good
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name, and dama^ofl. Plaintiffs Henry Roden and

Fi'ank Metealf allcue such damages in tlic sum of

$50,000.00 each. Plaintiff Ernest Gniening claims

such damage in the sum of $100,000.00. Plaintiffs

Poden and Metealf also ask for punitive damages

in the sum of $50,000.00 each; and plaintiff' Gruen-

ing also prays for punitive damages against the

defendant in the sum of $100,000.00.

The defendant in its answer has admitted the

[)ublications referred to in their entirety, but dey-

nies that any portions of the articles or editorial

were false, scandalous, defamatory or libelous. De-

fendant has also denied that said headline, articles,

and editorial were maliciously published or were

intended to and did expose plaintiffs to the scorn

and hatred or contempt or ridicule of the public

or others; and also alleges that the reputations of

the plaintiffs have remained the same since the pub-

lication of the articles complained of, and hence

plaintiffs were not damaged.

The denial of these allegations by the defendant

places upon the jDlaintiffs the burden of proving

such allegations by a preponderance of the evidence,

except as hereinafter defined.

By way of affirmative defenses to the complaint,

defendant alleges in substance:

(1) that the facts stated in the articles com-

plained of are true and correct and that all opin-

ions expressed in setting forth the facts are a fair

comment thereon and privileged criticism

;
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(2) that the matters covered by the publication

were matters of public concern, concerning the of-

ficial acts of Territorial officers who may be up

for re-election or reappointment, and that such ar-

ticles, comments and opinions were justifiable criti-

cisms in the public interest

;

(3) that in the same issue of the newspaper and

immediately adjoining the article complained of,

the defendant published the explanation of the

plaintiffs Metcalf and Roden, two members of the

said Board, which was published for the purpose

of giving to the public such explanation as the mem-

bers of the Board desired to give regarding the

handling of the funds referred to ; that at the time

of such publication, the Governor was not avail-

able for comment; and that there was no malice in

the publications complained of

:

(4) that on the next day, September 26th, the

defendant caused to be published in effect a denial

of any accusation against the plaintiffs of embez-

zlement of public funds, stating that such was not

the intention of the article to infer that there had

been such misappropriation or theft of funds.

The burden of proving these affirmative allega-

tions by a preponderance of the evidence is upon

the defendant.

No. 3.

You are instructed that any publication of false

and unprivileged defamatory printing or writing

which tends to expose a person to public hatred,
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contempt, or ridicule, or to deprive him of the bene-

fits of public confidence, or to disgrace him, or which

tends to injure him in his reputation or business or

occupation, when })ublished of him maliciously, con-

stitutes libel.

You are further instructed that any such publi-

cation which imputes to the person referred to the

commission of a crime is libelous per se, that is,

a libel in and by itself; and where the matter pub-

lished is libelous per se, the law presumes that it

was published maliciously and that damage resulted.

It is also the law that it is libelous per se to falsely

impute to a person in his capacity as a public officer,

fraud or dishonesty in the conduct of his official

duties; and any libel affecting him in his official

capacity and of such nature that, if true, would

be cause for his removal from office, is actionable

per se.

These presumptions of law make it unnecessary

for the person to whom the commission of crime is

imputed to prove malice or injury; but he may
nevertheless make such proof for the purpose of

showing the extent or degree of malice and of the

injury and damage to his reputation and for the

purpose of enhancing his recovery.

However, these presumptions of law, as well as

such other proof, may be rebutted by competent

evidence; and the defendant may show that there

was no malice and that no damage resulted. The

burden of proof in this respect is upon the de-

fendant.
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In this connection the law makes a distinction

between malice in a legal sense, which means a

wrongful act done intentionally, without just cause

or excuse, and actual malice, which means ill will,

enmity, hate, spite, or purpose to injure. The pre-

sumption above mentioned refers to legal malice,

which need not be proven, whereas actual malice

must be proven. In considering the question of legal

malice and whether or not the presumption is over-

come by evidence you need only consider whether

the publication, if false, w^as made intentionally,

without such just cause or excuse. The subject of

actual malice, as extending or mitigating the injury,

will be discussed hereafter relating to the matter of

assessment of damages.

No. 4.

You are instructed that the publication com-

plained of, particularly with reference to the words

:

"There have been thousands of dollars of illegal

receipts and disbursements; the case closely paral-

lels that of Oscar Olson, former Territorial Treas-

urer, who is now serving a prison term at McNeil's

Island penitentiary for violating the law in the re-

ceipt and disbursement of public funds,"

together with other reference to the Olson case, and

reference to criminal prosecution, imputes to the

plaintiffs the commission of a crime ; that is, clearly

imputes such without the aid of any extrinsic e^d-

dence, and is therefore libelous per se. The legal

presumptions of malice and injury above me^t.io^e(^
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must therefore be given effect by you, i'ov it is tlic

exclusive province of the Court to dcclaic to you

wh(>ther or not sucli printed matter is as a matter

of law libelous per se.

Therefore, unless you find such presumj)tions

overcome by competent evidence, and unless you

find by a pre]7ondei'ance of the evidence that such

])ublication was in fact tiTie, or was privileged, as

below dehned, you must find for the plaintiffs and it

will be your province then only to assess the amount

of damages which you find the plaintiffs are en-

titled to recover. If, on the other hand, you find that

such statements and imputations were true, or were

published without malice, or were privileged, then

you must find for the defendant.

The Court does not here declare or intend to in-

dicate to you whether or not the crime charged, im-

puted to the plaintiffs, or intended to impute to

the plaintiffs, the wrongful theft or misappropri^^-.

tion of public funds. The plaintiffs alleged that

such words, together with other references to the

Oscar Olson case, and imputations of graft and

corruption, impute to them the crime of embezzle-

ment as that crime is commonly understood, that

is, the vn:"ongful conversion of public funds en-

trusted to plaintiffs to their own use, w^hich accusa-

tion is admittedly untrue. The defendant denies

that there was any accusation of theft of public

funds, or any such imputation intended, and con-

tends that the violation of law charged referred

only to unlawful receipt and disbursement of pub-
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lie funds, which it alleges to be true. This is a ques-

tion of fact for the jury to determine, from a con-

sideration of all of the evidence in the case, and

from a careful consideration of the publications in

their entirety, including headlines, and any reason-

able imputations or deductions arising therefrom.

In this connection, in determining what was

meant by the words used in the publication, you will

give to such words their commonly accepted mean-

ing or the sense that such words are commonly un-

derstood by persons reading them. It is not neces-

sary that such printed words charge the person

directly or openly with the commission of any spe-

cific crime nor even that the person accused be spe-

cifically named if his identity is clear, but it is suf-

ficient if words are printed which in their ordinary

accepted meaning impute to such person wrongful

theft or conversion to his own use of public funds,

or any other crime. The facts reported in the pub-

lication as well as the comment thereon, taken in

their entirety, should be given full consideration by

the jury in determining this question and all other

issues of fact as herein defined.

No. 5.

The defendant seeks to justify the comparison in

the published articles and editorial to the Oscar

Olson case, as closely parallel to the case of the

plaintiffs, upon information given to the witness

Daum, author of the articles and editorial, by Neil

F. Moore, Territorial Auditor, to such effect, spe-
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cifically referring to the statute defining the crime

of embezzloniont of ])iihli(' money and fixing the

punishment therefore, under which said Oscar Olson

was said to liave been convicted or sentenced, as

applying to the acts of the ])laintiffs with respect to

the handling of the Chilkoot Ferry fund. The stat-

ute referred to, being Sec. 65-5-63, ACLA, 1949,

provides in full as follows:

"That if any person shall receive any money
whatever for said Temtory or for any county,

town, or other municipal or public corporation

therein, or shall have in his possession any money
whatever belonging to such Territory, county, town

or corporation, or in which said Territory, county,

town or corporation has an interest, and shall in

any way convert to his oAvn use any portion thereof

or shall loan, with or without interest, any portion

thereof, or shall neglect or refuse to pay over any

portion thereof as by law directed and required, or

when lawfully demanded to do so, such person shall

be deemed guilty of embezzlement, and upon convic-

tion thereof shall be punished by imprisonment in

the penitentiary not less than one nor more than

fifteen years, and by fine equal to twice the amount

so converted, loaned, or neglected or refused to be

paid, as the case may be."

It appears from defendant's Exhibit J, being a

certified copy of the judgment and sentence in the

Oscar Olson case, that he was convicted under the

provisions of Section 7-1-9, ACLA, which particu-

larly defines the crime of embezzlement by the Ter-
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ritorial Treasurer. This statute contains language

defining such crime in ahnost identical language to

the statute above quoted, but provides that the

punishment for such offense shall be the same as is

otherwise pro^dded by law for the crime of embez-

zlement, which refers, as to embezzlement of pub-

lic money, to Section 65-5-63, quoted above. There-

fore Sec. 7-1-9 defined the crime, but Sec. 65-5-63

fixed the punishment, in the Olson case.

You are instructed that in order to constitute the

crime of embezzlement of public money upon which

a public official may be convicted or sentenced under

the provisions of either of these statutes the official

accused must either have converted public funds

to his own use, or wrongfully loaned such funds, or

neglected or refused to pay over any portion of such

funds as by law directed. Further that the deposit

of any such funds in a bank subject to be with-

drawn by check does not constitute in law a loan of

such funds.

You are further instructed that aside from the

statutes above noted defining the crime of embezzle-

ment of public funds, there is no statute in Alaska

making a violation of the law relating to the receipt

and disbursement of public funds by Territorial of-

ficials a crime, or subject to criminal prosecution.

Sections 11-3-8, 12-2-1 and 12-3-1, Compiled Laws of

Alaska, referred to in the published letter from Au-

ditor Neil F. Moore to the Attorney General, being

a part of Exhibit No. 1, provide for payment of
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salaries and expenses of all officers and boards out

of appropriations for that purpose, for payment of

all fees, licenses, taxes or othci- money belonging to

the Territory to the Treasui'er, to be credited by

him to the general fund, and for disbursement of

])ul)lic moneys by any disbursing officer of the Ter-

ritory only upon vouchers certified by the head of

the department, which are then referred to the

TeiTitorial Auditor for payment. Section 12-2-1

above was repealed by Chap. 133 SLA 1951, know^n

as the ''Reorganization Act" which Act, however,

contains substantially the same requirements. No
penalty is provided for violation of any of these

provisions of law; but Section 12-3-3, CLA, pro-

"vddes that the officer or employee aj^proving or cer-

tifying a voucher shall be held accountable for and

required to make good to the TeiTitory the amount

of any illegal, improper, or incorrect payment pro-

hibited by law or which did not represent a legal

obligation of the Territory, which liability may be

enforced by civil action.

Under the law^ any taxpayer would also have the

right to enjoin any illegal receipt or disbursement

of public funds prohibited by these statutes, or to

compel any i3ublic official to comply therewith, but

such does not make any such violation or failure

to comply with such statutes a crime, that is, pun-

ishable by fine or imprisonment, or removal or dis-

qualification from office.

By this the Court, does not intend to comment in

any way as to whether or not the actions of the
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plainti:ffs relating to the ^'Chilkoot" ferry fund

were or were not illegal, which is a matter for the

jury ; but it is the intention of this instruction only

to declare to you the remedy in case there may
exist any such illegality.

You are therefore instructed that unless you find

from the evidence that the facts reported in the

news articles were sufficient to constitute the crime

of embezzlement as above defined, no defense as to

the justification of truth of the alleged libelous

publication, which imputes the commission of a

crime or criminal liability, may be based upon the

construction of these statutes. There remains to be

considered by you the question of whether or not,

as contended by the defendant, the ''device'' used

by the plaintiffs as members of the Board in depos-

iting the funds from the operation of the ferry in a

special account rather than paying such to the Ter-

ritorial Treasurer, and in paying operating expenses

of the ferry from such account, is a sufficient paral-

lel with the case of Oscar Olson in setting up a spe-

cial account as shown by the evidence to justify the

publication as true. This is a question of fact for

the jury to detennine from a consideration of all

of the evidence in the case.

No. 6.

You are further instructed that if you should

find from the evidence that the publication com-

plained of charged or imputed to the plaintiffs the

crime of embezzlement of public funds, the defend-
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ant must show, to justify the truth of such y)ubli-

catiou, not only that })laintiifs took llic fimds ac-

cruing from the opei*ation of the ferry, dej)osite(l

thcni in a separate account, and paid operating ex-

j)enses out of such account without voucliers ap-

proved by the Auditor, but defendant must also

show by a preponderance of the evidence that

plaintiffs handled the money wrongfully and fraud-

ulently and with a criminal intent to convert such

to their own use. In this connection, you should con-

sider whether or not the plaintiffs handled such

funds in good faith, and in the justifiable belief

that they had the legal right to do so, without any

intent to embezzle such funds or to deprive the

Territory thereof.

No. 7.

During the trial of this case considerable testi-

mony has been received concerning the question of

whether or not a shortage of money occurred in

the handling of moneys in connection with the op-

eration of the feriy ''Chilkoot," by the purser.

You are instructed to disregard all of such testi-

mony as it is not relevant to the issues involved. No
shortage of moneys in the ferry operating fund is

mentioned in the publication of the Daily Alaska

Empire of September 25, 1952, and the question of

whether or not such a shortage occurred is not made

an issue in this case by the pleadings of either the

plaintiffs or defendant, or is relevant to the ques-

tion of the truth or falsity of the publication.
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No. 8.

The truth of the words complained of is an ab-

solute defense to an action for libel. If you should

find that the words which the defendant used con-

cerning plaintiffs were true in the ordinary accept-

ance of the meaning of such words, the plaintiffs

are not entitled to recover. To be available as such

a defense the justification of truth must extend not

only to the entire language complained of, but must

show the truth of the publication in the sense im-

puted to it. A mere belief on the part of the defend-

ant of the truth of the publication is not a defense.

Accordingly, even though a publication purports to

be made on information given by another, such jus-

tification must establish the truth of the charge and

not merely the defendant's belief that it was true.

The law with respect to privileged publications

relates to those wherein the author or publisher

acted in the bona fide discharge of a public or pri-

vate duty, or in the public interest. Every citizen

and every newspaper has the right to call to the

attention of fellow citizens any maladministration

of public affairs or the misconduct of a public offi-

cer if the real motive in so doing is to bring about

reform of abuses, or defeat the re-election or reap-

pointment of an incompetent officer; hence, publi-

cations dealing with political matters and public

officers are entitled to a reasonable measure of priv-

ilege by reason of the public interest involved

therein, as matters of public interest and concern

are legitimate subjects of criticism as long as such
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criticism is made fairly and witli an lionest piir-

poao. The limitations ni)()n this rule aro that the

statements published must be within the bounds of

fair connnent and honestly made, and must not be

motivated by actual malice. Accusations of crime,

fraud, or corruption are not i)rivileged miless true.

Other criticism of public officers imblished in good

faith and without malice are privileged except tliat

such privilege does not extend to misstatements of

fact, and any defamatory publication is actionable

if false, regardless of the question of good faith or

reasonable belief.

A retraction of libelous words is not a defense to

an action for the defamation unless retracted at the

time of the publication or as a part of the same

publication; hence any retraction published at a

later date would not be a defense, although such

may be considered by the jury in the matter of

mitigation of damages. The publication of state-

ments made by two of the plaintiffs simultaneously

with the publication of the matter complained of

would not constitute such a retraction unless by the

same publication the defendant acknowledged the

truth of the statements or explanations made.

The publication of the editorial under date of

September 26, 1952, under the heading "Attention"

was published, according to the evidence of the

defendant, not as a retraction but as an explana-

tion to show that there was no intention to charge

the plaintiffs with the theft of public funds. This

statement, then, need not be considered by you as a
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retraction, which must be full and without reserva-

tion, but should be considered by the jury in the

matter of mitigation of damages and as bearing

upon the question of malice; in other words,

whether such publication may reduce or minimize

the amount of damages which the plaintiffs may
otherwise have suffered.

If you find that the publication was defamatoiy

and libelous and find that it was not true or priv-

ileged, then you should consider the matter of dam-

ages.

No. 9.

The plaintiffs in each case seek compensatory and

punitive damages. The former are intended to com-

pensate for the injury caused and the latter are al-

lowed by way of punishment and to deter the repe-

tition of the wrong or the commission of such wrong

by others.

As to compensatory damages, you are instructed

that the defendant may be held liable for all dam-

ages which were the natural and probable result

of the publication of the statements refeiTed to. In

this connection, no actual monetary loss need be

showTi, as general damages presumed from the

publication of libelous matter, while not susceptible

of being actually measured by dollars and cents,

may or may not be found to be substantial and real.

You should consider the actual or probable effect

of the publication upon the plaintiffs ' personal feel-

ings and their standing and reputation both as a
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private person niul as a public official in the com-

nuinity in which they live and in the territory in

which the Daily Alaska Empire is circulated; and

the extent of such injury, if any, to such standing

and reputation. You may also take into considera-

tion mental anguish aiid suffering, if any, directly

caused by the publication of the statements and im-

putations referred to; whether the defendant was

actuated by actual malice or intent to injure the

plaintiffs in making the publication, and whether

as a direct result thereof, the plaintiifs were ex-

posed to hatred, contempt, ridicule, or public dis-

grace; and you may award each of them damages

in such sum, not exceeding the amount asked for,

as in your judgment will fairly compensate each

of them for any such injury or damage to his or

their name and reputation. If you find that there

has been no such substantial injury or damage, then

the damages awarded should be nominal only. The

term "nominal damages'^ means damages in a small

or nominal amount only, for the purjjose of vindi-

cation, w^here a legal right has been shown to have

been violated but no substantial damage has been

proven to have been sustained by the plaintiffs.

As to exemplary or punitive damages, you are

instructed that if you find from a preponderance of

the evidence that the articles and editorial were

published recklessly, w^antonly, out of spite or ill

will, or with utter disregard for the rights of the

plaintiffs, you may also award each of them such

further sum, not exceeding the amoimt asked for,
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by way of exemplary or punitive damages as in

your judgment you believe should be fairly assessed

against the defendant. Exemplary or punitive dam-

ages may be allowed even though no compensatory

damages are allowed. However, you are not obliged

to allow the plaintiffs any sum by way of exemplary

or punitive damages, which is a matter committed

to your discretion by law; and if you find that the

defendant honestly believed in the truth of the mat-

ter published and published such in good faith,

without actual malice, you may take such into con-

sideration in detemiining whether the plaintiffs are

entitled to exemplary or punitive damages and the

amount thereof.

You are further instructed that both compensa-

tory damages and punitive damages must be con-

sidered by you separately as to each of the plain-

tiffs. In each case any award which you make for

compensatory damages need have no relationship

to any amoiuit you may award for punitive dam-

ages.

In determining whether the defendant was actu-

ated by actual malice you should consider the pub-

lications in their entirety, together with the facts

and circumstances leading up to and attending the

writing and publishing of the articles; the attitude

of the defendant toward the plaintiffs; the motive,

if any, shown for the publication; and whether the

defendant was actuated by ill will, enmity, hatred

or a desire to injure the plaintiffs in their fame or
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ropiitation, or to deg:rade or disji;race them, and

whether tlie defendant, its repoi-ters, editors, or

manager in good faith considered such publications

to be fair comment and privileged.

No. 10.

You must consider the parties to this case as

though they were all individual persons. A corpora-

tion is entitled to receive the same fair and un-

prejudiced treatment in a court of law which an in-

dividual would be entitled to receive under like cir-

cumstances.

A corporation is liable for the acts of its agents

or employees authorized to act on its behalf, that is,

a corporation can only act through its officers and

agents, and is responsible for any walful, malicious,

wanton or reckless acts of its officers, agents, or em-

ployees done within the scope of their employment;

hence the acts, conduct and motives of any such

employee, acting \^^thin the scope of his employ-

ment, are to be considered as the acts, conduct and

motives of the defendant corporation.

No. 11.

In a civil case, such as this is, the burden of proof

rests upon the party holding the affirmative with

respect to any issue, to prove such issue by a pre-

ponderance of the evidence. By a preponderance of

the evidence is meant the greater weight of the

crdible evidence, that evidence which in your judg-

ment is the better evidence and which has the
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greater weight and value and the greater convinc-

ing power, or, in other words, such evidence, as

when weighed with that opposed to it, has more

convincing force and produces in the minds of the

jurors conviction of the greater probability of truth,

after they have considered all of the evidence in

the case.

Any testimony offered by either party and re-

jected by the Court, and any testimony ordered

stricken by the Court, should not be considered by

the jury for any purpose.

No. 12.

Subject to the law as contained in these instruc-

tions, you are the exclusive judges of the credibil-

ity of the witnesses and of the effect and value of

the evidence. Evidence includes not only all the facts

testified to or established by the exhibits, but also

all reasonable inferences which may be deduced

therefrom. What facts have been proved and what

inferences may be deduced therefrom is for you to

determine. When the parties testify on their own

behalf they are deemed witnesses, and their testi-

mony is to be weighed and their credibility deter-

mined in the same manner as other witnesses.

You are, however, instructed that your power of

judging the effect of evidence is not arbitrary but

is to be exercised by you with legal discretion and in

subordination to the rules of evidence. Evidence

is to be estimated not only by its own intrinsic

weight but also according to the evidence which it
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is in the power of one side to i)r<)duce and of the

other to contradict and, therefore, if weaker and

less satisfactory evidence is offered wlien it aj)i)ears

that stronger and more satisfactory evidence was

within tlie power of the party offering it, such evi-

dence should be viewed with distrust.

You are not bound to find in conformity with the

declarations of any number of witnesses which do

not produce conviction in your minds against a less

number or against a presumption or other evidence

satisfying your minds. This rule of law does not

mean that you are at liberty to disregard the tes-

timony of the greater number of witnesses, but that

the final test is not in thfe relative number of wit-

nesses, but in the relative convincing force of

the evidence. The direct evidence of one witness

whom you find to be entitled to full credit is suf-

ficient for the proof of any fact in this case.

In determining the credit you will give to a wit-

ness and the weight and value you will attach to

his testimony, you should take into account the

conduct and appearance of the witness upon the

stand; the interest he has, if any, in the result of

the trial; the motive he has in testifying, if any is

shown; his relation to and feeling for or against

any of the parties to the case; the probability or

improbability of the statements of such witness;

the opportunity he has to observe and be informed

as to matters respecting w^hich he gave evidence

before you ; and the inclination he evinced, in your
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judgment, to speak the truth or otherwise as to mat-

ters within his knowledge.

A witness wilfully false in one part of his testi-

mony may be distrusted in others.

No. 13.

You must not allow sympathy or prejudice to in-

fluence your verdict. Sjrmpathy for the injuries of

the plaintiffs, or for the owners of the defendant

corporation, if any, should not influence you in de-

termining w^hether or not the defendant is liable,

or if liable, affect in any way the amount of your

verdict. Your verdict should be entirely free from

the effect of sympathy, compassion or prejudice.

No. 14.

At the close of the trial counsel have the right to

argue the case to the jury. The arguments of coun-

sel, based upon study and thought, may be, and

usually are, distinctly helpful; however, it should

be remembered that arguments of counsel are not

evidence and cannot rightly be considered as such.

It is your duty to give careful attention to the ar-

guments of counsel, so far as the same are based

upon the evidence which you have heard and the

proper deductions therefrom, and the law^ as given

to you by the Court in these instructions. But ar-

guments of counsel, if they depart from the facts or

from the law, should be disregarded.
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No. 15.

You are to considei- those instructions as a whole.

It is impossible to cover the entire case with a single

instruction, and, therefore, you should not single out

one particular instruction and consider it by itself.

Your duty is to determine the facts of the case

from tlie evidence submitted, and to apply to these

facts the law as given to you by the Court in these

instructions. The Court does not, either in these in-

structions or otherwise, wish to indicate how you

shall find the facts or what your verdict shall be,

or to influence you in the exercise of your right and

duty to determine for yourselves the effect of evi-

dence you have heard or the credibility of wit-

nesses.

Finally, while you are not justified in departing

from the evidence or the rules of law as stated by

the Court, you may, in determining any question

api)lying to the facts of this case, resort to the

common sense and experience in the affairs of life

which you ordinarily use in your daily transactions

and which you would apply to any other subject

coming under your consideration and demanding

your judgment.

No. 16.

The law requires that all twelve jurors must agree

upon a verdict before one can be rendered.

While no juror should yield a sincere conviction,

founded upon the law and the evidence of the case,

merely to agree with other jurors, every juror, in
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considering the case with fellow jurors, should lay

aside all undue pride or vanity of personal judg-

ment, and should consider differences of opinion, if

any arise, in a spirt of fairness and candor, with

an honest desire to get at the truth, and w^ith the

view of arriving at a just verdict because the law

contemplates that the verdict shall be the product

of the collective judgment of the entire jury.

Accordingly, no juror should hesitate to change

the opinion he has entertained, or expressed, if hon-

estly convinced that such opinion is erroneous, even

though in so doing he adopts the views and opinions

of other jurors.

No. 17.

Upon retiring to your jury room you mil select

one of your number foreman, who will speak for

you and sign the verdict unanimously agreed upon.

You will take with you to the juiy room these

instructions, together with the exhibits, and six

forms of verdict, two in each of the three consoli-

dated cases, which must be considered separately.

In each case, if you find in favor of the plaintiff

you will have your foreman date and sign Verdict

No. 1 after first inserting therein the amount of

damages, both compensatory and punitive, which

you find the plaintiff is entitled to recover. In each

case, if you find in favor of the defendant you will

have your foreman date and sign Verdict No. 2.

Such verdicts, when completed and signed, should

then be returned by you into Court as your verdict
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in each case, togotlier with the forms of verdict not

used by you, the exhibits, and these instructions.

If you agree U])()n a verdict during Court hours,

that is between 9 a.m. and 11:00 p.m., you should

liave your foreman date and sign it and then return

it immediately into open Court in the presence of

tlie entire jury, together with the exhibits and these

instructions, and the unused forms of verdict. If,

however, you do not agree upon a verdict during

such hours, the verdict, after being similarly dated

and signed, must be sealed in the enveloj)es accom-

])anying these instnictions. The foreman will then

keep it in his possession unopened and the jury may
separate and go to their homes, but all of you must

be in the juiy box when the Court next convenes at

10 a.m., Monday, when the verdict will be received

from you in the usual way.

Given at Ketchikan, Alaska, this 19th day of No-

vember, 1955.

/s/ WALTER H. HODGE,
District Judge.

[Endorsed] : Filed November 21, 1955.
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In the United States District Court for the District

of Alaska, Division Number One, at Ketchikan

No. 6725-A

HENKY RODEN,
Plaintiff,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corporation,

Defendant.

VERDICT No. 1

We, the jury, duly impanelled and sworn to try

the above-entitled cause, find in favor of the plain-

tiff and against the defendant; and further find as

follows

:

1. That the plaintiff is entitled to recover from

the defendant compensatory damages in the sum

of $1.00.

2. That the plaintiff is entitled to recover from

the defendant punitive damages in the sum of

$5,000.00.

Dated at Ketchikan, Alaska, this 20th day of No-

vember, 1955.

/s/ TOM W. GAFFNEY, JR,

Foreman.

[Endorsed] : Filed November 21, 1955.
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[Title of District Court mid Cause.]

VERDICT No. 1

6726-A

We, the jury, duly ini])anelled and sworn to try

the above-entitled cause, find in favor of the plain-

tiff and against the defendant; and further find as

follows

:

1. That the plaintiff is entitled to recover from

the defendant compensatory damages in the sum of

$1.00.

2. That the plaintiff is entitled to recover from

the defendant punitive damages in the sum of

$5,000.00.

Dated at Ketchikan, Alaska, this 20th day of No-

vember, 1955.

/s/ TOM W. GAFFNEY, JR.,

Foreman.

[Endorsed]: Filed November 21, 1955.

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

No. 6727-A

VERDICT No. 1

We, the jury, duly impanelled and sworn to try

the above-entitled cause, find in favor of the plain-

tiff and against the defendant; and further find

as follows:
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1. That the plaintiff is entitled to recover from

the defendant compensatory damages in the sum of

$1.00.

2. That the plaintiff is entitled to recover from

the defendant punitive damages in the sum of

$5,000.00

Dated at Ketchikan, Alaska, this 20th day of No-

vember, 1955.

/s/ TOM W. GAFFNEY, JR.,

Foreman.

[Endorsed] : Filed November 21, 1955.

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

Nos. 6725-6726-6727A

OBJECTIONS OF DEFENDANT TO PRO-
POSED JUDGMENT FOR COSTS AND
ATTORNEYS' FEES, AND REQUEST
FOR REDUCTION OF JURY'S AWARD

Comes now the defendant by its attorneys H. L.

Faulkner and Roger G. Connor, and objects to the

entiy of any judgment for costs and attorneys' fees

to the plaintiffs, upon grounds as follows

:

Costs and attorneys' fees are subject to the dis-

cretion of the Court, and the District Court for the

First Judicial Division has heretofore never hesi-

tated to exercise that discretion, and, taking into
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consideration the circiiinslaiiccs of ili" case, lias frc-

(lucntly denied hoth costs and allornevs' fees.

The verdict for compensatory damaj^es was One

Dollar to each of the plaintiffs, or a totjil of Tlu'oe

Dollai's. Under the law this alone would not entitle

the plaintiff's to costs. The verdict for punitive dam-

ai2:es of Five Thousand Dollars to each ])laintiff, or

a total of Fifteen Thousand Dollars is out of pro-

])ortion to the amount awarded as compensatory

damages. Formerly it was the rule that punitive

damages, awarded as punishment of defendant in

libel cases could not exceed the amount awai'ded as

compensatory damages. We concede that this has

been changed and punitive damages may exceed the

compensatory damages awarded, but still the mat-

ter of costs and attorneys' fees are left to the dis-

cretion of the Court, and we respectfully submit

that this should be an additional reason for the ex-

ercise of that discretion notwithstanding the change

in the rule above mentioned.

By awarding each plaintiff Five Thousand Dol-

h\rs as punitive damages with onl}^ nominal dam-

ages to each, it would appear that the iury may
well have made that award to the plaintiffs for the

purpose of defraying their expenses of the trial of

the action and preparing therefor.

The general rule, expressed in practically all libel

suit decisions, is that in libel suits, while the jury

may assess both general or compensatory damages

and punitive damages, still the Court always exer-

cises discretion as to the amount of the award.
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Judge Yankwich states in his book "It's Libel Or

Contempt If You Print It" at page 349:

"Although the plaintiff may claim both com-

pensatory and exemplary damages, if the jury

should award exemplary damages without

awarding compensatory damages, the verdict

could not stand. Rightly. For a failure to award

general damages indicates that the publication

has not injured the plaintiff, because the truth

has been established. Exemplary damages

merely enhance the tort . (Emphasis supplied.)

The verdict of the jury in this case indicates that

the plaintiffs suffered no actual damage by the

publication complained of, for they were awarded

only nominal damages. To assess $15,000.00 punitive

damages on the $3.00 nominal damages, and costs

and attorneys' fees in addition to that, would seem

to be grossly excessive.

Defendant objects to the entry of a judgment for

l^unitive damages in any sum not commensurate

mth the amounts of the verdicts for general or

compensatory damages.

The whole matter is within the jurisdiction of the

Court; that is, whether the punitive damages

awarded by the jury are excessive when taken into

consideration with the verdict for general dam-

ages, and, whether, under all the circumstances of

the case, any costs or attorneys' fees should be al-

lowed.
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Submitted without ai-L;iiiii('nf this 2r)th <hiy of No-

vember, 1955.

/s/ H. L. FAULKNER,

/s/ ROGER G. CONNOR,
Attorneys for Defendant.

[Endorsed]: Filed November 27, 1955.

['i'itle of District Court and Cause.]

Nos. 6725-A, 6726-A, 6727-A

DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT
NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICTS,
OR FOR A NEW TRIAL

This motion is filed pursuant to the provisions

of Rules 50 and 59 of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure. Defendant moves the Court to set aside

the verdicts of the jury in these consolidated cases

and in each case and to enter judgment herein for

the defendant. This motion is based upon the

grounds presented to the Court and urged by de-

fendant in its motion for directed verdicts made

and filed at the conclusion of the introduction of

testimony in these cases.

If the Court should deny the relief sought herein-

above and should refuse to enter judgment for de-

fendant notwithstanding the verdicts, then, in order

to avoid a waiver of the right to request a new trial

within the ten days prescribed by Rule 59(b), de-
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fendant now moves the Court for a new trial upon

the following grounds:

(a) The Court erred in holding that since Sec-

tion 12-2-1, ACLA 1949, did not provide any crimi-

nal penalty for its violation and that therefore

plaintiffs could not lawfully have been charged with

any criminal acts for violation of that section, no

testimony could be introduced to show that any loss

of funds occurred through plaintiffs' violation of

Section 12-2-1 which would result in a violation of

Section 65-5-63, ACLA, 1949.

(b) The Court erred in rejecting the testimony

of Steve Homer under defendant's offer of proof

and which testimony was offered to show a loss of

public funds resulting from violation by plaintiffs of

Section 12-2-1, ACLA, 1949, and of other testimony

of defendant tending to support the testimony of

Steve Homer.

(c) The Court erred in holding that an agent's

criminal acts cannot be imputed to the principal

even where the agent is appointed to perform an

illegal act. (In this case the plaintiffs admitted that

they violated Section 12-2-1, ACLA, 1949, and de-

fendant offered to show a loss of public funds re-

sulting from this violation of the law and that loss

of public funds was a violation of Section 65-5-63,

ACLA, 1949.

(d) The Court erred in holding that the viola-

tion by plaintiffs of Section 12-2-1, ACLA, 1949, was

not also a violation of Section 65-5-63, ACLA, 1949.
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(o) The Court erred in instTUctine: tlie jury that

tlic ai-ticles published hy delViidaiit, wliir-Ii arc the

basis of tliis action, constituted libel per se.

(f) The Coui-t erred in holding that the canceled

checks issued on the special ferry fund were ini-

inaterial and that tlie loss was immaterial in these

cases.

(g) The Court erred in lioldin,"- that bank de])os-

its and checking accounts do not constitute a lonn,

creating the relationship of debtor and creditor be-

tween the bank and the depositor.

(h) The Court erred in admitting in evidence,

over the objection of defendant, a pidnted copy of

a letter purporting to have been written by Fred

McGinnis. (Plaintiff's Ex. No. 8.)

(i) The Court erred in giving Instruction No. 6

and particularly that portion of it which reads:

"the defendant must show by a preponderance

of the evidence that plaintiffs handled the

money wrongfully and fraudulently and with

a criminal intent to convert such to their own
use."

(j) The Court erred in giving Instruction No. 7

wherein the Court instructed the jury to disregard

all testimony of a shortage of money in the handling

of the public funds involved in this case and which

instruction is based on the fact that the defendant

did not mention a shortage of funds in the publica-

tion of September 25, 1952, and that therefore the
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loss of public funds was not an issue in the case and

was not relevant to the truth or falsity of the publi-

cation and in this connection defendant proposed

Instruction No. 22 to the effect that the truth, when-

ever discovered, is a complete defense in a libel ac-

tion, and it was an error to denj^ that instruction.

(No. 8.)

(k) The Court erred in giving to the jury the

first paragraph of Instruction No. 4 beginning on

line 2 and ending on line 16 of the first page of that

instruction.

(1) The Court en-ed in giving that portion of

Instruction No. 5 which reads as follows:

"You are further instructed that aside from

the statutes above noted defining the crime of

embezzlement of public funds, there is no stat-

ute in Alaska making a violation of the law

relating to the receipt and disbursement of

public funds by TeiTitorial officials a crime, or

subject to criminal prosecution,"

because Section 65-5-63 does make such violation of

the law a crime and subject to criminal prosecution

and imprisoimient and this involves the same statute

as the one under which Oscar Olson was sentenced.

(m) The Court erred in giving the first para-

graph of Instruction No. 8 for the reason that the

rejection of the testimony offered to show loss of

public funds made it impossible for defendant to es-
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tablish in detail tlic tiutli of the charge and the

close parallel of tlie case to that of Oscar Olson.

(n) The Coui-t erred in .uiving the instruction to

the jury contained in the second paragraph on page

2 of Instruction No. 8 which is on page 17 of the

instructions as a whole. This is the instruction re-

garding retraction as there is no retraction involved

in this case.

(o) The Couii erred in refusing to give defend-

ant's proposed Instructions No. 30, No. 4, No. 5,

No. 6, No. 7, No. 8, the last paragraph of Instruc-

tion No. 9, and No. 10.

(p) The Court erred in refusing to give de-

fendant's proposed Instruction No. 11 with the ex-

ception of that portion which the Court did give to

the effect that what one may lawfully speak, he

may lawfully wnte and ])ublish.

(q) The Court erred in refusing to give defend-

ant's proposed Instructions No. 13, No. 14, No. 16,

No. 18, No. 20, No. 22, No. 23, No. 24, No. 26, No.

27, No. 28, and No. 29.

(r) The Court erred in refusing to submit to the

jury the specific questions requested by defendant

in order to constitute special verdicts. This objec-

tion is particularly pertinent because of the nature

of the verdicts found in that each is a $1.00 general

or compensatory damage to each plaintiff and

$5,000.00 to each as punitive damages. The general

damages were nothing more than what is known as
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nominal damages and the jury should have been

permitted to find specifically whether there was

malice as defined in the case of Coleman v. McLen-

non, 98 Pac. 281. It is impossible to tell from the

general verdicts submitted and returned whether the

jury based its award of punitive damages on malice

as defined by the Court and the law.

(s) If any judgment shall have been entered be-

fore a consideration of this motion upon the ver-

dicts of the jury rendered and filed in open Court

on November 21, 1955, the defendant moves the

Court to open and set aside the judgment entered

herein and to either enter judgment for the defend-

ant or to grant the defendant a new trial upon the

grounds herein set forth.

Dated at Juneau, Alaska, this 25th day of No-

vember, 1955.

/s/ H. L. FAULKNEE,

/s/ ROGER G. CONNOR,
Attorneys for Defendant.

Affidavit of mail attached.

[Endorsed]: Filed November 28, 1955.
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[Title of District Court and Cause]

Nos. (3725-A, 6726-A, (i727-A

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION
FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING
THE VERDICTS, OR FOR A NEW TRIAL

The above-entitled consolidated cases having come

on regularly for tiial before the above-entitled

Court and a jury on November 14th to November

19th. 1955, and the jury having rendered a verdict

in each case in favor of the plaintitT and against

the defendant awarding to the plaintiff the sum of

$1.00 as com])ensatory damages and the sum of

$5,000.00 as punitive damages; and the defendant

liaAdng presented and filed herein its motion to set

aside the verdicts of the jury and to enter judgment

for the defendant in each case, or, if such relief be

denied, to order a new trial, specifying 18 assign-

ments of error; and such motion having been sub-

mitted without argument ; and the Court having con-

sidered each of such assignments of error and the

reply of the plaintiffs thereto, and being fully ad-

vised in the premises ; it is therefore Ordered as fol-

lows :

Paragraphs (a) and (b) of the assignments of

error are overruled for the reasons stated by the

Court during the progress of the trial and for the

further reason that no testimony was offered by the

defendant to show any loss of funds occurring

through plaintiffs' violation of Sec. 12-2-1 which
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could result in a violation of Sec. 65-5-63, ACLA,

1949, but the only evidence offered along this line

purported to show a shortage of funds occurring

in the hands of Robert Coughlin, purser of the ferry

''Chilkoot," alleged to have been discovered subse-

quent to the publication complained of, on which

grounds the ruling of the Court was based.

Paragraph (c) is overruled for the reason stated

by the Court during the progress of the trial and

for the further reason that the Court did not hold

that "an agent's criminal acts cannot be imputed

to the principal even when the agent is appointed

to perform an illegal act," but held instead that the

plaintiffs as principals could not be held criminally

liable for any shortage of funds occurring in the

hands of the purser unless they be accessories

thereto; and for the further reason that plaintiffs

did not admit at the trial that they had violated

Sec. 12-2-1, ACLA, 1949, but denied such violation

and alleged that they had handled the moneys in the

*'Chilkoot" ferry fund in accordance with a previ-

ous opinion of the Attorney General of the Terri-

tory; and that the Court did not hold that any loss

of public funds by embezzlement thereof was not a

violation of Sec. 65-5-63.

Paragraphs (d) to (r) inclusive, are overruled

for the reasons assigned by the Court during the

progress of the trial and for the further reason the

Court's Instruction No. 8 fully covered the issue

of truth of the words complained of as a defense to

an action of libel and that the instiiictions given to
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the jury and tlic refusal <>1' (Icrciidant's requested

instructions in no wise made it inij)ossi])l(' Foi- de-

fendant to establisli tlie truth of the charge set forth

in the publication.

Finding no merit in the errors complained of and

finding that the defendant received a fair and im-

pai-tial trial as to all pertinent issues raised by the

pleadings in such case, the Motion for Judgment

Notwithstanding Verdict and the Motion for New
Trial are denied.

Judgment is entered accordingly and in accord-

ance with the Opinion of the Court rendered De-

cember 2, 1955, upon previous objections of the de-

fendant to the proposed judgment.

Dated and entered at Ketchikan, Alaska, this 7th

day of December, 1955.

/s/ WALTER H. HODGE,
District Judge.

[Endorsed] : Filed December 7, 1955.
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In the District Court for the District of Alaska

Division Number One, at Ketchikan

Xo. 6725-A, 6726-A, 6727-A

Consolidated cases for trial.

HENRY RODEN,
Plaintiff,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corporation,

Defendant.

ERNEST GRUENING,
Plaintiff,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corporation,

Defendant.

FRANK A. METCALF,
Plaintiff,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corporation,

Defendant.

JUDGMENT

The above consolidated cases came on for trial

conmiencing November 14, 1955, before the Honor-

able Walter H. Hodge, District Judge, sitting at

Ketchikan, Alaska, and trial ending on November

19, 1955, the plaintiffs being present in person and

represented by Wendell P. Kay and Buell A. Nes-
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Itett, their attorneys, and tlic (Icfciulant being repre-

represented by Wendell L\ Kay and Biiell A. Nes-

by H. L. Faulkner, its attorney ; a jury oi' twelve (12)

])ersons was r(\niilarly impaneled and sworn to try

the causes and oial testimony and docuin<'nt;iry

])roof havint;- been introduced and admitted on be-

hali' of both ])arties, whereupon the Court instructed

the jury on the law in tlie matters and counsel for

both sides having- argued the matter to the jury

the jury thereupon retired to consider their verdi<'t.

Thereafter and at ten o'clock a.m. on the 21st day of

November, 1955, the jury returned into court with

verdicts in each case whicli were unsealed in open

court and in the presence of the jury and found

to be verdicts in faA^or of the plaintiffs in each

of the cases reading as follows

:

•H- 4f *

[The Verdicts read herewith are set out in

full, pages 118 to 120 of this ])rinted record.]

Wherefore by virtue of the law and by reason

of the premises aforesaid it is liereby

Ordered, Adjudged and Decreed that judgment

be and is hereby given in favor of each of the plain-

tiffs above named in the sum of Five Thousand

One Dollars ($5,001.00) and that plaintiffs shall

have and recover from the defendant plaintiffs'

costs and disbursements in this action incurred to

b(^ taxed by the Clerk of the Court in the manner
provided by law^ and attorneys fees in the sum of

$1,000.00.
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Dated at Ketchikan, Alaska, this 7th day of De-

cember, 1955.

/s/ WALTER H. HODGE,
District Judge.

Receipt of Copy acknowledged.

[Endorsed] : Filed December 7, 1955.

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

No. 6725-A, 6726-A, 6727-A

NOTICE OF APPEAL

Notice is (liven that the Empire Printing Com-

pany, defendant above named, appeals to the United

States Court of Ai)peals for the Ninth Circuit from

the final judgment entered in this action on the

7th day of December, 1955, and from the whole

thereof.

Dated at Jmieau, Alaska, this 8th day of Decem-

ber, 1955.

/s/ H. L. FAULKNER,

/s/ ROGER G. CONNOR,
Attorneys for Defendant.

Supersedeas and cost bond fixed at $25,000.00.

December 9, 1955.

/s/ WALTER H. HODGE,
Judge.

[Endorsed]: Filed December 9, 1955.
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[Title of District Coiii-t and Cause.]

No. (y72r)-A, (i72(J-A, G727-A

Consolidated Cases

SUPERSEDEAS BOND AND
COST BOND ON APPEAL

Whereas, the above-named a])])ellant, Empire

Printing Comi)any, a Corporation, has appealed, or

is about to appeal, to the United States Court of

Appeals for the Ninth Circuit from that certain

judgment entered, or to be entered hereafter, in

the above-entitled causes, which were consolidated,

on the 28th day of September, 1954, and fi-om the

whole thereof, and from the court's order denying

appellant's motion for judgment notwithstanding

the verdicts, or for a new trial, and which order

overruling appellant's motion is dated before the

entry of the judgnuMit, and which judgment herein-

above mentioned is in favor of appellees and against

the appellant; and.

Whereas, appellant is desirous of staying the ex-

ecution of the judgment aforesaid pending the ap-

peal and final determination thereof, and the appel-

lant has agreed that the penal amount of the super-

sedeas and cost bond shall be $25,000.00,

Now, Therefore, in consideration of the premises

and of the appeal, we, the undersigned, Empire

Printing Company, a corj^oration, as principal, and

Helen T. Monsen, of Jimeau, Alaska, and William

Prescott Allen, of Jnneau. Alaska, as sureties, do

I
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lierebv jointly and severally undertake and promise

and acknowledge ourselves, our succesors, executors

iind administrators, bound in the sum of $25,000.00,

that appellant Empire Printing Company, a cor-

poration, will satisfy the judgment in full, together

with all costs, interests and damages for delay

and costs of appeal, if for any reason the appeal

is dismissed, or if the judgment is affirmed, and will

satisfy in full such modification of the judgment

and such costs, interests and damages as the appel-

late court may adjudge and award, including costs

on appeal. This obligation is binding upon the suc-

cessors, executoi's and administrators of the prin-

cipal and sureties hereto and it shall be in favor of

the several appellees, their heirs, executors, ad-

ministi-ators and assigns.

In Witness Whereof, the Empire Printing Com-

pany, as principal, has caused this bond to l)e

executed and the siu-eties have signed their names

thereto, all on this 7th day of December. 1955.

[Seal] EMPIRE PRIXTIXG
co:mpaxy.

Attest:

By /s, HELEN T. AlOXSEX.
President.

/s^ X. C. BAXFIELD,
Secretary,

Principal.

/s/ HELEX T. MOXSEX.

/s/ WILLIA^I PRESCOTT ALLEX,
Sureties.

1
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Executed in the Presence of:

/s/ il. L. FAULKNER,

/s/ LILA FOSTER.

United States of Ameiica,

Territory of Alaska—ss.

Acknowledged before nic this 7th day of Decem-

b('i% 1955, at Juneau, Alaska, by Helen T. Monsen

and N. C. Banfield, as president and secretary, re-

spectively, of the above-named Empire Printing Com-
})any, a corporation, as its free and voluntary act

and deed.

Witness my hand and official seal the day and

year hereinabove first written.

[Seal] : /s/ KATHRYN ADA3IS,

Notary Public for Alaska.

My commission expires: May 15, 1956.

United States of America,

Territory of Alaska—ss.

This certifies that on this 7th day of December,

1955, at Juneau, Alaska, before me, the undersigned,

a Notary Public for xVlaska, duly commissioned

and sworn, personally appeared the above named

Helen T. Monsen and William Prescott Allen, the

sureties who executed the foregoing bond and each



138 Empire Printing Co. vs.

acknowledged to me that he and she are residents

of the TeiTitory of Alaska, o^^^lers of property

therein, and that they are each worth more than

the sum of $25,000.00 over and above all debts

and liabilities, exclusive of property exempt from

execution, and that neither of them is an attorney,

counsellor at law, marshal, deputy marshal, clerk

of any court, or other officer of any court, and that

they are qualified in every respect to be sureties on

the foregoing bond.

Witness my hand and seal on the day and year

herein first above written.

[Seal] /s/ KATHRYN ADAMS,
Notary Pu])lic for Alaska.

My commission expires: Ma}' 15, 1956.

Approved and appeal allowed this 9th day of

December, 1955.

/s/ WALTER H. HODGE,
Judge of the District Court, Territory of Alaska,

Division Number One.

United States of America,

Territoiy of Alaska—ss.

We, the undersigned, Helen T. Monsen and Wil-

liam Prescott Allen, the sureties named in the fore-

going bond, being first severally duly sworn, de])ose

and sav:
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That we iwv holli residents <»1' the Ten-itorv of

Alaska and property owners therein, and that we are

eaeh worth the sum of nioic tliaii Twenty-Five

'IMiousand ($25,000) Dollars over and above all our

Just debts and liabilities and exelusive of j)roperty

exeni})t i'l-oni exeeution, and that neither of us is a

niai-shal, dejouty marshal, clerk ol" any court, or

any officer of any court, and that we are qualified in

all respects to be sureties on the foregoing bond.

/s/ HELEN T. MONSEN,

/s/ WILLIAM PRESCOTT ALLEN.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 7th day of

December, 1955.

[Seal] /s/ KATHRYN ADAJVIS,

Notary Public for Alaska.

My commission expires: May 15, 1956.

[Endorsed] : Filed December 9, 1955.

[Title of District Court and Causes.]

Nos. 6725-A, 6726-A, 6727-A

ORDER EXTENDING TIME TO PREPARE
AND FILE TRANSCRIPT AND TO PER-
FECT APPEAL

This Matter having come on before the court

upon motion of the defendant for extension of

time of an additional fifty (50) days within w^iich
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to file a transcript of record, defendant 's designation

of record on appeal, and defendant's statement of

points to be relied upon on appeal, and it appearing

to the court that the transcript of record cannot be

completed by the court reporter and filed within

the time specified in the rules,

Now, Therefore, it is hereby ordered that the

defendant be and it is hereby granted until the 8th

day of March, 1956, within which to file herein the

transcript of record on appeal, the designation of

record on appeal, and the statement of points to

be relied upon by defendant on appeal to the United

States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit.

Done in Open Court this 20th day of December,

1955.

/s/ WALTER H. HODGE,
Judge.

Affidavit of Mail attached.

[Endorsed] : Filed December 20, 1955.
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In the IT. S. Distnct Court for the District of

Alaska, Division Nimiher One, at Jiincaii

No. ()725-A

ITENRY RODEN,
Plaintiff,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corporation,

Defendant.

No. 6726-A

ERNEST GRUENING,
Plaintiff,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corporation,

Defendant.

No. 6727-A

FRANK A. METCALF,
Plaintiff,

vs.

EMPIRE PRINTING COMPANY, a Corporation,

Defendant.

REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF RECORD

Be It Remembered, that on the 14th day of No-

vember, 1955, Court having convened at 10:00

o'clock a.m., at Ketchikan, Alaska, the above-

entitled causes, having previously been consolidated

for trial, came on for trial before a jury; the Hon-
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orable TTalter H. Hodge, United States District

Judge, presiding; the plaintiffs appearing by Wen-
dell P. Ka3' and Buell A. Nesbett, of their attor-

neys; the defendant appearing by H. L. Faulkner,

its attorney; respective counsel having announced

they were ready for trial, empanelling of a jury

was commenced.

Court recessed until 2:00 o'clock p.m., November

14, 1955, reconvening as per recess, with all parties

present as heretofore, and empanelling of a jury

was completed and the jury was sworn to try the

causes; whereupon, the jury was duly admonished

by the Court; respective counsel stipulated that,

should it become necessary to excuse any member

of the jury during the trial of the causes, they

would proceed \^'ith less than twelve jurors

;

Court adjourned until 10:00 o'clock a.m., Novem-

ber 15, 1955, reconvening as per adjournment, with

all parties present as heretofore and the jury all

present in the box; opening statements were made

by respective counsel; whereupon, the jury was ex-

cused, and Court and counsel discussed some mat-

ters of law ; whereupon, Court recessed for five min-

utes, reconvening as per recess, with all parties

present as heretofore and the jury all present in the

box; upon plaintiffs' motion the Court excluded

from the courtroom all witnesses, [2*] other than the

parties and Mrs. Helen Monsen, president of the

defendant company; whereupon the following pro-

ceedings were had

:

The Court : You may proceed.

*Page numbering appearing at foot of page of original Reporter's
Transcript of Record.
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PLAINTIFFS' CASE

ERNEST ({RUENING
called as a witness on bcliali* of tlie ])laintiffs, h(Mnf?

first duly sworn, testified as follows:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Kay:

Q. Will you state your name, please?

A. Ernest (xruening.

Q. Will you state where your residence is, sir?

A. My residence is twenty-four miles north of

Juneau at Eagle River Landing.

Q. And what is your present occupation, busi-

ness or occupation, sir?

A. I am a writer and lecturer.

Q. Governor Gruening, you are a former Gov-

ernor of the TeiTitory of Alaska, are you not, sir?

A. That is correct.

B Q. And when were you first appointed as Go\ -

ernor of the Territory?

A. In December of 1939. I took office on Decem-

ber 6th.

Q. Because it is relevant in the case on trial.

Governor, [3] I am going to ask you briefly to give

the Couii: and jury a short biogra])hical sketch of

your background prior to your appointment as Gov-

ernor of the Territory, if you will do that, sir.

A. How^ far back shall I go?

I Q. Well, start with your fii*st job or education,

sir, and bring it down briefly.

A. After graduating from school and college and

I
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(Testimony of Ernest Gruening.)

professional school, I decided to go into newspaper

work, and I started in as a reporter on a Boston

newspaper, and I served as a reporter on that and

other papers and gradually went through the other

stages of newspaper work, copy desk editing, re-

writing, and then became city editor and managing

editor of a Boston paper, and in the subsequent

years my vocation was that of a newspaperman,

and I was the editor of various newspapers—^the

Boston Traveler, the Boston Journal, the New York

Post, the New York Tribune—and the New York

Nation, a weekly magazine. And in the course of my
journalism I became very much interested in our

relations with Latin America and wrote a good deal

on the subject, got a leave of absence to go to Mex-

ico to write some articles for Collier's Magazine and

other magazines, and, when I came back, decided

to write a book on Mexico, which was published in

1928, and, largely as a result of that and my inter-

est in Latin [4] 'America, I was appointed the ad-

viser to the United States Delegation at the Sev-

enth Inter-American Conference, usually known as

the Pan-American Conference, which met in 1933,

and where we established what has become since

known as the Good Neighbor Policy, which I had

advocated. And, I think, because my services were

deemed satisfactory, I was then appointed to a new

position which had been created, that of Director

of the Division of Territories and Island Posses-

sions in the Department of the Interior, which had

supervision over the Federal relations of our terri-
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(Testimony of Ernest Orueiiiiig.)

torit's and island possessions—Alaska, Hawaii,

Puerto Rieo, the Viro-in Islands, and later, until

they were given their inde])endenee, the Philippines,

and several lesser islands, incduding the United

States xintarctic Service, and I seiTed there for

five years when the governorship of Alaska became

vacant, and during those five years as Director of

Territories, I paid two visits to Alaska and had

become somewhat familiar with its problems. At

that time President Roosevelt asked me to serve

as Governor, and that is how I came to be a])-

pointed.

Q. Who was your predecessor, sir, as Governor

of Alaska l A. John Weir Troy.

Q. Now, Governor, after your appointment by

President Roosevelt were you confirmed by the

United States Senate? [5] A. Yes, I was.

Q. Was that confirmation unanimous?

A. I was confimied three times, at the end of

each four-year term; the terms are four years each;

and I was confirmed each time by unanimous vote

of the United States Senate.

Q. Your second appointment came in what year,

sir?

A. The second appointment came in 1944.

Q. And your third appointment?

A. In 1948. Confirmation came the next year.

Q. And you served until what time?

A. Until April 10, 1953.

Q. Now, in your capacity as Governor of Alaska

during the years 1950, '51 or '52, let's say, were

fe
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(Testimony of Ernest Gruening.)

you a member of the Territorial Board of Road
Commissioners, of the Board of Road Commission-

ers for the Territory, sir?

A. I was required by Territorial law to be a

member, chairman, of that and a number of other

boards. That was only one of some dozen boards

which the Territorial law^ required me to serve on.

Q. Were you a member of the Board of Road

Commissioners then during the year 1951 and the

year 1952, sir? A. I was.

Q. During the year 1951 did the Board of Road
Commissioners engage in a transaction with regard

to the purchase of the Ferry Chilkoot? [6]

A. It did.

Q. And will you state briefly what that trans-

action was, sir, to the best of your recollection?

A. There was, of course, a missing road link be-

tween Southeastern Alaska and the Westward part

of Alaska, and it was considered desirable to estab-

lish that link so that people coming southward from

the Interior of Alaska, or having gone up over the

highway, and wishing to go to Southeastern Alaska,

or vice versa, only to go up from Southeastern to

the Interior, would have a service that would take

their cars and enable them to accompany their cars,

which they could do in no other way except through

a ferry service.

Q. Well, the Board of Road Commissioners then

did purchase, repair and place in operation a motor

vessel known as the Chilkoot; is that correct?

A. That is correct.



Henry Jioden, et al. 147

(Testimony of Ernest Gruening.)

Q. And that vessel served between what points?

A. Principally between Jnneau and Plaines with

side tri])s to Skagway, wliieli was also dex)rived of

j)ractically all American service at that time.

Q. Now, in the s])ring of the year 1952, Gover-

nor, to the best of your recollection, did the Terri-

toi'ial Board of Road Commissioners face some-

what of a problem in connection with the operation

of the Ferry Chilkoot? [7] A. Yes, they did.

Q. And w^ould you state very briefly what that

problem w'as?

A. Well, the problem v^as that no i^articular ap-

propriation had been made for the feiTy as such,

and the funds to operate the ferry were the road

funds, the funds derived from the revenues of the

gas tax, which, I think, at that time was tw^o cents

a gallon, and this fund was, of course, used for

road construction and road maintenance, and the

Board of Road Commissioners, of course, consid-

ered that this ferry was a part of the highway sys-

tem and that it linked two unconnected parts, and

so they determined that, as these fimds being used

for the ferry would deprive certain other sections

of the use of road monies for construction, that they

would use the revenues as they came in for the sup-

port of the ferry. That was one problem.

Another problem was the fact that the crews,

naturally, insisted on being paid whenever they

completed their tour of duty. The ferry, as I recall

it, w^ould go twice a week and would be laid up for
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a day or two at each end, and, when the crews came

back, they wanted to be paid, and in order to pay

them promptly it was necessary to have a fund of

this kind, otherwise they wonld have to go through

the long delay of having vouchers being processed

through the red tape of our government proce-

dure, [8] and so that was considered a problem.

Q. Now, Avas that problem—first, let me ask,

Governor, who were the other members of the

Board of Road Commissioners besides yourself?

A. Henry Roden, then Treasurer of the Terri-

tory and former Attorney General of the Territory,

and Frank Metcalf, the Territorial Highway Engi-

neer; both of them elected officials.

Q. Now, did the Board of Road Commissioners

face these problems concerning the operation of the

Chilkoot Ferry in a meeting in the early part of

June, 1952, to the best of your recollection?

A. Yes, they did.

Q. And that meeting was on or about June 5,

1952, was it not, sir?

A. To the best of my recollection.

Q. What was the result of that meeting with re-

gard to this operation of the Ferry Chilkoot, sir,

if any?

A. To the best of my recollection that meeting

determined after consultation with the Attorney

General that the receipts from the ferry should be

deposited in a bank in a fund.

Q. And what use should be made of it?

A. And disbursed for the operating expenses of
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the ferry, flic day hy day \va<j:(' ])ayme]its and fo

foi-tli. [9]

Q. Now, Governor, was any question, to the best

of your recollection, whatever raised by anyone as

to the legality of this particular course of opera-

tion, method of o])eration? A. None.

Q. Were all members of the Board present, sir ?

A. They were.

Q. And do you recall what the vote, if any, or

tlie measure of a])proval, which this plan rec(>ived,

was ?

A. Well, there was no difference of opinion be-

tween any of the Board members or the Attorney

General.

Q. Now, so far as you know, did the—was that

plan or method of operation placed into effect there-

after by the Board of Road Commissioners ?

A. It was.

Q. Did you—I take it that, being in the position

of a member of a number of boards, that you per-

haps were not as fully familiar with the day to

day operations of the Board of Road Commissioners

as perhaps the Highway Engineer or other members

might be; is that correct?

A. Well, that is correct. I mean, the Highway
Engineer was somewhat closer to the problem than

I w^ould be as a Board member, and the Treasurer

also.

Q. In any event, sir, do you recall any mention

or any discussion or any comment or problem aris-

ing in connection [10] with this method of handling
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the Chilkoot Ferry, from that time down until about

the 25th of September, 1952?

A. Well, after the plan was put into effect it

appeared to be operating smoothly, and I heard no

comment of any kind until the publication.

Q. Was there anything secret or any attempted

concealment by you or any of the members of the

Board of this plan which had been placed in opera-

tion? A. Of course not.

Q. Now, are you familiar, Governor, with a

newspaper known as the Alaska Daily Empire, pub-

lished by the Empire Publishing Company in

Juneau, Alaska 1 A. Yes, I am.

Q. Did you have occasion to see the edition of

the Daily Alaska Empire for the day of September

25, 1952? A. Yes, I did.

Q. I will hand you an item and ask you what it

is, sir. Is it a copy of the front page of the Daily

Alaska Empire for that date ?

A. That is the front page of the Empire of that

date.

Q. And is it a line-run copy of the paper, so to

speak, of the paper purchased by you at or about

the time ? A. It is the same.

Q. You have seen other copies of the issue of

that day, have you not ? [11] A. Oh, yes.

Q. Is it identical with the general run of the

papers of that day? A. It is.

Mr. Kay: I will ask that this be offered in evi-

dence if there is no objection. (Handing proposed

exhibit to defendant's counsel.)
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I was goiiijj: to offci- tile Ci-oiit ]kvj:o, Ijiit ]\lr.

Faulkner pointed out tliat thei-e is a hiicf eontiinia-

tion of one of the articles, whicli is involved in the

defense although not in the ])laintiffs' ease, on Page

5, so I am going to offer the complete edition rather

than the front page only.

Q. (By Mr. Kay) : Does this appear to be a

true and com])lete copy to the best of your knowl-

edge of the edition of the Empire for the 25th of

September, 1952 ? A. Yes, it is.

Mr. Kay : I will offer it in evidence.

The Court: I presume there is no objection?

Mr. Faulkner: No; no objection.

The Court : It may be admitted.

The Clerk : This will be Plaintiffs' Exhibit Num-
ber 1.

(Whereupon, the jury was duly admonished,

and the trial was recessed until 2:00 o'clock

p.m., November 15, 1955, and resumed as per

recess, with all parties present as [12] hereto-

fore and the jury all present in the box; the wit-

ness Ernest Gruening resumed the witness

stand, and the Direct Examination by Mr. Kay

k was continued as follows:)

Mr. Kay: Your Honor, at this time, in view of

the rule that the exhibits should be read to the jury

while the witness is on the witness stand, I am going

to read the exhibit that we have offered in evidence,

such portions of it as I desire to, and of course, Mr.
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Faulkner has the right to read any portions that I

do not read.

The Exhibit No. 1 is the front page of the Alaska

Daily Empire for September 25, 1952. As you can

see, the headline is "Bare 'Special' Ferry Fund."

Then across the left-hand margin runs a headline

"Reeve Eaps Graft, Corruption," and under

neath that is a photostatic copy of a check signed

"Chilkoot Ferry, Robert E. Coughlin," drawn on

B. M. Behrends Bank, Juneau, Alaska. That check

reads as follows: "No. 49. Juneau, Alaska, 20 Au-

gust, 1952. Pay to the order of Steve Larsson

Homer. $398.04," and spelled out, "Three Hundred

Ninety-eight and 04/100 Dollars. Chilkoot Ferry,

Robei-t E. Coughlin."

Beneath that check appears the following in

rather heavy small type :

'

' Shown above is a photo-

static copy of a check drawn on the special ' Chilkoot

Ferry' account and signed by Robert E. Coughlin.

The check is in payment of wages to Steve Larsson

Homer, then an employee of the Territory [13]

serving aboard the MV Chilkoot. This is but one of

a number of checks so drawn since the special ac-

count w^as opened at the B. M. Behrends Bank.

Auditor Neil Moore requested a statement of the ac-

count showing deposits and disbursements, but was

told by bank officials that the bank would give him

no detailed information concerning the account."

Then the subheading on the right-hand part of

the paper covering three columns reads as follows:

"Gruening, Metcalf, Roden Divert 'Chilkoot' Cash
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to Private Bank Account." Beneath tliat: "Auditor

Neil Moore and Assistant Attoi-ney (Jeneral John

Diniond Halt Payments from Fund. By Jack I).

J)aum." The article reads as follows: "To avoid

paying territorial money into the general fund as

j)rovided by lav^', Governor Gniening, Treasurer

Roden and Highway Engineer Frank Metcalf have

set up a 'si^ecial fund' at a Juneau bank, territorial

auditor Neil Moore disclosed today."

Subheadline: "Illegal Payments." "The 'special

fund,' which dates back to early last year, is in the

B. M. Behrends bank under the name 'Chilkoot

Ferry— by Robert E. Coughlin.' Into it have gone

the receipts from the operation of the ferry which

was purchased by the Territory" in May, 1951, and

there have been thousands of dollars of illegal

receipts and disbursements recorded in the fund to

date, Moore charged.

"After learning of the unauthorized account [14]

late last month, Auditor Moore and assistant at-

torney general John Dimond ordered the bank to

stop payment on all checks drawn against the ac-

count.

"The case closely parallels that of Oscar Olson,

former teiTitorial treasurer who is now serving a

prison term at McNeil's Island penitentiary for

^dolating the law in the receipt and disbursement of

public funds." Then it goes on.

I am stopping now at the end of the—one, two,

three—fourth paragraph in order to avoid burden-

ing" the record here, and down to the continuation
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of the story on Page 2, and I mil read to yon the

last two paragraphs of the article: ''Since then

there has been no further action in the case. Any in-

vestigation to determine the extent to which the law

has been broken now rests presumably with the U. S.

district attorney, P. J. Gilmore, Jr., who said last

night he is the sole prosecuting officer in this divi-

sion for territorial and federal criminal cases.

'

' The Empire learned of the unprecedented trans-

action when Homer told the story to a reporter."

—"when Homer told the story to a reporter."

Now^, then, also there is on the front page a bold-

faced editorial, two-column editorial, running the

length of the page, more or less on the left-hand

center of the page, beneath the photostatic copy of

the check, headed in black print, "Start Talking,

Boys (An Editorial). Disclosed in [15] today's

Empire is a story almost too fantastic for belief,

but the facts have been personally verified by both

the territorial auditor and assistant attorney gen-

eral."

I am stopping reading and going on down here to

the—one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight

—

ninth paragraph of the editorial which reads as fol-

lows: "If this method of by-passing the law is ac-

ceptable to the attorney general and the U. S. dis-

trict attorney, why is it not possible for every de-

partment head who finds himself running over his

appropriation to set up 'special funds' from the

money his office takes in?"

And skipping then to the final paragraph of the
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editorial which reads as follows: "Oscar Olson sits

today in liis prison cell, dreaming of the days when
he thought territorial laws were only foi- the under-

lings.
'

'

Of course, the entire editorial will be before you,

ladies and gentlemen, the entire paper, and you

can examine any other portions of it. I merely

wanted to bring out those particular portions by

reading them at this time. Mr. Faulkner can read

the balance if he wants to, or it will be available to

you in your deliberations to read the entire article

as of course you will probably want to do.

Q. (By Mr. Kay): Governor Gruening, I will

hand you Exhibit No. 1. Now% Governor, will you

tell the Court and jury please in your own words

what your reaction was w^hen you [16] first saw the

edition of the Alaska Daily Empire for Thursday,

September 25, 1952?

A. I was terribly shocked. I was deeply dis-

turbed. 1 felt as if a pile driver had suddenly hit

me on the head.

Q. Governor, referring to the headline, the ban-

ner headline, w^hich reads ''Bare 'Special' Ferry

Fmid," can you state whether or not that headline

is true or false? A. False.

Q. What is there about that headline which is

false, sir?

A. Well the word "Bare," as if something secret

and concealed had been exposed and brought to

light; the quotation marks around the w-ord " 'Spe-

cial,' " as if there were something very extraordi-
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nary and sinister about it ; and the size of the type.

I had never seen larger type than that used for any

story in the Empire; the largest type they had, I

suppose.

Q. How long have you lived in Juneau, Gov-

ernor? A. Since 1939.

Q. You have read the Empire almost daily, have

you not? A. Yes.

Q. Have you ever seen them use any larger type

than that for even a declaration of war, Pearl Har-

bor, the end of the war in Europe, or any other

time?

A. I don't recall that they ever used any larger

type for any story, no matter what its importance,

to the best of [17] my recollection.

Q. All right, sir. Now I refer you to the sub-

headline ^' Reeve Raps Graft, Corruption" and a

photostatic copy of the check appearing immediately

under it. Can you comment on the accuracy of that

subheadline and its position in relationship to the

check ?

A. Well, anybody looking at this paper as a

whole concluded, as I did when I first saw it, that

the graft and coiTuption and the picture of the

check were all part of the same story. Any time you

reproduce a photostatic copy of a check, it is clearly I

intended to convey that this check has been un-

earthed and that it was kept a dark secret and tliat

this is a proof of graft and corruption. That is

what I got out of it.
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Q. Can you eominont, sir, on th(> heading, the

lu^adline which appears over 11m' i-ight-liand tliree

cohnnns of tlie paper, sublieadline, ''Gruening, Mct-

CalF, Roden Divert 'diilkoot' Cash to Private Bank

Account'"? State wliether that headline is false

or an accurate

A. It is false.

Mr. Faulkner: If the Court please, just a mo-

ment. I don't like to interrupt and I don't mind too

much having Governor Gruening state his impres-

sions, but I think that these questions are not

proper. In considering the matter of what is libel

in a ]>ublication of a news])aper the whole [18] ar-

ticle, headlines and all, must be read together. And,

if the Court has any doubt about this, I would

like to

The Court: I have no doubt about that, counsel.

The jury will be instructed that the whole article

must be read together. However, the witness can state

whether certain portions of the article are true or

false

Mr. Kay: That was all that I was attempting

to do, your Honor.

The Court: and may explain wherein it is

true or false.

Mr. Faulkner: Yes; but you can't say whether

a headline is true or false unless it is in i-elation to

the article itself, because the Court of Appeals lias

held in

The Court : The witness is referring to the article

itself. I think he may explain.
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A. Well, that is false. Gruening, Metcalf and

Roden did not divert anything to a private bank

account. It was a public account held for the pur-

pose of paying public expenses on a publicly run

enterprise. There was nothing private about it. And

the word "Divert" clearly implies that there was

something crooked and underhanded about it.

Q. (By Mr. Kay) : In other words, "divert"

ordinarily implies a turning into channels, I believe

the dictionary definition would be, other than those

that are proper and legitimate. Am I correct ? [19]

A. You are absolutely right. That is what I

gathered.

Q. Now, Governor, I will refer you down to the

body of the article and call your attention par-

ticularly to the third paragraph—no—the fourth

paragTaph of the article itself by Jack D. Daum,

the seventh column of the front page: "The case

closely parallels that of Oscar Olson, former ter-

ritorial treasurer who is now serving a prison term

at McNeil's Island penitentiary for violating the

law in the receipt and disbursement of public funds."

And I ask you whether that statement is true or

false, sir?

A. Oscar Olson was sent to jail because he was

a thief. He stole public money. And this story says

that our case closely parallels it. It is just as false

as anything can be.

Q. Is that parallel—I have noted that that par-

allel is again repeated in the editorial "Start Talk-
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mg, Boys"; is tlint foi-rcct, the last parac:ray)h of

that editorial?

A. Yes. Well, that also isn't correct.

Q. Fs that a true or false ini])licati()Ti contained

in that last paragraph of the editorial ahont Oscai*

Olson?

A. I think the implication is false in t\v<» ways.

In th(> first place it again draws the parallel with

Oscar Olson sitting' in his cell; ])ut it gcx^s oii to

say, "dreaming' of the days when he thought ter-

ritorial laws were only for [20] the underlings."

That isn't what Oscar Olson went to jail foi-, for

thinking that law^s w^ere made only for the under-

lings. Pie went to jail because he embezzled money,

thousands of dollars, and stuck them in his own

pocket and spent them. That is why he went to jail.

Q. Now, Governor, we have gone over these items

in stories and the editorial to which I have called

attention. I call your attention to the next to the

last paragraph—will you turn to the second page of

the issue of September 25th, Governor—the next

to the last paragraph of the article over here in the

sixth column—eighth column, pardon me. That para-

graph reads: "Since then there has been no further

action in the case. Any investigation to determine

the extent to which the law has been broken now^

rests presumably with the U. S. district attorney,

P. J. Gilmore, Jr., who said last night he is the sole

prosecuting officei' in this division for territorial

and federal criminal cases." Can vou state whether
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or not that paragraph conveys a true and ac-

curate

A. Well, it is perfectly clear that that was a

paragraph planted to convey the intent of crimi-

nality. Mr. Gilmore hadn't said anything about the

case, but the writer said, ^'Any investigation to de-

termine the extent to which the law has been broken

now rests presumably with the U. S. district at-

torney, P. J. Gilmore, Jr.," and the writer [21] of

course knew that the U. S. District Attorney was the

man who would prosecute criminal cases, but Mr.

Gilmore didn't say that. He merely is quoted as

saying that he would be the only prosecuting officer

if it were a criminal case.

Q. For all Territorial and Federal criminal

cases.

A. This is dragged into give the impression very

definitely that a crime had been committed and that

we had committed the crime.

Q. And now. Governor Gruening, as a result of

this publication of this article, articles, and edi-

torial and the layout of the Empire on this par-

ticular occasion of September 25, 1952, you have

already said, I believe, that you suffered, or that you

were shocked and highly disturbed by this. What,

if any, effect did that have on your mental attitude,

Governor, your mental feelings, let us say ?

A. Well, I felt in a daze, as if I had been

charged, and I had been charged before the whole

world in the most extensive manner, the whole front

page that was visible, of being a criminal and por-



Ilenry Roden, ct al. 161

(Testimony of Ernest Omening.)

triiycd to my fVIlow citizens not only in Alnska hut

"Outside" as having been guilty of a erinic

Q. Governor, do yon feel that you suifered dam-

age to your i'e])utation by reason of the publication

of the Juneau, [22] Alaska, Daily Em[)ire of Sep-

tember 25, 1952?

A. No question about it. Many people believe

everything they read in a newspaper, and, certainly,

wlien it is presented in this kind of a form, few jjco-

])le could overlook it.

Q. How long had you been in ])ublie life, sir,

])rior to this jmblieation of September 25, 1952 ?

A. I had been contimiously in public life for

eighteen years.

Q. Had you—I presume during that })eriod you

had had your share of criticism of one kind or an-

other? A. Oh, yes, certainly.

Q. Had you ever before, Governor, had an ac-

cusation comparable or in any way comparable to

this leveled at your reputation? A. Never.

Q. Governor, do you feel that you suffered any

damage to you in your capacity as a public official,

as Governor of the Territory of Alaska, sir ?

A. Well, the most important thing that a public

official has is public confidence, the confidence of

the public, the confidence of superiors, the confidence

of his associates, here and in Washington, and that

confidence certainly was shaken by an article of this

kind by a paper presumably responsible, the leading

paper in the capital, the only daily paper, the capi-

tal of the [23] Territory.
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Q. Now, at an earlier point in your examination,

Governor Gruening, you referred to this as, I forget

your words, the last straw or the climax of a cam-

paign Avhich had been, you felt had been, waged

against you by the Empire over a period of years.

Am I correct in that? A. That is correct.

Q. I wonder if you could give us a few examples

of this campaign from your best recollection.

A. Well, of course this campaign extended over

a period of ten years, more or less, and the Empire

missed practically no opportunity to denounce me,

criticize me, to find fault with everything that I did,

almost everything, certainly, and to imply that my
motives were base, that I was intellectually dis-

honest, that I wasn't sincere in Avhat I was trying

to do. This was universally known in Juneau, that

that was the attitude of the Empire. And, even at

times when what I did was in agreement with poli-

cies of the Empire, they would find an opportunity

to find fault. There w^as a period when for some

reason of their own they actually left my name out

of every news story for a considerable period, re-

ferring to me only as the Governor, whereas every-

one else in the story would be mentioned by name.

Now, I don't know just what the purpose of that

was, but it certainly wasn't a friendly [24] purpose.

It showed a certain very definite animosity without

any question, and that continued for some time.

Q. I believe that at my request, Governor, you

culled out a few newspapers, which you were able

I
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to find and which were avaihil)le to you, to (hiiioii-

strate this testimony that there was a considerable

period of time vvlien the Empire instead of referring

to you by your i^iven name referred to you only as

the Governor of Alaska?

A. That is correct. It lasted some time.

Q. I will hand you a "roup of newsy)apers and

ask if you will examine them and eithei- mark them,

or, if they are already marked, you need not do so,

but. if they are not marked with references, will

\'ou mark them, sir? Just mark them, and then T

will ask about them.

A. Well, here is a story.

Q. You need not discuss the story, sir. If you

will just mark them, then I will bring them to the

jury's attention,

A. That one is marked.

Q. While you are examining those others, per-

haps I

Mr. Kay: I am sorry, I should offer these to

you (handing proj^osed exhibits to defendant's

counsel).

The Court : For identification refer to the dates,

counsel.

Mr. Kay: I will, and I am going to also offer

them [25] all as one exhibit.

The Court: I mean, as the witness identifies

them,

A. Now, I want to say, add, that these deletions

of my name did not merely occur in stories written

in tJie Empire office. They went so far as to include
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offorinsr this ;\s aiiy objtM*tion to their faihiiv to

print your luuno but mer\»ly ai> an exainnle of tht»ir

journalistio praotioe?

A. Well, it was an example of their aititiut u>

leave n\y name out whenner }H\ssibK\ often to omit

an im^Hirtant paniei^^ition that I niisrht have hati

in publie atfaii*s so as to liejiy the publie the evi-

vlemv of that |v;u*tieij>;\tion and to emphajuxe un-

favonible things.

I nMUt^mlvr one ease in |^>{\rtienlar, whieh is not

exaetly the s^une but it is |>«\raUel in motive, Then^

was an important hearimr of a Oonirix'ssional eim^

niittee, the Oomn\ittee on l^iblie L;\nds, whieh eame

to Alaska, I believe, in the late winter of 1JK">2, if

my iveolleetion is not wivng as to the date. This

eommittee was tryinir ti> study what was wivuii' with

our land laws and ti^ undertake a drastie ivvision.

1: was an impiu-iani I'ouuniitee. It held i^nly iwi>

lioarinus in Alaska, one in elu!io:iu and one in Au-

ehorauo. An^i 1 was the tlrst and prineipal wiiiu^ss

and I appt^ired anil tt^stitied at some KMiiith, |h»S'

sibly tliree-quarters y.'^i an hour, and I was t'ollowetl

bv [i!T] a distinuuisluHl citirtMi of Juiu^au, who hap-

pens to be Mr. Hert Faulkner, eouusel t\u' the op-

posiui:- siili\ and Mr. l'\nilkiuM- bepiu his testinu>ny

b\- sayinu' that I had ro\ei-ed the subjeet so well autl

Si> eiHuplett^y that thtM-e was vc:\\\\ little i>r nothin^i?

for him left to sa\ . and t>n \ a nous otvasions duriuii:

1 his testimony he rrpi^aied that; \w said it several

Ittimi^s; but, tinally. i^ettin^; wanni-d up. \w did speak

at sv>me lonuth. That lu^irim;' was eoxeit^l b\' the
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Empire by Mr. Jack Daum. My appearance was

never mentioned. Mr. Faulkner's was mentioned at

considerable length, althougli he came along and

said he agreed with and approved everything I had

said.

Q. In other words, then, as far as the puj^lic

went, if they read the Empire, you never were at the

hearing ?

A. I might just as well not have been there, al-

though I was the principal witness.

Mr. Kav: Now, I don't want to take the time of

the Court or of the jury to read all of these ex-

amples. I am going to offer them. I have already

shown them to Mr. Faulkner. They are offered only

for this one purpose, of showing the omission of the

name Gruening or Ernest Gniening entirely from

the columns of the Alaska Daily Empire and refer-

ence to him only as the Governor, Alaska's Gover-

nor or Governor of Alaska. I am offering them only

for that purpose.

The Court: Any objection, considering the pur-

pose [28] of the offer?

Mr. Faulkner: No objection.

The Court: It may be admitted for that pur-

pose.

Mr. Kay : Six cojoies of the Alaska Daily Empire,

one exhibit.

The Court: Could you attach them together as

an exhibit?

The Clerk : Six copies of the Empire are marked

Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 2.
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Mr. Kay: As 1 said, I \\\\\ not goiiitj: to i-c.-id

tliesc. You will have an oitportuiiity to read tlicin.

They will be aniont;- tlic exliibits tliat you will hv

allowed to take witli you, and tliey are offered for

that puipose, to sliow tlie Kni[)ire, foi- whatever

r(>as()n you may conclude, adoj)ted this rather pe-

culiar practice.

Q. (By Mr. Kay) : Now, alonu,- tlie same lines.

Governor, I believe you testitied at one point there

that even in Associated Press stories I'loni outside

Alaska that the Empire deleted your name; is that

correct? A. That is correct ; yes.

Q. I will show you a ])hotostatic copy of a por-

tion of the front pajice of the Alaska Daily Em])ire

for June 26, 1946, and ask you if the right-hand

column contains an Associated Press story?

A. That is true
;
yes. [29]

Q. Did that same story a])i)ear elsewhere in the

j)ress of the Territory of Alaska?

A. Yes. It ap])eared throughout the Teriitory.

Q. Did it appear ijarticularly in the Ketchikan

Chronicle for June 26, 1946? A. It did.

Q. Is this a carbon copy, a true, correct carbon

copy, of that same release as appeared in the

Ketchikan Chronicle for that date?

x\. Yes; the date being- June 26, 1946.

Mr. Kay: I ^Yi^l offer these in evidence as Plain-

tiffs' Exhibit 3 (handing- to defendant's counsel).

There ])eing no objection, your Honor, I will offer

it as Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.
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The Court: It may be admitted.

Clerk of Court: So marlced as Plaintiff's Ex-

hibit 3.

Mr. Kay: I think I Avill take the time—it is

very short—to read this to the jury because I find

it rather amusing myself. The Associated Press

story that appeared in the Ketchikan Chronicle

reads as follows

:

''Washington (AP)—Secretary of the Interior

J. A. Krug said yesterday he plans to visit Alaska,

probal^ly in August, but declined comment on criti-

cism of Governor Gruening's trip here with a dele-

gation seeking air service to the Territory. [30]

"Krug was asked, at a press conference for com-

ment on the statement by Senator Mitchell (D-

Wash.) that he would ask for an investigation of

Gruening's participation in the flight from Anchor-

age here by an Alaskan group seeking a direct

mid-west Alaska air route.

'

' Members of the group said they opposed a direct

line from Seattle to the orient. Gruening said yes-

terday the Alaskans would not oppose the Seattle

line if they could have direct mid-west connections.

"The Anchorage Chamber of Commerce organ-

ized the trip. Gruening said each person in the

party paid his own way."

Here is the story that appeared in the Daily

Alaska Empire:

"Washington, June 26.—Secretary of the In-

tei'ior J. A. Krug sa3^s he plans to visit Alaska,

pro]:)abh^ in August, but declined comment on criti-
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cisni of tlu' Alaskini (iowMimr's trip lici-c witli a

(Iclcuntion sookin,[>- air s('i-\ icr to tlic Torritoi'v.

"Kru.i;" was asked at a ])Tess coTifei'eiiee for com-

ment on the statement by Senatoi' Mitchell (D-

W'asli.) that he wonld ask for an investiiiation of

the Alaska Governor's partici])ation in the tiij^ht

from Anchorage here by an Alaskan crroup seeking

a direct mid-west Alaska air ronte.
* 'Members of the c^roup said they opposed a

dii-ect [31] line from Seattle to the Orient. The

xVlaska Governor said yesterday the Alaskans wonld

not op])ose the Seattle line if they could have direct

mid-west connections.

"The Anchorage Chamber of Commerce orgaii-

ized the trip. Alaska's Governor said each person

in the party paid his own way."

Q. (By Mr. Kay) : Who was Alaska's Gov-

ernor at tliat time, Governor Giiiening?

A. Well, I think you know the answer.

Q. Now, do you have—I will call your attention

to perhaps another example. Governor Gruening,

with reference to the status of Indian reservations

in the Territory of Alaska. Could you tell us about

^hac, sir?

A. Well, that was an example of where my
views, publicly expressed, happened to coincide with

those of the Empire, but not only did the Empire

give me no credit for that but they attacked me
editorially for taking a position which they had

taken themselves, and the circumstances were these.

Secretary Ickes and some of his subordinates
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concewed the idea of extending Indian reservations

all over Southeastern Alaska and carving out large

sections of land and withdrawing them from use

and making them Indian reservations, and, as far

as I could detect, very few people in Alaska shared

that view, either Indians or [32] whites, but they

insisted on doing it, and these claims were pressed

by certain Indian lawyers, and the Empire had an

editorial criticizing these Indian lawyers for their

tactics.

In 1952 the United States Senate had an investi-

gation of this matter, and the investigating commit-

tee summoned me to appear before it, and I testified

as to my views on this matter, and then the editorial

in the Empire criticized me for this testimony that

I had given and for partaking in this, although, in

the first place, I was called to testify, and, in the

second place, the views I had expressed were exactly

the same as the ^dews the Empire had expressed.

Q. Now, I will hand you—let's see if you can

put this in chronological order for me. This will

be offered as one exhibit, incidentally, relating to

this one point. There appear to be four items.

A. Well, here is first of all an editorial entitled

^'Indian Reservations," which gives the general

attitude of the Empire that the setting aside of

reservations and making Indians live on them was

contrary to good policy and contrary to the wishes

of the people of Alaska.

Q. AVhere is the date of that? Is that dated

December 29, 1949; is it, sir?

I
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A. Yes. And liei-c is another one—the date is

not <;iven—on [15:]] tlie same suhjeet—I think the

(late conld b(^ identified—entitled "Another '(}ra}),'
"

and even i-eprintin.n- along- the same lines an edi-

torial i'rom the Ketehikan Fisbiiig News entitled

-The'Ickes' Blight."

And then here is a third editoi'ial, I'loni the Em-
pire of Deeemher 5, 1947, entitled "They Asked for

It," in which shar]) criticism is voiced of Indian

lawyers. Starting, the editorial says: "The In-

dians of Southeast Alaska and elsewhere, who have

blindly followed the advice of their glib attorneys

from back East" and so forth.

Then, shortly after I testified in Washington

])efore a Congressional committee to which I was

called, a Senatorial committee, came the editorial

entitled "Indians vs. Bureaucrats," in which it

says, "More recently, Governor Gruening joined the

pack snapping at the attorney's heels." I don't

know whether the Empire considers themselves part

of the back or not, but they had taken advantage

of the same position. And then it ended up by say-

ing, after a number of uncomplimentary references,

''Gruening makes great pretense of friendship for

Alaska natives and clouds the air with promises of

all the fine things he is going to do for them. One
very fiiie thing he coidd do is to respect their status

as citizens and put an end to his usual buttinski [34]

tactics."

Mr. Kay: I will offer these groups relating to
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the matter of Indian attorneys and comment on

them as one exhibit, if I may.

Mr. Faulkner: That ayIII be 4?

Mr. Kay : That will be Exhibit No. 4, containing

four items, four separate editorials in the Daily

Alaska Empire.

The Court : It may be admitted.

Clerk of Court: That will be so marked—Ex-

hibit 4.

Q. (By Mr. Kay) : Now, calling your attention

to perhaps one other item that you may wish to dis-

cuss briefly, was there, back in 1944 was there, an

affidavit of some kind published relative to certain

accusations against you, published in the Daily

Alaska Empire for April 12, 1944? A. Yes.

Q. I will hand you these papers and ask you to

identify them for me and place them in their proper

order, if you will, and discuss the incident.

A. Well, a man, who had come to my office on

several occasions because he had been squeezed out

of a homestead when the outlines of Glacier Bay
were enlarged and in want of help, came into my
office and asked me a immber of questions a])out

the coming election, and the man had come up sev-

eral times, and we had done everything we [35]

could for liim. Tlien there appeared in the Enipire

im affidavit with this note: ''(Editor's Note: This

morning we were approached hj a Juneau man and

fisherman with a story which was so shocking to us

in its implications and content that we could hardly

believe it. For this reason, we asked the person, who
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i-equested we witliold his imnic at tliis time, to make

a sworn statement, which he did. Tlie statc^ment was

si.u,'ned and duly notarized and sworn to. We will liave

editorial eomment on it tomorrow."

ft tells that 1 had called this man to my ol'fiee ;;nd

had tried to tell him how he should vote at the next

election. The story was false li-om l)e!;imiin,t>: to end.

The man was on a boat. He had no telephone. I had

no way of callini!,- him oi- would never liave called

him. And he was a criminal. ?Ie was a Tiian who had

served three to fourteen years for forgery in

the State Penitentiary at Boise, Idaho. He had

served six months in the Federal Jail in Juneau for

violation of the Bone Dry Law. He was planted on

me for the deliberate purpose of securing this affi-

davit, which appeared the next day, without any at-

tem])t being given to me to check whether this story

was ti'ue.

N"o responsible paper would print a thing of this

kind without at least going to the other party and

saying: "Did this happen? What is your side of the

story?" [36] Thej^ printed this wholly false affidavit

and, wdiile I immediately wrote a communication to

the Empire saying it was false and at the same time

there was a commmiication from four of the United

TroUers repudiating this man, The Empire pro-

ceeded to comment adversely editorially on the same

day.

The result of this was that I was questioned

shar]:>ly by the Secretar}^ of the Interior as to

whether I had been guilty of the practices \vhich the



174 Empire Printing Co. vs.

(Testimony of Ernest Gniening.)

Empire affidavit alleged I had. Of course I hadn't.

I had a witness in my office—my secretary.

Q. This exhibit contains the so-called affidavit

and the Editor's Note—"Fisherman Reveals How
Federal Officials Try to Control Election"

A. Yes, sir.

Q. the communication from you and the

communication from the four fishermen that you

mentioned with regard to the gentleman in ques-

tion

A. And the criminal record of the man.

Q. And you say that the Empire at about the

same time commented favorably, or continued to

comment ? A. Yes, it did ; on that same day.

Q. And then there is also here a letter from Sec-

retary Ickes demanding an explanation.

A. Which is an evidence of how a publication of

this kind [37] destroyed a confidence of your own

superiors. Of course I was able to explain the story

satisfactorily because I had witnesses.

Mr. Kay: This is a sworn affidavit (handing pro-

posed exhibit to defendant's counsel). I offer this in

evidence without objection. It is Plaintiffs' Exhibit
,

—what—is it 5"?

Clerk of Court: Plaintiffs' Exhibit Mo. 5.

The Court: It may be admitted.

Mr. Kay: Mr. Faulkner has kindly offered to

stipulate with me that all these exliibits can be used

in argument by either side without the necessity of

reading them to the jury at this time.

The Court: Very well.
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Mr. Kay: It will save us tlu^ trnnlilc of doing-

lliat.

Q. (By Mr. Kay) : Now, Governor, 1 have here

a group of editorials wliicli T am going to otTer to

you and then offer as one exhihit: an editorial, Fi'i-

day. May 25, 1951, entitled '^Governors' Trif)"; edi-

torial, September 7, 1951, entitled "Trouble in

Paradise"; Se})tember 13, 1951, entitled "Another

Stab in the Back"; April 14, 1952, entitled "The J-J

Clambake"; April 15, 1952, entitled *'R. E. (Any-

thing for a Laugh) Sheldon." May I ask, sir, if

these are all editorials clipped from the Alaska

Daily Empire of the issues, days, on which they are

dated? [38] A. Yes, they are.

Q. And do they relate, all of them, to this cam-

l^aigii, concerning which you have testified, on the

part of the Empire ?

A. They do. They are evidences of continual

malice and animosity and hatred.

Q. In your opinion?

A. In my opinion
;
yes.

Mr. Kay: I will offer these in evidence as one

exhibit (handing proposed exhibit to defendant's

counsel.) Without objection, I will offer them in evi-

dence, sir.

The Court: They may be admitted. The editor-

ials will be admitted as one exhibit.

The Clerk: They are marked Plaintiffs' Exhibit

No. 6.

Mr. Kay: I am going to refer briefly to some

portions of these editorials. For example, on Fri-
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day, Ma}^ 25, 1951, this editorial entitled "Gover-

nors' Trip," the editorial is discussing the visit of

Governor Earl Warren of California to the Terri-

tory of Alaska, discussing the visit of the Governor

accompanied by Governor Gruening to Fairbanks.

The editorial concludes :

'

' The Governor of Califor-

nia then unknowingly stepped into the trap and in

an anti-statehood Fairbanks where he was guest of

its University he delivered a speech on statehood

that was plainly from the notebook of the state-

hood [39] committee.

"'What was to have been a delightful social affair

turned out an embarrassing political rally for state-

hood and the Governor's fair-haired favorites.

"It was an imposition on the good nature of a

greater leader when he was used for such a lowly

and purely selfish purpose.

"The rest of Alaska must surely be bowing low in

humble apology today for the untoward action of

its governor."

In an editorial, Tuesday, April 15, 1952, entitled

"R. E. (Anything for a Laugh) Sheldon," appears

this paragraph, which is the fourth paragraph of

the editorial: "If Sheldon gave this inconsistency

any thought, which he apparently did not, he must

have smiled, too. Because the yery reason Sheldon

is running for Auditor is to help Gruening keep his

gang together in spite of decent Democrats."

In the editorial, entitled "The J-J Clambake,"

for April 14, 1952, the fifth paragraph on the right-

hand column of the editorial reads as follows: "Al-
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tli()U,i;Ii file meeting- was held ostensibly to peimit

candidates for office to he heard (and several were

heard) the end resnlt was a mass declaration of

fealty to the Grnening' reu,ime. One (Jruenin.i;- ci-ea-

ture, Bobbie Sheldon, ci-iticized his opj)onent for

the office of auditor, saying that Auditor Moore had

'let the party down.'"

And then going down to the next i)aragraph:

"After the candidates had been heard, the assem-

blage was treated to [40] a ten-minute talk by Gov-

(H'nor Gruening. His Excellency, as he was affec-

tionately addressed, brayed ha]^])ily abont the

successes enjoyed by the Truman administration and

his own and went on to take a few pot shots at a

group of Juneau citizens whose views are apparently

at variance with his ow^n."

The editorial concludes: "Certainly, socialism for

Americans was not the aim of either Jefferson or

Jackson. Neither, Vv'e think, was Trumanism or

Grueningism.

"

And an editorial for September 13, 1951, in the

Empire, "Another Stab in the Back." It is discuss-

ing the removal of the Secretary of Alaska, Lew
AVilliams. The opening paragraph reads as follows:

"The removal of Secretary of Alaska Llewellyn M.

Williams is the latest in the long series of Gruening

purges, although the governor insists, with wide-

eyed innocence, that he 'had nothing to do' with Wil-

liams' dismissal. Ananias was a piker.

"We find ourselves unable to swallow that denial.

It is uuthinlvable that anv o'cvori^^or's secoiKl-in-com-
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maud would be dismissed except on that ----- .

recommendation- Certainly no such removal could

occur without his knowledge and consent"

The editorial ends: "We wonder how much longer

the Department of the Interior will continue t*-

humiliate the people of Alaska by subjecting then

to the one man rule of 'Alaska's Little Cae-

sar.* "" [il]

Q. B" Mr. Kay) : Governor, do you happen to

know who Ananias was ?

A. WeU, he was a famous character in Greek

mythology who was noted as an invariable liar. The

word "Ananias" is equivalent for liar.

Q. So to say that Ananias was a piker, with ref-

ei*ence to you, is to say that

A. That is right.

Q. that you exceeded Ananias in your ability

to lief A. That is right.

Q. Is there any other implication possible to be

drawn from that ? A. Xo.

Mr. Kay: The editorial of Friday, September 7.

19^'l. :: ': ^'"rire—^we have another editorial, en-

tiil 7 u .^c 111 Paradise," and it is a complete

di<' -is-i-i- of. or completely devoted to Governor

Gruening's address before the Alaska Science Con-

ference at McKinley Paifc The editorial says: '*The

governor, according to the Associated Press, ex-

pressed himself as being of the belief that the In-

terior Department is retarding the growth and pro«^

perity of the Territory," says the Empire. "Xow,

far be it from us to dispute such an obvious truth, al-
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"Or. can it be that ex-Republiean Gruening

]?- [43] repented his ways and contemplates a re-

tmn to the GOP fold?

"We don't profess to know the answers. But w.

certainly are curious."

The Court: I think possibly it should be mad
clear to the juiy that these editorials are not intr-

duced in evidence for the purpose of indicatiiiu

whether or not any damage should be based ujwn th

editorial complained of, of September. 1952: that i-.

there is no claim before this Court or jury with

regard to these editoriaLs : but only to show the ques-

tion of what we call malice, to show the intent and

purpose with which the publication complained of

was issued ; and there is no possible damage could be

predicated upon these editorials.

Mr. Kay: I am glad that your Honor brought i

that out. It is not the purpose of course. The entiie

basis of the lawsuit and the damages that we claim
j

are entirely related to the issue of Septeml>er 25.

1952. These are merely, as his Honor has pointed

out. as evidence of what the Governor has character-

ized as a campaign over a long period of years

against him by the Empire, of which this was merely

the last straw.

Q. By Mr. Kay '
: Xow, Governor, something

that I probably should have done earlier in the testi-

mony and just overlooked- 1 will show you a copy of

the Alaska Daily Empire for October 8. 1952. and

ask you if that is. from your experience and as a

reader of the Empire over a [44] long perir-l

J
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time, perhaps typical of their usual front pjisre lay-

out?

Mr. Faulkner: If the Courr jUease, I will object

ii» i.nythins: that mvurrvnl after Siptembt^r 2r>th, that

^^ ris the biisis of the chann^s hen\

Mr. Kay: Weil, your Honor, I :un only i^iTerinsr

this—one of the ivffirmative ilefensi^s, as I uiuler-

stand the law which Mr. Faulkner has offenni. is

fair iH^nuueut, or. as it is sometimes put, a i|ualitiiHl

privile<rt\ and in that res|^>ect I think it would Iv

relevant. Certainly, that privilesn^ would Ih» de-

stroyeil jierhaps—it is my contention that it would

be—if there is an overemphasis, an overplay, in the

news story, sroiiiir Ivyond fair eonuncnt and fair

criticism, and I have lunple authority in that ivj^inl.

I have miuiy other t*t^pies of the Daily Alaska Km-

pii*e here. I didn't pick this one out for any other

purpose, nothinir whatever except to show contrast

d layout between a noi*mal day's publication of the

Alaska Daily Einpii*e in the opinion of this witness

which of eour^t^

riio Court: I undei*st<.xHl from the objection of

Mr. Faulkner that what was offertni hei'e was some-

thiuir which occurred substH|uont to September, 19o2.

Mr. Kay: Just a few days.

The Court: And his objection was that that

would not be relevtmt,

Mr. Kay : It was only a few days later. [4'^]

Mr. Faulkner : I would like to see it.

The Court : For the puriH>se offertnl, meivly for

the pur|K>se of comparison, I see no objectior..
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Mr. Faulkner: I wonder if I could see it.

Mr. Kay: Certainly. I picked it because there

didn't appear to be anything controversial about

this case or anything else, counsel.

JMi\ Faulkner: Is there any particular thing iu

there ?

Mr. Kay : Not a thing, as far as I can see.

Mr. Faulkner: No objection.

Mr. Kay: Only for comparative purposes, I

offer that.

The Court: It may be admitted for the purpose

offered.

Clerk of Court : This will be Exhibit No. 7.

Mr. Kay : Just offered, ladies and gentlemen, for

the purpose that I have explained to the Court,

which I know most of you heard, just to compare

what the Grovernor, at least in his opinion, has testi-

fied is a typical copy or front page of the Alaska

Daily Empire with the page of which we compare

—

I mean, of which we complain—and both of them of

course will be before you. The most important news

on this page appears to have been that Juneau held

a municipal election and named three council-

men [46]

Mr. Faulkner : That is for the pui*pose of show-

ing what he thinks it should be.

Mr. Kay: Just for the purpose of showing com-

parison.

Mr. Faulkner: Yes.

Mr. Kay: In other words, it relates entirely to

tlie opiuion of the Governor between those two
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papers. I could compare tlie day that tlie Yankees

won the World Series, tlie following- day, l)n1 it does

contain an edit(^rial relative to this matter, and so I

<lid not do so.

The Conrt: Then, yon are not olTerin<x, <'ouiis«'l,

as yon suggested in your openint:^ statement, any

l»ul)lications to show this malice aftei- the date of the

publication complained of? Yon did s;iy in your

opening statement you intended to offer that.

Mr. Kay : You are correct, your Honor.

The Court: My question is of tlie time. Von are

not making such oifta*?

Mr. Kay: We believe that there are two items

which are certainly relevant. It was not my inten-

tion, frankly, to offer those two items at this time as

part of our case, and I will be frank about it, but to

offer them ])erhaps as a matter of—they are ])rop-

erly part of the defendant's case, may I say, and I

believe that they will end u]) perfectly properly be-

fore the jury, but it was not my intention to of-

fer [47] them as part of the plaintiffs' case.

The Court : Very well.

(Whereupon, Court recessed for five minutes,

reconvening as per recess, with all parties pres-

ent as heretofore and the jury all present m the

box; the mtness Ernest Gruening resumed the

witness stand, and the Direct Examination by

Mr. Kay was continued as follows:)

Q. Governor, I will show you an item which is

labeled ''An Open Letter to the Editor," dated No-



184 Empire Printing Co. vs.

(Testimony of Ernest Gruening.)

vember 7, 1952, and ask if you received this copy of

that letter and whether or not it was later, cr at

about that time, printed in the Alaska Juneau—

I

me?Ji, the Alaska Daily Empire.

A. Well, I think it was published. I am not posi-

tive.

Q. You did receive that copy? A. Yes.

Q. You did receive that copy from the author of

it ; am I correct '? A. Yes.

Q. And, as far as you know and believe, it was

printed by the Alaska Daily Empire ?

A. Well, I am not positive, but that surely could

be ascertained. I imagine it was printed.

Mr. Faulkner : You are offering this in evidence ?

Mr. Kay : Yes.

Mr. Faulkner; We object to this in evidence.

It [48] is a letter written by some man to the Em-
pire—it is purely hearsay ; it has nothing to do with

the case—expressing his views on three or four dif-

ferent things, and it is purely hearsay and objection-

alile for that reason.

Mr. Kay : I thought it might be admissible

Mr. Faulkner : It is immaterial and incompetent

evidence.

Mr. Kay: I thought it might be admissible, your

Honor, on two points. First, it was printed in tlie

Empire, and it is offered in regard to Paragraph 2

of the letter to show—and I will shovr it to t]ie Court

—to show that certain of tho public, tbo effect unon

certain of the public of the front nage of which v;e

complain.
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Tlie Coi'i't: Sucli a K'ttcr iiiust rijiix-ai- malcrial

even tlion^lit it was publishccl or otiierwisc.

xMr. Kay: We have Ix'tMi inforincd tlial it was

])u]>lislied. We have searched our i)a})('is and can't

tind the copy in which it was published.

The Court: It has not been definitely establislu'd

ihat it was published. If it is the pui'i)ose to sliow

the effect of the articles complained of ujjon tlic pub-

lic, that should be material here,

Mr. Faulkner: The letter actually is rel'erring to

the whole ])olicy of the paper, written by a third

person who has nothing to do wdth the case at all.

Whether it was [49] published or not, I don't know.

Mr. Kay: K person

The Court: Just a moment while we examine

this.

Mr. Ivay: Yes, your Honor.

Mr. Faulkner: We could have a dozen letters

like that talking the other way. To introduce them it

^\•ouid prolong this case all winter.

The Court: The element of damage, as brought

in issue here, the element of damage would include

the reaction of the public to the editorial and arti-

vi 't. complained of. The letter being offered for that

purpose, to show^ the reaction of this individual to

tlie articles, appears material.

Mr. Faulkner : I don 't think it does, your Honor,

s]^!^v anv particular reference to these articles. I

I'ead it hastily. I don't see vrhere it does.

Z^[r. Kay: ParagTai:)h 2.
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The Court : Their editorials generally.

Mr. Kay : Paragraph 2.

Mr. Faulkner: We could introduce a dozen

others the other way.

The Court : Well, that still would be j^ermissible.

It is relevant evidence. For the purpose offered, the

letter may be admitted in evidence.

The Clerk: That will be Exhibit No. 8.

Mr. Kay: The letter is as follows: "Juneau [50]

Methodist Church. Fred McGinnis, Minister. Ju-

neau, Alaska, November 7, 1952, Open Letter to

Editor of Empire. Editor, Daily Alaska Empire,

Juneau, Alaska. Dear Sir : In order to be candid and

honest in reacting to your paper's policies with

regard to your editorials and other articles, I would

like to express to you the following:

"1. Your editorials generally are the poorest and

worst written of any this citizen has ever seen in any

newsi^aper anywhere, barring none.

"2. Your editorials seem to be dedicated to caus-

ing the public to 'feel the worse' toward our Gover-

nor and a few other men. It seemed to me that you

tried to cause the public to think of the Governor as

a dishonest, mis-appropriating, unworthy man. You
succeeded as far as I was concerned until other in-

formation threw different light on certain policies."

"6. Your editorial of November 6th,, in which

you by implication invite the Governor to leave the

Territory, was to my mind the lowest, cheapest and

most unworthy type of editorial"

The Court: That portion is objectionable. We
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luicl referenct' only to your Paiagra})!! 2 in which the

writci' states that he was convinced tliat the Gov-

ernor was dishonest hy these editorials.

Mr. Kay: 1 agree with the Court. [51]

The Court: The halance of it shoukl be disre-

garded by the jury.

Mr. Kay : I would be perfectly willing to have the

halance of the letter either eliminated or the second

paragraph clii)ped out.

The Court: That would be satisfactory.

Mr. Faulkner: May I see it again?

Mr. Kay: Yes, sir. We can clip out the second

paragraph as far as I am concerned. The rest of it

is irrelevant.

The Court : The rest of it is hearsay.

Mr. Faulkner: I think the letter or any portion

of it is inadmissible. Mrs. Monsen tells me it was

])ublished in the Empire, together with a letter criti-

cizing it, which they published ; in a day or two there

was another letter, criticizing this one very severely,

published in the Empire. But we couldn't bring the

Empire files down here. They weigh tons. You can

see how helpless we will be if such things as that are

xlmitted into evidence here.

The Court: Counsel, I don't know that we have

made our point clear. If the editorial was published,

as you concede, the letter was published, it does not

help the situation. Here is a letter from a minister

who states that he was convinced by these editorials

that the Governor was dishonest. [52]

Mr. Faulkner: No, I don't think he said that.
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The Court: That is what he says in the letter.

And for that purpose that portion of the letter

is admitted in evidence. The balance of it may be

cut out as counsel has suggested.

Mr. Kay: I will clip out Paragi'aph 2 and paste

it in the middle of a sheet of paiDer.

The Court: Yes; together with the letterhead.

^Ir. Kay : May I merely read the signature ?

The Court: Yes; and the signature.

Mr. Faulkner: I ask the Court to renew our

objection to the admission of the portion of the

letter.

The Court : The objection is overruled.

Mr. Kay: The signature is that of Fred Mc-

Ginnis.

Q. (By Mr. Kay) : Do you know who Fred

McGinnis was, Governor?

A. Fred McGinnis was for several years, three

or four years, the pastor of the Methodist Church

in Juneau, and then he was moved to be the pastor

of the Methodist Church in Anchorage, where he is

now.

The Clerk: Just Paragraph 2, counsel?

Mr. Kay: Yes; just clip out ParagTaph 2, and

the signature maybe.

Q. (By Mr. Kay) : Oh, one thing, Governor.
|

In coimection with our second exhibit, this gi'oup

of papers which [53] shows the elimination of your

name, what was the purpose of calling those to my
attention, sir, or my calling them to your atten-

tion?
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A. Well, T think it is just one piece of evidence

of this Vm^ hostility. [ (l<tii't know tliat those par-

ticulai" (UOotioiLs hnrt nie any, tlic way the other

things did, l)nt the ])aper certainly mnst have .i;one

to a lot of trouble every time a story came in in-

volving the Governor to i;o thronp:h it with a l)]ne

pencil and take out his name, and, certainly, in-

structions to that effect would indicate that the

papei* had a very definite bias agaiiLst me. 1 have

never heard of that performance in any other ])a])er.

It was pai-t of the news to leave my name in when

1 was associated with some public act that was

worth repoHing.

Mr. Kay: I believe that is all. Your witness,

Mr. Faulkner.

Cross-Examination

By Mr. Faulkner:

Q. Governor, you didn't suffer any harm having

your name left out?

A. As I say, I don't think those particular

omissions did me any haiTn.

Q. Now, do you know Mr. Carter, who was at

one time editor [54] of the paper while Mrs. Monsen
was sick in the hospital in Seattle?

A. Oh, yes.

Q. And you had some trouble with Mr. Carter?

A. No.

Q. Did you have some controversy with him,

armmients with him?
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A. Oil, I giiess so ; I mean, no particular trouble.

Q. Do you recall whether you even asked Mr.

Carter at one time to leave your name out of the

paper ?

A. No; no. What you have—^what I think you

have in mind is that, when we gave out releases, I

asked him to print them as written and not to cut

them and change their meaning and that I would

prefer to have releases from the Governor's Office

printed as given or not at all.

Q. And the reason—he had cut something that

you had given him?

A. Yes. He had cut something to change its

emphasis.

Q. Well, Governor, do you recall whether Mr.

Carter didn't complain to you that these items that

you were gi^^ng him to publish were given him, gen-

erally, too late to get in the paper and were given to

the radio, so they had it tirst in the evening, and lie

wouldn't get them until they were secondhand the

next day, and that, in order to publish this particular

one and get it in the [55] paper in time, he had to

cut it : do you remember that ?

A. I remember it very well, Mr. Faulkner. The

cutting consisted of two sentences and, therefore,

could not have possibly delayed the publication. It

was a release of considerable length, and cutting out

two sentences, which were important sentences, and

leaving them in would not have made any difference

in time at all.

Q. Do you remember what they were ?
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A. Yes. They had to do with the dosing of the

Ahxska Juneau Mine, and the sentences, whieli were

cut out, were to tlie effect that th(» mine had dis-

cliarged these men in great haste and that it was

\evy unfair to the men not to give them more warn-

ing, and the Empire, evidently, considered that was

a criticism of the mine management and wanted to

deU'te them for that reason. 1 tliought it was part

of my statement. It was a statement signed not

only hy me but by three other officials, and we took

the responsibility for it, and there was no reason

why he should take it upon himself to edit our ideas

out.

Q. AVas that the only occasion when he had to

cut things that w^ere given to him late ; do you know ?

A. Well, otfhand, I don't recall any others, but

there may have been some. If you can bring any to

my mind, I may be able to I'eeall them.

Q. Well, maybe later on. Do you know, about

this letter of [56] Mr. McGinnis', don't you know

that, as a matter of fact, that letter was written by

your secretary? A. What?

Q. The letter that you Just read from Mr. Mc-

Ginnis, wasn't that signed by your secretary, Mrs.

Alexander—written by your secretary, Mrs, Alex-

ander, and signed by Mr. McGimiis?

A. That would be very startling news to me. I

don't believe it for a moment.

Q. You don't know thaf?

A. I think that the minister of the Methodist

Church, Mr. McGinnis, was perfectly capable of

writing his ovni letters.



192 Empire Printing Co. vs.

(Testimony of Ernest Gruening.)

Q. Yes; but I am asking about this particular

one. You don't laiow?

A. I do not know that anybody but Mr. Mc-

Ginnis wrote it.

Q. Well, you don't know whether Mrs. Alexander

wrote it or not ? A. Of course not.

Q. No. Now, let's A. Did she?

Q. Well, I am not on the stand. We will come to

that later on. Now, Governor, you complain of the

policy of the Empire.

Mr. Faulkner: I wonder if the Court will bear

with me a minute while I [57]

Q. (By Mr. Faulkner) : Governor, while it is

on my mind, while I am finding this, you referred to

a hearing up there on the public lands before a Con-

gressional committee where you had appeared first

and made a very excellent statement and I ap-

peared afterward and I couldn't say much except to

second what you had said and to try to emphasize to

the committee that that was correct, and you say—

I

didn't laiow this—but you say the Empire published

what I said and not what you said ?

A. That is right.

Q. Well, could it be that the reporter didn't get

up there in time to hear you?

A. Tliat is entirely possible, but that would

present no difficulty to a good reporter. He could

have asked me what I said. He could have found

it out from the record. A written transcript was

being made, and he could easily have verified that.

That is just common newspaper practice.
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Q. He could liavc asked inc, and I ccrl.-iiiily

would have told him, because, do you remember, the

next day at the Chaml)er of Commerce we made a

I'oport on this meeting and I reported there on it

and gave you the credit and said that what you had

said covered the whole ground very ])lainly, and the

F^mpire did publish that?

.A.. Well, you were particularly generous in your

testimony [58] about m}^ testimony, and that seems

to me makes the Empire's omission all the more

striking.

Q. Well, on that occasion. But the next day, or

maybe two days later, when the Chamber met and we
i-eported it there, the Empire did then refer to my
comment on your statement.

A. AYell, that was ver\^ kind of you.

Q. Now, Governor, you have laid some stress on

the fact that the Empire was hostile to you and

critical and carried on a campaign against yon and

your associates. Now, when you came to the Ter-

ritory as Governor, I will ask if—first—just strike

that please. I will ask if it isn't a fact that Mrs. Mon-

sen after her father died became the managing editor

and publisher of the Empire, and, as you know, she

and her sister own it. Now, when you were appointed

Governor, did she send you any telegTams to Seattle

when you were on your way to Alaska ?

A. I think she did.

Q. These are preliminary. Governor. Did she

send a telegram and order some roses placed in your

room for Mrs. Gruening ? Do you remember that ?
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A. Well, I don't recall it, but she may have.

Q. And then did she—perhaps you will remem-

ber this—did she send you a telegram and say she

would like to arrange to have a tea for you the day

you arrived, if you recall? [59]

A. Well, I think I can answer what you are try-

ing to get at by saying that Mrs. Monsen was very

hospitable to us when we arrived.

Q. And, when you arrived to take the Office of

Governor, did the Empire publish—December 5,

1939, it seems to be—this editorial which I will hand

you? A. Yes, Mr. Faulkner, it did.

Q. And there was no complaint about that?

A. None.

Mr. Faulkner: I would like to offer this in evi-

dence in connection with the cross-examination of

the Governor, an editorial, obviously.

Mr. Kay: No objection.

Mr. Faulkner : Could I have it marked as a De-

fendant 's Exhibit ?

The Clerk : This will be Defendant's Exhibit A.

The Court: The exhibit may be admitted.

Mr. Faulkner: This is not too long, and I would

like to read it to the jury now. It is entitled "Our
New Governor."

"Jmieau extends a whole-hearted welcome today

to Alaska's new Governor, Ernest Gruening, who,

about the time today's Empire is thumping against

the front doors of the town, is taking his oath of

office to succeed John W. Troy.

"Dr. Gruening comes from a position in Wash-
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inj^on [60] of broacU'i- interest and joohaMy wider

day-by-day active authority than the oOice he will

fill here. His able administration as Director of the

Division of Territories and Island Possessions is

recognized and appreciated by Alaskans.

"He comes to an Alaska ])rosperinj'- in its present

and, more important, rii)e for fui'ther developinent

in the immediate future. That Governor Grueninp^

can help Alaska aloni;' its path of destiny to eventual

statehood none of us doubt.

"The Territory's one element of disappointment

as it looks on its new Governor is that a resident

Alaskan was not chosen for the office, and this is no

reflection on Governor Gruening. As has lieen said

often since his appointment was first announced.

Dr. Gruening- is Alaska's first choice for Governor

if a non-resident it must be. In fact, he becomes an

Alaskan today and as such we will look on him

henceforward. He has a close acquaintance with the

Tei'ritory through his work in the position he has

just resigned. Delegate Dimond pays Dr. Gruening

the high tribute of gi\ing him credit for doing more

for Alaska than any other man in Washington

offi(daldom. In his several visits to the Territory,

Dr. Gruening has traveled over more of Alaska and

seen more of life in the north than have many
Alaskans.

"Greetings, Governor Gruening, we are all for

you. May you be with us many a day ! [61]

"Retiring Governor Troy needs no reaffirmation
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of the very high esteem in which all Alaskans hold

him."

Well, that has nothing to do with it.

Q. (By Mr. Faullaier) : Now, Governor, when

you came here your relations were friendly with

the Empire? A. Yes, they were.

Q. And how long did they continue friendly ; do

you remember ?

A. Well, I think more or less for several years.

I wouldn't know the exact date at which they started

to be less friendly, but I think after a year or two.

Q. And do you know why? ^Hiat occurred?

A. Well, I have some ideas on the subject.

Q. Well, wasn't it a matter of disagreement with

some of your policies or things you advocated;

wasn't the criticism largely based on that?

A. I don't think so.

Q. Well, isn't that a usual thing, for a newspaper

to criticize public officials if they don't agree with

their public acts ?

A. It is perfectly correct and proper to criticizo

them within certain bounds of decorum and decency.

Q. And they differed—the publisher and editor

differed with you in many respects in public mat-

ters; isn't that so?

A. Well, they expressed that difference; [62]

yes.

Q. Now, you were telling here early this after-

noon about the effect of these publications upon you

and in the Territory. Now, I will ask you if it isn't

a fact that vou continued on as Governor even
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tlioii,G:h there was a change in the national adminis-

tration; you continued on as Governor until the (»nd

of your tei-m?

A. V/oll, tliere was no change oJ' achniuistration

during my first term or second term.

Q. No. I mean, your last term ? A. Yes.

Q. That was for the year in which the editorial,

the publications, were made; that was '52, wasn't it?

A. Yes.

Q, There was a change of national administra-

tion then?

A. Well, I merely completed my term.

Q. Yes
;
you finished out your term ?

A. Yes.

Q. And there was no change made until then,

and you stayed on through a session of the Legis-

lature after the change of administration ?

A. That is correct.

Q. x4nd then, when you left the Territory, you

had some rather eulogistic editorials, published in

some other papers? A. Yes. [63]

Q. And one, especially, in the Anchorage Times

which referred to you as Alaska's gi'eatest Gover-

nor? A. That is correct.

Q. Do you remember that? A. Yes.

Q. So that there was no change in the sentiment

or feeling' among your friends because of what had

been published in the Empire in September, 1952?

A. Well, I think Alaska was di^aded.

Q. Well, it was divided before, wasn't it. Gover-

nor, somewhat?
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A. Well, I think the division became somewhat

sharper as a result of the Empire 's policies.

Q. Well, the Anchorage Times did in publish-

ing this very eulogistic editorial refer to you as

Alaska's gTeatest Governor?

A. That was very kind of them.

Q. It was, and perhaps proper, although it

might be some reflection on Governor Parks, Gov-

ernor Troy and some others. And then, Governor,

didn't a group of your friends raise money and

present you with a Chrysler automobile?

A. They did.

Q. Yes. So that they were still your friends,

those who presented the car. I will ask you if the

story of that [64] was not published in the Empire

just as it occurred? Do you remember that?

A. I see no reason to doubt that it was published.

Q. I will hand you this to remind you of it.

A. Yes; that is correct
—"Alaska Friends Pre-

sent Car to Ernest Gruening."

Q. Yes.

Mr. Faulkner: I will offer this.

Mr. Kay: No objection.

Q. (By Mr. Faulkner) : That was, I think.

Governor, in all the papers all over the Territory?

A. I think so; yes.

Mr. Faulkner: I will offer this then in connec-

tion with the cross-examination.

The Court: Defendant's Exhibit B.

The Clerk: Defendant's Exhibit B; yes.

Q. (By Mr. Faulkner) : Now, Governor, you
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went into some length as to the offense that yon felt

when these stories were ])nh]islie(l in the Empire in

September, 1952. Now, let's i;o back to the feri'v

fund. You said that the Board of Road rommission-

ers decided to handle the ferry funds in the way they

were handled by turning- the matter over to the

l)ui-ser of the ferry"? A. Yes.

Q. And you said that was done for the sake of

—

well, more [65] efficient or something to that effect *?

A. Well, it was to enable the men to be paid

when they finished their run and not have to wait for

several days, without which it would have been im-

possible to keep the crews. They just wouldn't have

worked.

Q. And there were many other things paid too,

weren't there?

A. Well, that I don't know. That was beyond

my
Q. You were chairman of the Road Commission?

A. Well, it was handed over to the Highway En-

gineer and to the purser, and I am not familiar

with the details of what took place.

Q. But the Board did that; I mean, the Board of

Highway Engineers authorized the purser

A. The Board of Road Commissioners.

Q. The Board of Road Commissioner's authorized

the purser, Mr. R. E Coughlin, to handle the funds

and to pay the bills. Now—and to do that he opened

a bank account—that would be a private bank ac-

count, wouldn't it?

A. Well, it would be a bank account of pubilc
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funds in which he had been delegated the power to

disburse. I wouldn't call it a private fund.

Q. Now, you said a little while ago that it wasn't

a private fimd; it was a public account. Wasn't it a

private account handling public fmids? Wouldn't

that be the way to state it? [,6Q^

A. Well, I think that is more or less quibbling

over words. It was not private, in that he did not

own that money; no private citizen owned it. It

v\^as a public fund, used for public purposes, in

which an official delegated by the Board had the

power to sign checks.

Q. And that was under the control of a man
who was not a Territorial official?

A. Well, he was a TeiTitorial employee in that

he was

Q. Did he have a bond to the Territory ?

A. That I do not know.

Q. Well, now, do you know—did you know that

in handling the funds that way a considerable por-

tion was lost and not accounted for, that there was

a shortage of funds?

A. No, I do not know that, and I doubt whether

the Empire knew it when it published that libelous

story.

Q. Of course that doesn't make any difference,

Governor. I am asking if you know it.

A. I do not know it; no.

Q. The truth is a defense wherever found and

whenever found. Now, do you know—you were in

office at the end of 1952, the calendar year 1952

—
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now, do you know anything about tlie audit of tlio

Territory's accounts ])y tlie Aitlnu' Anderso]i Com-

})any of Seattle?

A. Well, T know there was such an audit.

Q. You know there was such an audit? [G7]

A. Yes.

Q. Did you know that in iliat audit Arthur B.

Anderson & Company found that there was a short-

age in this ferry account? A. No.

Q. Did you know that they also found that the

account had been kept in such an irregular and il-

legal manner that there probably was a greater

shortage than they were able to discover?

A. I do not know those facts.

Q. Do you know that they reported tliat the

])urser claimed that there was a greater shortage,

as nearly as they could get the infonnation there

appeared to be a greater shortage than they actu-

ally found; do you know

A. I do not know those facts.

Q. You never read the Anderson report?

A. No.

Q. Do you know who Arthur Anderson & Com-

pany is? A. Yes.

Q. Now, did you know that the purser, who was

handling these funds, was issuing checks for cash

and taking cash out and paying bills and sometimes

issuing checks for people and then cashing them and

making certain deductions?

A. No, Mr. Faulkner; I knew nothing of the de-

tails of the [68] operation of the ferry after it had

been turned over to



202 Empire Printing Co. vs.

(Testimony of Ernest Gruening.)

Q. But you were present at that meeting of the

Board. June 5. 1952, when this was authorized to

be done? A. Yes.

Q. Xow. do you know—^you talked about Oscar

Olson and you said Oscar Olson was a thief—do you

know under what statute Oscar Olson was sen-

tenced f

A. Well. I am not a lawyer and I can't give you

the chapter and verse, but I know that he was sen-

tenced for embezzling many thousands of dollars of

Territoi*ial and Fedei*al funds.

Q. You didn't have in mind the particular stat-

ute it was filed imder : is that what you mean ?

A. Well. I don't think I would know it by num-

ber or

Q. You didn't read it?

A. Xo. He pleaded guilty, and there wasn't any

question about his guilt in the matter.

Q. Yes : that is true. Excuse me just a moment.

Xow, Governor, you had mentioned Mrs. Monsen's

hostility to you, and I asked you if that wasn't in

connection with your official acts as Governor, and

nothing personally, but purely relating to your offi-

cial acts. I will ask you if you had any controvei-sy

with anyone in the Empire about the Palmer Airport

Report by the United States Senate? [69]

A. Well, there was of cx)Tirse cx^nsiderable inter-

est on the part of the Empire reportei-s and staff

ab(3Ut that whole matter.

Q. And there was on the part of some other

newspapei"S too?
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A. Oh, yes. It was a matter of f^ciicral interest.

Q. And on the part of the United States Senate

vvJiieh investigated it? A. Yes.

Q. And tlie Empire took tlie stand that there

had been viokitions of the law there, didn't they?

A. They took that stand; yes.

Q. And you took the stand that it was shxnder to

say so ?

A. I took the stand that the transaction did not

justify those criticisms, and that was demonstrated

by the fact tliat the Comptroller General finally

paid the bill.

Q. And, now, at the time that the publications

occurred in Alaska about the Palmer Airport, the

Senate committee had made a report?

A. Yes.

Q. And in that repoi-t they found that there

were irregularities and they foimd that an attempt

had been made to get $145,000.00 unlawfully from

the United States?

A. No; I wouldn't agree that that was the ver-

dict.

Q. I mean, the report, the report of the Senate

conmiittee?

A. Well, the facts were, as I saw them and as

I still see [70] them, that this was the first of four

airports, one in each judicial division, which were

being constructed under the new Territorial Air-

port Act which had the use of Federal matching

funds. The Federal Government passed this act in

'46. The '47 Legislature had not taken advantage
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of it by passing an enabling act, and it was not

until '49 that such legislation was passed. It was

new legislation for us, and the Territorial Board of

Aeronautics was guided by the Federal officials, the

C.A.A. officials, who had the final responsibility,

and it was upon their ad\^ce that we took the acts

that we did, and, if there has been anything im-

proper or illegal or dishonest about it, they would

have been subject to prosecution, but, as a matter

of fact, they were not only not prosecuted but they

were promoted, and the net result was simply a

smear in the Territory that we had done something

that was highly improper.

Q. Well, at the time this publicity was given to

this, wasn't there a Senate ReiDort on it which in-

dicated that it was highly improper?

A. Well, the Senate Report was critical of some

of the methods that we used in order to speed oper-

ations, but that report rather petered out when the

Comptroller General reviewed the whole proceeding

and authorized the payment. [71]

Q. Well, when did he do that?

A. Subsequently.

Q. Do you remember when?

A. Oh, after the Senate Report had been issued

and a lot of pressure was put upon him not to

pay it.

Q. In making this report

The Court: Before pursuing that inquiry fur-

ther, counsel, aren't we going rather far afield, or
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do you consi(l(>r this ])ro})('r cross-examination for

this i)ur])ose?

Ml". Faulkner: Well, Your Honor, the Governor

talked a g'ood deal about the editorials and i)ul)li-

eaticnis in the })ai)er as constituting; malice or a

malicious attitude toward him, and T thought I was

entitled to cross-examine him to show just what he

considered malicious, and I was going to ask him

some questions about this Senate Report, which

of course was the basis of the publications in the

papers throughout the Territory on that particular

thing, and, then, I think T did ask the Governor

if he didn't refer to that as slanderous.

The Court: Very well. You are entitled of

course to rebut this matter of malice.

Mr. Nesbett: Of course. Your Honor, it is com-

mon knowledge that anything the Senate says can't

be slander.

The Court: Well, I do not wish to go into that.

That is what I am tiying to avoid, counsel, getting

into a collateral inquiry as to whether a Senate mat-

ter is slanderous. [72]

Mr. Faulkner: I am not saying it is slander.

The Court : I do not w^ant to get into that.

Mr. Faulkner: No.

The Court: That is why I asked counsel the

question.

Mr. Faulkner: It can't be slanderous.

The Court : We are not concerned with that. We
are concerned only with the relations between the

Governor and the Juneau Empire. But, if the cross-
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examination is for that purpose, it is permissible.

Mr. Faulkner: The cross-examination is for the

purpose of asking the Governor what he said it was,

not what the Senate said.

The Court: Yes; that is proper.

Q. (By Mr. Faulkner) : Now, Governor, in the

findings and conclusions of the Senate Report—

I

think you criticized the paper for publishing that,

didn't you? Didn't you say that—not referring to

the Empire but referring to the authors of this

Report—that it was slander ?

A. The authors of the report?

Q. Yes.

A. Well, I don't recall that. I know that I made

a contribution at the request of the committee giv-

ing my views, and it was omitted from the printed

report. They claimed that it had been lost in the

clerk's office down there in the Senate and they

printed it separately, but [73] of course it never

reached all the people that were reached by the orig-

inal report, and, if you have the complete docu-

ments, you must have my statement, which I would

be veiy glad to have introduced in the record. That

gives my views as I expressed them officially to the

United States Senate.

Q. Now, in this Report—first, I will ask you

if it was published in the report, if it was published

in the paper that you characterized this report as

slanderous; would you say that that is true or not

true? A. Well, which Report?
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Q. Well, i]w Kcpoit of tlic Senate Snbcomrnit-

tec on the Palmer Airjjoi-t.

A, No; T wonld not characterize tlie report

Q. Yon did not? A. No.

Q. Well, did you refer to anybody's remai'ks on

it as slander?

A. Well, I may have, because I think that some

of the editorial comment at the time was of that

nature. I think the comment in the Empire was of

that nature.

Q. T think you referred not to the Empire but

to some others who commented on this as slander-

ous. x\nd in the Report didn't the Senate commit-

tee not only c(^nsure the officials of the Alaska Aero-

nautics Board but also those of the Civil xVeronau-

ties Authority whom you mentioned as sanction-

ing [74] this .^ Weren't they condemned too?

A. Well, I think they were criticized.

Q. Yes.

A. But, nevertheless, they did not consider the

final judgment as the subsequent facts revealed.

Now, the fact of the matter was that the implica-

tions in the Empire and similar critical publica-

tions were very similar to those in this article which

forms the basis of the suit, the implication that

there had been personal dishonesty, that some Alas-

kan officials had profited. If we committed any of-

fense, it was that we were trying to get something

for the Territory and get it quickly and to achieve

something in return for the long delay that it pre-
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vented any airports from being bnilt. That was our

only offense. Nobody stood to profit by it.

Q. The Report was that you were trying to do

that at the expense of the Federal Government'?

A. Beg pardon?

Q. The Report of the committee is that you were

trying to do that at the expense of the Federal Gov-

ernment ?

A. Well, we did not consider it so. We thought it

proper to get just as much Federal money as we i

could for that purpose.

Q. Well, I will just ask you if this appears in

that Report, if you recall: ''In view of all avail-

able facts presented [75] to such committee, we con-

clude that Edward G. Fisher, Chris Lindsey, and

possibly other C.A.A. officials in the Alaska Re-

gional Office were aware of the devious methods

which were being employed by Territorial officials

in their efforts to obtain Federal matching funds

for the Palmer Airport. Furthermore, the C.A.A.

officials in Alaska failed in their duty to disclose

fully these facts to the C.A.A. officials in Wash-

ington who were handling the case." That was in

the Report, was it?

A. Yes. Well, what does that amount to ?

Q, What it amounts to is that

The Court: That is precisely what the Court

—

I understood, counsel, that your purpose in this

examination was to show some—to rebut any evi-

dence of bias between the Governor and the paper.
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Now, then, liow do you eontciid Hint wliat you liave

Ihto shown is matorial ?

Mr. Faulknor: Your TTouor, tlic (lovornor lias

b('en tryinp: liero to make out tliat tlie ])apei' was

angry at him and they luid a bitter Feeling and they

were malicious and that they published these things

because of that. Now, I want to sliow his feeling*

toward the paper based on things that they ])ub-

lished which were proper to ])ublish, and that this

report was one of the things he com})lained of, and,

as I asked the Governor, if he didn't say that these

reports were slanderous, and he said he probably

did; he doesn't know just who it was [76] aimed at.

I think that is jn-oper.

The Court: Strictly speaking, in cross-examina-

tion we are not confined to strictly relevant mat-

ters, and it may be proper cross-examination.

Q. (By Mr. Faulkner) : Now, Governor, have

you had some controversy with the Empire over

the Union Bank of Anchorage, didn't you, with

some of their publications?

A. Well, I really don't recall what you would

call a controversy. This was a matter that was han-

dled at various times by the Banking Board and

by the Legislature. I wouldn't say that I had any

controversy with the Empire over that. I think, if

you want an answ^er to your question as to why the

Empire seemed to turn on me, I can give it to you,

but it has nothing to do with the ]Kiblications.

Q. Well, I want to find out if you didn't object
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to these publications and why, and, perhaps, the

jury can form its own conclusions.

Mr. Nesbett : Your Honor, now we are going into

another subject that seems to me to be entirely and

completely collateral and irrelevant. How far are

we going on this? The question of what the Gover-

nor may have done or said in his official capacity

and in connection Avith the Union Bank has noth-

ing to do with this suit at all. I don't know how

Mr. Faulkner can possibly use it to rebut or offset

any of the [77] Governor's testimony with respect

to the bias of the Empire.

The Court: Well, I do not know either.

Mr. Faulkner : He said the policy of the Empire

was one of animosity toward him, and I want to

show if that didn't w^ork both ways and that there

were things that came up here of vital public inter-

est that the Empire published and published edi-

torials and comments on that were correct. The

Governor has come on the stand here this morning

and introduced a vast array of editorials and clip-

pings from the paper, to show that they had ani-

mosity toward him, and I want to show what was

the basis of their difference with him, to show it

was not animosity at all. I have got a right to do

that.

The Court : Counsel, yes. Can we not, however

—

can you not limit your inquiry, however, as to the

attitude between the Governor and the paper rather

than going into the merits of these collateral mat-

ters?
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Mr. Faulkner: I didn't do tlmt.

The Court: Well, we did on this i^almer deal.

Now, I would like to supr^est we avoid sueli on these

other deals. It is purely a waste of time.

Mr. Faulkner: T don't want to go too fai- into

this and I think 1 liave ali'cady huttoned uj) the

l*almer thini;-. I wanted to brinj^: out the question

of wlu^ther the Governor was not an^ry himself

at these j)ublieations which wer<' justitied by the

Senate Report. [78]

The Court: Well, your inquiry may be proper

alono' those lines; but, if you will kindly stay away

from going' into the issues, the collateral issues.

Mr. Faulkner: I haven't gone into anything in

connection with the Union Bank except to ask a

])reliminary question.

The Court: Very well.

Mr. Faulkner: And I want to follow it up with

one that is very pertinent.

Mr. Kay : Well, now. Your Honor, I take it that

Mr. Faulkner then is finished with the discussion

of the Palmer Airport, and I didn't hear one word

about the Juneau Empire being critical or any dem-

onstration in the Juneau Empire of criticism of the

Palmer Airport situation.

The Court: Well, counsel, we are now on an-

other subject. We are on the subject about some-

thing to do with the Union Bank, at which time the

objection was made by Mr. Nesbett. We have ruled

upon that objection. I think w^e are through Avith

the airport.
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Mr. Kay: The whole point was, as Your Honor

pointed out—we have no objection whatever if Mr.

Faulkner can show that Governor Gruening was

angry or bitter at the Empire because of its honest

difference of opinions with him on the Palmer Air-

port, but no evidence was introduced of their opin-

ion, so we don't know what it was. Maybe they

approved it. [79]

The Coui't: Under the niling of the Court he

may answer the question if he may—if he can.

Q. (By Mr. Faulkner) : Governor, you remem-

ber the trouble the Union Banls: had at Anchorage

in 1947 ?

A. I remember there was some trouble; yes.

Q. Do you remember an occasion when Doctor

Walker, the Senator from Ketchikan, introduced

a resolution in the Senate which was quite critical

of the Bank and you, as Chairman of the Bank-

ing Board ?

A. Well, I will be glad to take your word for it.

I don't hapi^en to remember it.

Q. You don't remember that?

A. No; but I think, if I refreshed my memory
and it was there, I probably could recall it.

Q. Do you remember calling Mrs. Monsen and

telling her not to publish that, that it would be li-

belous—if you remember it ?

A. Well, I don't recall it, but, if you say I did,

I

Q. No. I am not

Mr. Kav: Don't admit it. Governor.
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Q. I am not saying you did.

A. I don't recall that at all.

Q. 1 prefer to have somebody else say you did.

The Court : Counsel

Mr. Faulkner: I didn't say he did. [80]

A. I don't recall it.

Mr. Faulkner: I just asked him a question.

Q. (By Mr. Faulkner) : Now, Governor, do you

remember in the fall of 1952, November, 1952, the

steamship strike that tied up all the transportation

here for a long time? A. I do.

Q. Do you remember where you were then?

A. Well, the strike lasted so long I probably

was in several places.

Q. Well, weren't you in the States during part

of that time?

A. During part of that strike, I am sure I was.

Q. And do you recall whether any other officials

were in the States at that time?

A. Well, which ones?

Q. Well, the Commissioner of Labor, the High-

way Engineer, the Tax Commissioner, the Attorney

General, the Assistant Attorney General, and the

head of the Price Administration—or Stabilization

—whatever it was—Hanford.

A. Well, they may have been. Of course, you

know the Governor has no jurisdiction over elected

of&cials.

Q. You don't remember that. All right. Well,

now. Governor, you yourself—I mean no offense by

this question at all and no feeling about it—but you
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yourself made a good many speeches over the radio

;

you had no paper; but you had speeches over the

radio and sometimes articles in the [81] papers that

were quite critical; didn't you? A. Of what?

Q. While you were Governor?

A. Critical of what?

Q. Well, to begin with, didn't you have a course

of criticism toward what you called absentee capital

or absentee ownership?

A. I criticized certain practices of some of the

absentees.

Q. And you criticized the Alaska Steamship

Company quite freely? A. Yes, I did.

Q. And you criticized the Pan American Air-

ways, didn't you? A. Not that I can recall.

Q. And you criticized the Salmon Industry?

A. Yes.

Q. And did you ever criticize the mining indus-

try?

A. Mining industry? I only recall criticizing the

A. J.'s effort to collect $250,000.00 for that rock

which would have had to be dumped in the channel

if it hadn't gone into the fill.

The Court: Again, counsel, may I inquire as to

whether this is proper cross-examination?

Mr. Faulkner : Yes, Your Honor.

The Court : The witness testified, as I remember.

Governor Gruening testified, that in his judgment

criticisms [82] of public officials in the newspaper

were perfectly proper as long as they were fair and

honest ; so where is there anything to cross-examine
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upon that point? Tlic fact that he fiiticizos othoi's,

T cannot see where that is pi-opcr cross-examination.

Mr. P^iulkner: Well, I think tlie jnry onu^lit to

know that the Governor of a Territory is ininnni<'

from prosecutions for his criticisms.

The Court: I will sustain objection to an}- such

examination, and the jury will be instructed to dis-

regard it.

Mr. Kay: I would be very much interested

in

The Court: I have ruled upon it, counsel.

Mr. Kay: the citation to that effect.

Mr. Faulkner: Well, I have got plenty. Your

Honor, now I want to ask him if he didn't criticize

over the radio the Empire.

The Court: Well, that is a different proposition.

A. Yes, I did.

Q. (By Mr. Faulkner) : On many occasions?

A. No ; not on many.

Q. Some? A. On a few.

Mr. Faulkner: I think that is all. Pardon me
just a minute. Your Honor. I w'ant to see if tlu^re

is anything else here. Oh, yes. [83]

Q. (By Mr. Faulkner): To go back to this

feiTy fund, w^ere you familiar with the statutes of

the Territory that provided how^ public money

should be received and accounted for?

A. Well, yes, I would say so.

Q. And that they had to be turned over to the

Territorial Treasurer ?

A. Well, in this particular case the Attorney
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General, that you are referring to, and the past

Attorney General, Mr. Roden, both declared that

this was a perfectly proper legal proceeding.

Q. Well, did the Attorney General tell you that

!

A. Well, it is my impression that he assented

and he raised no objection.

Q. Governor, to refresh your memory, at the

meeting of June 5, 1952, of the Board of Road Com-

missioners didn't the minutes simply show that the

Attorney General made no objection?

A. Well, I think that is probably correct.

Q. There was no comment by him on whether it

was right or wrong?

A. No; but by making no objection he would

certainly make clear that he thought it not im-

proper.

Q. Then, when he did write an opinion on it,

didn't he state that the funds should be turned into

the Treasurer as the [84] law directed and then a

certain portion turned over to the Highway Engi-

neer and that used for the operation of the ferry?

A. Well, I would think you would get a direct

answer by asking the Treasurer himself. I am not

positive as to that.

Q. Well, I was asking you if you knew of the

Attorney General's opinion to that effect.

A. Well, really, I don't remember the exact de-

tails.

Q. Well, that is all right. But the law required

at that time that all funds of every nature be turned

over to the Treasurer?
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A. Well, tliat was not tlic opinion of the At-

torney Gienci'ars Office.

Q. But you knew what tlie law was, didn't you?

A. Well, this pai-ticular situation that had come

up was not covered by existing statutes.

Q. Oh, it wasn't?

A. Not in my judgment, or not in his judgment,

certainly.

Q. As a matter of fact, didn't you do this for

expediencey and convenience ?

A. A¥ell, I W'ouldn't say expediency and conven-

ience. It Avas done in order to permit operation of

an enterprise that was demanded by public interest.

Q. Well, was there any statute authorizing the

operation of the ferry anyway? [85]

A. Well, it was considered part of the Highway

Engineer's and the Road Board's functions to ex-

tend the liighw'ay system, and throughout the

United States, as you know% you have ferries that

are complimentary or supplementary to highways.

Yoii go to a certain point and you can either go by

highway or you can go by ferry. In this particular

case there was no alternative of connecting the high-

way system in the Interior except by ferry. You
couldn't go from Juneau to Haines by road be-

cause you would have to cross Lynn Canal, and

there was no bridge, so this w^as merely an exten-

sion of the highway system.

Q. Wouldn't the same thing apply to Ketchikan ?

A. Yes; it would if it had been necessary.

Q. You have no ferry to Ketchikan?
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A. No. It was contemplated.

Q. As a matter of fact, it was

Mr. Nesbett : What was the last answer ?

A. There was no ferry to Ketchikan but it was

contemplated.

Q. (By Mr. Faulkner) : Now, Governor, you

felt that it was an expedient and convenient way to

handle the ferry funds in the way they were han-

dled? A. Yes.

Q. And you know now you had no requirement

for bond from the man who handled the fund, that

you know of?

A. Well, that is an entirely different ques-

tion. [86]

Q. Yes. I mean, you don't know of any, do you?

A. I do not know whether a bond was required.

Q. And you don't know whether there were

some losses in the handling of those funds?

A. I do not.

Q. You don't know whether there were irregu-

larities in the whole operation? A. I do not.

Mr. Faulkner: I think that is all.

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Kay

:

Q. Governor, with regard to that, do you recall

seeing a short three-page report of the Arthur An-

derson Company with regard to the operation of the

ferry? I don't know whether you have seen it or

not. Do you recall seeing it?

A. I don't recall seeing it.
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Q. So then, if such a i-cjiort exists, you siinply

do not know wliat its contents ai'e ?

A. i do not know and I do not iccall seeing- it.

Q. Was it ever reported to you l)y anyone or ])y

an\- of the othei- members of tlie Board of Highway

Commissioners that that fund was short?

A. No. [87]

Q. Or that there were any deficiencies or dis-

crepancies in the financial statement of tlie fund?

A. No; it was never reported to me.

Q. You don't know whether the fund may have

turned out short or long? A. That is correct.

Q. Mr. Faulkner asked yon if you had been

critical of the Empire on occasion in your radio or

other public addresses, and, I believe, you replied

that you had been. Is that correct?

A. On one or two occasions at the most.

Q. On any of those occasions, Governor, did you

attack the, ever attack the motives or actions of

the jmblishers of the Daily Empire in a slanderous

or libelous manner in any way comparable with the

front page of September 25, 1952, sir?

Mr. Faulkner: I object to that as

A. Certainly not.

The Court: Just a moment.

Mr. Faulkner: calling for a conclusion.

The Court: Yes; the question is objectionable

as calling for a conclusion and, I think, leading.

Mr. Kay : I think the witness can suggest a con-

clusion.

The Court: Well, you may ask whether he at-
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tacked [88] the motives—the first part of the ques-

tion is proper—whether he attacked the motive or

the honesty or integrity of the paper.

Mr. Kay: You are correct, Your Honor.

Q. (By Mr. Kay) : Governor, did you at any

time attack the integrity or the policy of the Alaska

Daily Empire?

A. No. To the best of my recollection, in going

back to Mr. Faulkner's query whether I had made

several or more attacks on the Empire, I at this

time can recall only one, and jo\i may be able to

remind me of others, but I can recall only one and

that was in connection wdth this deleted statement,

which had been issued by me and three other pub-

lic officials, on the closing of the Alaska Juneau

Mine which was for the purpose of calling atten-

tion to the fact that several employees were sud-

denly unemployed and that we wanted as far as

possible to attract as much attention as we could to

their state of unemployment so that they could get

employment, and my criticism followed a warning

to the editor at that time, Mr. Carter, that, if they

did not print the statement in full, as he said they

would not, and deleted certain sentences which

would alter the meaning, that I would then be

obliged to go on the air and read to the people of

Jimeau just what the original statement was so that

people could find out what had been said and what

had [89] been deleted, and that, I think, was the

only extent of my criticism. It was really a factual

report to the people. Now, you may recall other ex-
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amples of criticism, but 1 don't recall tlicm, and

they certainly were never on any basis of attack of

the character of the Empire or its owners or any-

thing of that kind. It was simply a report to the

peoi)le when we felt wo had been shut out of the

opportunity of saying- what we needed to say

through the recognized medium of publicity, namely,

the press.

Q. Would the same be true in general, Governor,

concerning any othei* speeches which you may have

made critical of the persons or institutions which

Mr. Faulkner mentioned—the Alaska Steamshij)

Company or the Salmon Industry?

A. Well, yes. I criticized the rate increases being

imposed on the ])eople of Alaska without hearings,

without proper audit to ascertain whether those

heavy burdens imposed on the people were neces-

sary, and I criticized the Salmon Industry for some

of its political interference in our legislation, its op-

position to many measures which I considered de-

sirable, and some of its other policies, parti(^ularly

in relation to fish traps.

Q. With regard to these other matters which Mr.

Faulkner mentioned, and I will mention particu-

larly the Palmer Airj)ort, for example, were you in

any way publicly, so far as you can recall, critical

of the Empire for its— [90] or did you deny the

Empire at any time its right to freely criticize on a

basis of honest disagreement of the paj^er on any

subject, including the Palmer Airport?

A. Not that I can recall. I felt that the treat-
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ment accorded the Palmer Airport by the Empire

was a very unfair one because all through was the

implication, as in this case, of personal gain, cor-

ruption, whereas the only effort on the part of the

officials in charge, who were guided by the C.A.A.

officials, was to try to get something done quickly

for the Territory of Alaska.

Q. Now, you mentioned C.A.A. officials. Are

those officials of the Territory of Alaska, Governor,

responsible in any way to the Governor or any of

the Territorial officials'?

A. No, they are not. They are Federal officials

and not responsible to me, the Governor, or to any-

one else.

Q. That is the Civil Aeronautics Administra-

tion? A. Civil Aeronautics Administration.

Q. Which is a branch of the Department of

Commerce of the Federal Government?

A. That is correct.

Q. And those were the people with whom Terri-

torial officials, the Aeronautics Board and others

dealt in the financing of the Palmer Airport ; is that

correct ?

A. That is correct. And they were the people

who, presumably, had the expert knowledge on this

subject. It was [91] a new field to us. We had never

before engaged in airport construction with Fed-

eral matching.

Q. Do you have any recollection of the Empire

publishing any report concerning the Union Bank,
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or of disac^roeinc: witli the Kin})ire eonrorTiing any-

tliing that thoy may liavo ]mblislied, if they did ])ub-

lish anything-—I don't know that tliey did—in con-

nection with tliis r(^])t)rt concerning tlic rni<»ii

Bank? A. Well, I really don't recall tliat.

Q. You don't?

A. No, I really don't recall that episode. T mean,

of course, the papers have to be very careful what

they publish about banks anyliow. There is always

the risk of their causing a run on a bank and so

forth.

(Whereuj^on, Court recessed for five minutes,

reconvening as per recess, with all parties pres-

ent as heretofore and the jury all present in

the box; the witness Ernest Gruening resumed

the witness stand, and the Redirect Examina-

tion by Mr. Kay was continued as follows:)

Q. Governor, I should have asked you probably

at some point—Mr. Roden has reminded me to ask

you several times—for the benefit of some of the

jury who may not be clear on the point, in connec-

tion wdth one of those exhibits—there was a letter

from one Harold Ickes—who was Mr. Ickes at that

time? [92]

A. He was the Secretary of the Interior and

my superior, under the system that exists w^hile we

are a Territory.

Q. Now, Mr. Faulkner mentioned or asked you

concerning an editorial appearing in the Anchor-

age Times following the publication of the Alaska

Daily Empire of September 25, 1952, and he also
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asked you concerning the fact that friends had

raised money for a car upon the expiration of your

final term as Governor. Do you have—do you know

how many persons or members of the public—do

you have any way of estimating—w^ho might have

previously supported you, or at least have been

neutral on the subject, changed their opinion as a

result of the publication of September 25, 1952?

A. No. I have no way of calculating that.

Q. Then it is still your feeling that as a result

of this publication your personal reputation and

your reputation as a public official was damaged?

A. Well, I haven't any doubt about it.

Mr. Kay: I believe that is all.

Recross-Examination

By Mr. Faulkner:

Mr. Faulkner: If the Court please, there is one

other question that I would like to ask the witness.

I think I asked it, but I want to ask it now, having

a little more [93] specific information, and he may

be able to answer it and he may not, but it is really

on cross-examination and not on recross.

The Court: Well, I presimae no objection will

be made on that score.

Q. (By Mr. Faulkner) : Governor, I asked you

if you had referred to the Palmer Airport Report

of the Senate as slander, and I will now revise that

and ask if you remember on August 17, 1950, that

you gave a news item to the Empire in which they
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said that—in which you said that tliis rcrereiico

oC IJutlcr to Stanley MeCutelieon and (.thcrs was

slander. Do you reeall thaf? I have the pa})er here

but

A. 1 don't recall it but I may have said it. I

would say—if I may amplify what I want to sa\'?

Q. Yes.

A. Knowing and being ])rofoundly convinced

that nobody engaged in that transaction stood to

profit or profited by it i)ersonally, and that their

only desire was to help the Territory, that any such

accusation or implication was of a slanderous na-

ture, and that was my objection to some of the edi-

torials that were published at the time. Any search-

ing examination W'Ould have revealed that no one

stood to profit, no one made any benefit out of it,

and, if they had, they certainly should have

been [94] j^rosecuted ; but that Avas the implication

that was given in a lot of the newspaper publica-

tions, that someone somehow had benefited by it.

Q. Governor, just one more question. You had

some differences, when you were Governor, wdth

people and organizations and institutions who

didn't agree with you on some policies, didn't you?

A. Well, I imagine that would happen.

Q. And you were quite insistent on having your

way; you felt that your view^ Avas the right one?

A. Sometimes ; and sometimes not.

Q. Mostly. Well, do you remember—I think this

question is proper, but there is no hard feelings

about it—do vou remember one time when vou set
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the F.B.I, after Ed Medley and Captain Lathrop

and myself and some others there in Juneau be-

cause we didn't agree with you in legislation that

you proposed?

A. I don't recall having anything to do with the

F.B.I., but I do recall taking up with the United

States Attorney the question of whether there had

been violation of the lobbying statute in the Legis-

lature, which specifically provided that lobbyists

would have to register, and of course, as you know,

there are a lot of people around Juneau at the

time of Legislature who lobby but they don't regis-

ter, and that was, I think, [95] probably

Q. That is what the P.B.I, were doing ; and you

never did see the report, I suppose ?

A. No. I know that Cap Lathrop told me very

frankly that he had sent Jack Clauson down as a

lobbyist, that he had paid Jack Clauson 's expenses

but the Canned Salmon Industry paid his costs in

Juneau.

Mr. Kay : Are you through ?

Mr. Faulkner: No.

Q. (By Mr. Faulkner) : Well, you included some

others in that, didn't you?

A. Well, I think I asked that the whole subject

be looked into.

Q. I had forgotten about it until yesterday. It

just occurred to me.

Mr. Faulkner : Yes, that is all.
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Redirect Examination

By Mr. Kay

:

Q. Governor, was it your coiici'ptioii that this

was one of your duties as Governor to see to the

enforcement of tlie hiws of the Territory?

A. Certainly; certainly it was.

Q. And call any violations or apparent viola-

tions

A. Certainly it was my duty. In fact it is pre-

scribed [96] somewhere in the statutes that the

Governor should be responsible for the enforcement

of the laws.

Q. Governor, you were queried at the commence-

ment of your cross-examination for some time by

Mr. Faulkner as to possible motives for the animos-

ity or the change in attitude of the Empire between

the time you came to Alaska, when they apparently

welcomed you with open arms, and the attitude

which they evidenced, according to your testimony,

over a period of years during the latter years of your

presence in Alaska, and I believe you offered to give

your opinion several times as to the basis for that

animosity, but, apparently, there was no desire to

learn it; is that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. I wonder if you would now state what your

honest opinion is as to the point, the event, which

led to the change in attitude, as far as you could

detect, on the part of the publisher of the Empire ?
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A. Well, I rather hesitate to open up this sub-

ject, but I think that the change in the Empire's

attitude certainly was related to this circumstance,

and that is—somewhere in the early forties shortly

after Governor Troy had died, a check came into

my office from the McMillan Company, which is a

publishing house in New York, for royalties on the

*' Guide to Alaska," which was a book [97] pub-

lished two years previously and the contract for

which had been signed by my predecessor, Governor

Troy, I think in July of '39, and, naturally, this

raised the question as to where the other royalties

had been, because, obviously, this check came into

my office by accident because it was addressed to

Governor Troy and it was opened there, and it ap-

peared that these royalties had been collected and

paid to the late John Troy and after his death to

the Troy estate, which of course they should not

have been.

It was an inadvertence on the part of somebody,

because those funds belonged to the Federal Gov-

ernment and belonged to the Treasurer of the

United States, and, naturally, it was my duty to

report that, and, as a result of that, a demand was

made on the Troy estate, I think on the attorney

of the Troy estate, Mr. Faulkner, to refund this

money which had been collected over several years

amounting to some thousands of dollars. I think the

thing was handled for the Government by United

States Attorney Pat Gilmore who made a request

on the Trov estate that these monies be refunded.
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Of courso I liad no altornativo in the matter. Tt

was my duty to report this. Tliose were funds ])e-

lonuinp: to tlie Federal (Jovernment which, inad-

vei-tently, had })assed into private hands, and I be-

lieve they were then, [98] after action by the De-

partment of Justice, rc^funded. And I think tliat had

a considerable bearing on the increased hostility of

the Em])ire to me.

Q. There was a change in attitude toward you?

A. There was a very definite change.

Q. From that point on.

Mr. Kay: I believe that is all.

Recross-Examination

By Mr. Faulkner

:

Q. Governor, in investigating whether anybody

appeared before the Legislature without registering,

did you report to the F.B.I, anybody there who

agreed with you? A. Who agreed with me?

Q. Yes. Do you recall ?

A. I can't recall any lobbyists who agreed with

me.

Q. You can't. Well, wasn't the place swarming

with them? A. AVhat?

Q. Wasn't the place swarming with them, doz-

ens of them there ?

A. I can't recall any lobbyists at that time that

agreed with me. I thought they were all represent-

ing the Canned Salmon Industry and the mining

industrv and
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Q. Well, you didn't look into that very closely.

Now, Governor, about these checks from the McMil-

lan Company, [99] when did you say you got a

check 1

A. Well, I can't remember the exact date, but I

think it was somewhere around '42 or '43, in there.

Q. '44? A. It may be.

Q. Well, let me see is this a fact. When Gover-

nor Troy was Governor, he sponsored a book; isn't

that true ? A. Yes ; in his official capacity.

Q. Which was put out by the W.P.A. ?

A. Yes.

Q. And after he died a check came payable to

him from McMillan Company, the publisher ; is that

right?

A. I think that is the way it was made out.

Q. Well, then the next year another check came

to the Troy estate. Do you know anything about it?

A. I can only recall one

Q. I mean—do you remember anything about it?

A. I can recall one check that came in which

Q. Came where; from where?

A. Well, it came from McMillan Company.

Q. To whom?
A. It came to the Governor's Office.

Q. Well, who was it payable to?

A. It was payable to John Troy.

Q. What did you do with it? [100]

A. I turned it over to the Department, called

their attention to it.

Q. When was that?
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A. Well, about this time.

Q. Then wliat did tlie Department do about it?

A. Well, 1 think they instituted proceedings. J

tliink they communicated with you as the counsel

for the Troy estate.

Q. Governor, aren't you very much mistaken

about that? Didn't the Department begin to send

you checks after the wliole Troy matter had been

cleared up? A. Oh, no.

Q. Well, then how did it happen that McMillan

Company sent a check to John W. Troy the year

he died ?

A. I don't know. Perhaps they didn't know he

had died.

Q. How did they happen to send a check the

next year? A. I don't know.

Q. You don 't know whether that is a fact or not ?

A. No. I do know it is a fact that the money be-

longed to the Federal Government and that it was

ultimately dejDosited in the Treasury.

Q. Yes. We concede that. Isn't it a fact though.

Governor, to refresh your memory, that two checks

came into the Troy estate to John W. Troy from

McMillan, and an inquiry was made as to what

these checks represented, and they said royalties on

a book, and then later on the [101] office—I don't

know what it was—that General Fleming was head

of—I don't remember—wrote and said that this

money should have gone to the Government because

he had acted in an official capacity in arranging for

these royalties, and we asked them for the contract,



232 Empire Printing Co. vs.

(Testimony of Ernest Gruening.)

and they couldn't find it; they never did find it:

they never did give it to lis; but, when we found

it at McMillan's, it was a contract made not with

any official but with John W. Troy, and they had

made it out wrong. Do you remember that? You
said ''inadvertently."

Q. Well, I think it was undoubtedly inadvert-

ence somewhere.

Q. Yes; inadvertence. And the money was re-

funded to McMillan Company where it came from

;

and it was McMillan's duty to send it into the Gov-

ernment if they made out their contract right?

A. Well, I knew it was refunded after it had

been called to their attention.

Q. And it didn't belong to the Troy estate, and

nobody ever claimed it did, and it was sent back to

McMillan, and they in turn after a year or two,

when they got the proper contract, paid it over to

the Government, and they withheld it and wouldn't

pay it over until the Government agreed to change

this contract from John W. Troy personally to the

Governor of Alaska. Isn't that the way it hap-

pened? [102]

A. AVell, I didn't follow it beyond that point.

Q. No.

A. I think former United States Attorney Gil-

more could probably give the correct answer as to

just what followed.

Q. Well, I don't think he knows much about it,

excepting that they sent him a claim to file against

the estate.
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Mr. Faiilknoi': I tliiiik that is all.

Mr. Kay: i bcJicNc tliat is all.

The Court; That is all then.

(Witness excused.)

Mr. Kay: At this time, Your Honor, it is our

intention to offer in evidence the depositioTi of John
K. Small given at Ancliorage, Alaska, on April 15,

1955, and, in order to do that in the manner which

we think most proper, I am going to take the wit-

ness stand, as would Mr. Small, and read Mr.
Small's responses, and Mr. Nesbett will read the

questions to me. We will pause after each question

to give Mr. Faulkner an opportunity to object if

he cares to do so.

The Court : That is quite proper. If there be no

objection, you may omit the formal parts. Is this

deposition taken pursuant to stiplation or notice or

which ?

Mr. Faulkner : I think so.

Mr. Kaj^: Yes, it w^as.

The Coui-t: You would not find it necessary to

read the formal parts? [103]

Mr. Kay : The stipulation is attached to the orig-

inal deposition.

Mr. Faulkner: Would not find it necessary to

what?

The Court: You would not tind it necessary to

read the formal parts?

Mr. Faulkner: Oh, no; no.

The Court: You may omit that.

Mr. Kay: At this point I am acting as John
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E. Small and no longer Wendell Kay; I am John

Small in answering- these questions for Mr. Nes-

bett.

Mr. Nesbett: This deposition was taken at the

request of the plaintiffs in Anchorage, Alaska, and

is the deposition of John E. Small, formerly an

employee of the Empire Printing Company, the de-

fendant in this case. Appearances as attorneys were

Buell A. Nesbett, Attornej^ for Plaintiffs, and John

E. Manders, of Attorneys for Defendant for the

purpose of this deposition only. ''John E. Small

being first dulj^ sworn upon oath, deposes as fol-

lows: By Mr. Nesbett:"

(Whereupon, the deposition of John E. Small

was read as follows—questions by Mr. Nesbett

and answers by Mr. Kay:)

(Reading.)

DEPOSITION OF JOHN E. SMALL

Q. What is your full name?

A. John E. Small.

Q. S-m-a-1-1? [104] A. Yes.

Q. And are you residing in Anchorage at the

present time, Mr. Small ? A. Yes, I am.

Q. And are you employed here? A. Yes.

Q. What is your occupation, sir?

A. I am a reporter for the iVnchorage Times.

Q. I will ask you whether or not .you were em-

ployed at one time by the Empire Printing Com-

pany, publishers of the Alaska Daily Empire?

A. Yes, I was.



Henry Roden, et al. 2Ii5

(Deposition of Jolin K. Small.)

Q. ('an \'<»u state llie dates during wliieli you

wei'e or between wliieli you were eni])loyed tliere?

A. From March 1, 1952, to a])y)roximately the end

of Februai-y, 1953.

Q. And in what capacity were you employed by

Hie Empii'e Printing Comj)any, sir?

A. As the Police and Courthouse reporter.

Q. You are speaking

A. It is the Police and Federal T>uilding Re-

])orter.

Q. And what were your duties in general with

respect to that assignment, Mr. Small?

A. Well, I reported news as' it develoj)ed in the

])olice beats and in the Federal Building. [105]

Q. Were you employed on newspapers prior to

coming to work for the Empire Printing Company ?

A. Yes, I was.

Q. Can you state the dates and where you were

employed roughly?

A. I worked for the Hastings Nebraska Tribune

from March, 1943, to the end of December, 1946,

as police reporter and later as wire editor. I

worked for the Minot, North Dakota, News from the

tlate after quitting the Tribune until January, 1948,

as wire editor. I worked as editor of the Union

Newspaper in Denver, Colorado; the Denver Po-

lice and Fire Journal as official newspaper for the

Police Department and Fire Department from '48

until—well, into the summer of that same year. I

operated a weekly newspaper in Eatenville, Wash-

ington. I don't know the date, but it was for a
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period of approximately 6 months and during the

illness of the owner, and I operated a weekly news-

paper in Columbus, North Dakota. I don't recall

the exact date on that either, but for a period of

about 4 or 5 months, and from there I moved up

to the Empire.

Q. Had 3'ou resided in Alaska for any period of

time prior to going to work for the Empire?

A. I had been up here once before on a fishing

boat and that is all. [106]

Q. Were you familiar with Alaskan politics at

the time you went to work for the Empire?

A. No.

Q. I will ask you whether or not—strike that

—

when you worked for the Empire, Mr. Small, who

was the managing editor?

A. Jack McFarland.

Q. And who was in over-all charge of the Em-

pire?

A. Well, other than the acting charge was James

Beard.

Q. And what was his title ?

A. That was rather ambiguous around there. No-

body seemed to know. He actually held the position

we ordinarily know of as business manager, but he

also wrote editorials and generally oversaw the op-

eration of the entire plant.

Q. Did Mrs. Helen Monsen hold any office or

take any part in the operation of the Empire?

A. As publisher.

Q. I will ask you whether or not Mr. Beard,



Henry Hodcn, et al 2'M

(Deposition of John E, Small.)

after yoii had eonimenccd to work for the Empire,

^ave you any expressions of Empire policy with

respect to tlie Democratic administration as far as

reportini;- and ])ublishin,[»' of tlie Empii-e was con-

cerned? A. Yes, he did.

Q. AYhat were they?

A. Well, generally he told me over a period of

time, [107] beginning with the Sunday that T ar-

rived there, that tliere was a Gruening machine in

existence^ in Alaska and that the Empire was op-

posed to him and was doing all within their power

to drive the machine out of power and that part of

my job would be to help them in this respect as a

reporter ; that any information I came across it was

part of my duty to report that.

Q. I will ask you whether or not Helen Monsen,

as publisher, gave you any similar information or

instructions ?

A. She never gave me any instructions, but on

numerous occasions she did express antagonism

against Governor Gruening and against what she

called the Gruening machine.

Q. Now, I will ask you w^hether or not Mr. Beard

or Mrs. Monsen ever expressed to you a desire to

"get something" on Gruening or his administra-

tive officials?

A. Helen has never asked me to do anything

like that. Beard on several occasions, not specificalh'

to me, but to the editorial staff in general has indi-

cated we should do that.
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Q. Now, as your period of residence in Alaska

increased did you acquire some independent picture

of the political situation?

A. Yes, I did. As I said, at the time I came

there and during the tenure of my employ there I

was constantly bombarded with statements to the

effect that the Gruening [108] machine was full of

graft, corruption and that we should do eveiy-

thing within our power to drive them out of power

and, of course, I had no basis for knowing whether

that was a true picture or not when I came there.

As time went on and I covered my beats and talked

to peojjle with other points of view I learned that

some people thought that the term ''graft and cor-

iniption" could more properly be applied to the

Empire and very frequently they suggested it could

be applied to me as an employee of the Empire

and I found considerable temperament, that atti-

tude around town.

Q. Mr. Small, can you state from your experi-

ence in newspaper work whether or not the edito-

rial and news reporting policy of the Empire, with

respect to Gruening and his administration, was

distorted ?

A. My opinion was that it was about the most

distorted news reporting, if you can use that term,

that I have ever come across.

Q. Now, calling your attention to the evening

of September 24, 1952, Mr. Small, I will ask you

whether or not you had occasion to visit the news-

room of the Daily Alaska Empire?
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A. AVcll, I don't recall the date offhand. I didn't

have it in any of my notes, hut if you are referring

to the pai)er that involved—to the edition that is

involved [109] in this liable action, yes.

Q. Then is it your testimony that you did have

occasion to visit the Empire newsroom the evening

before the publication of the edition involved in this

action ? A. Yes.

Q. Can you state about what time you went to

th(^ newsroom?

A. No, I can't except it was after dark.

Q. And who was in the newsroom when you

went there? A. Jack Daum and Jim Beard.

Q. And what was Mr. Daum's position with the

Empire, Mr. Small?

A. He was a reporter. He took over from me as

Federal Building rejjorter.

Q. I will show you this newspaper and ask you

if you can recognize it ? A. Yes, I do.

Q. And describe it for the purpose of the record ?

A. It is ''The Daily Alaska Empire," Septem-

ber 25, 1952, edition that carries what we call the

"scare head" stating that the Special Ferry Fund
has been bared and containing such headlines as

"Reeve Raps Graft, Corruption" and "Gruening,

Metcalf, Roden Divert 'Chilkoot' Cash to Private

Bank Account," and other similar scare heads.

Q. You were working at the Empire when that

edition was published, weren't you? [110]

A. Yes, I was.
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Q. Do you recognize that as the September 25th

edition of the Empire*?

A. I recognize it as an edition that was pub-

lished at the time I worked there.

Q. It states September 25 in the heading, doesn't

it? A. Yes.

Mr. Nesbett: This copy will be attached to the

original of the deposition and marked Exhibit A.

Q. (By Mr. Nesbett) : Now, I will ask you

whether or not you saw the news makeup repre-

sented by the front page of this edition dated Sep-

tember 25, on the evening you visited the newsroom ?

A. Yes, I did. T saw what we call a page proof

of it.

Q. You call it what? A. Page proof.

Q. What is a page proof, Mr. Small?

A. Well, that is a proof of the type that is run

off for the purpose of checking the type for errors.

Q. Then is it true that a page proof would be

as easily read as this ?

A. It would be practically exactly like that.

Q. As Exhibit A that we have here?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you have any discussion—what did you

do when you [111] entered the room?

A. I don't recall exactly. I was coming in, as was

my custom, to do work that I hadn't gotten done

earlier in the day and I think, if I recall, that I was

at my typewriter for awhile and shortly after that

I noticed Beard and Daum reading this page proof

over at the managing editor's desk and I walked
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over to see what they were diseussiiig and what

they were doing.

Q. I will ask 3011 whcthci' or not you had any

discussion with Mr. Beard concerning this page

])roof ? A. Yes, I did.

Q. What was tliat discussion?

A. Well, immediately after looking at it Beard

turned to me and said, "What do you think of this,"

or words to that effect, not a direct quote, and after

glancing over it 1 told him that it looked like he

had a libelous makeup.

Q. NoW', when Mr. Beard said, "What do you

think of this," did he say anything else prior to

your reading it?

A. Well, he made several comments and the one

I recall, of course, is "We have got the S.O.B.

where Ave want him," or something to that effect.

Q. Did you make any immediate reply to that

comment ?

A. I don't think I made any immediate reply. I

read the proof over pretty thoroughly, they were

working on it continually during that time and I

read both the lead [112] story and that front page

editorial and I told them that I thought both of

them were libelous in themselves.

Q. Did Mr. Beard make any statement in con-

nection with your remark?

A. He probablj^ did, but I don't recall exactly

any statement he made now, excej^t that he generally

—well, discounted any suggestions I had as to libel-

hood. And I might also say that Daum did the same
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thing. Daum and I had a brief argument, he stated

there was no libel in it; and, I recall I pointed out

to Beard that he had in the makeup heads such as

that, '^ Reeve Raps Graft, Corruption" alongside

heads about Special Ferry Fund being discovered or

bared and that he was using color words which had

connotations of graft and corruption and that the

placement of his information in his lead story would

indicate to a reader that corruption was involved or

graft and specifically in the editorial there was ref-

erence to Oscar Olson which attempted to point out

a correlation between the 2 cases. I told him that

was definitely libelous and they told me that it was

not.

Q. Did you notice anything unusual in Mr.

Beard's tone of voice when he made the remark "I

guess we have got the S.O.B. where we want him"

or words to that effect?

A. Yes, Beard was a very demonstrative sort

of person and there was obvious satisfaction, you

might say even glee, [113] in his manner and in his

tone of voice when he made the statement. He was

very elated that night.

Q. Mr. Small, do you know of any rivalry that

existed between Mr. Beard and Governor Gruening

with respect to Mr. Beard's political ambitions'?

A. Other than the obvious ambition to be in po-

litically with the party that ousted Gruening, the

only definite thing I know of is a statement he made

one time that it looked like he might be on the way

to the Governor's chair.
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Q. That wlio ini<rht hv on tlic \\i\y to the (iov-

ernor's chair?

A. That Ueard mij^ht be oil the way. That oc-

curred quite some time after this thing-, after the

election in fact, and Elmer Friend, who was then

acting as managing- editor, and Beard and I were

riding in a cab

Mr. Manders: Just a minute. This was all sub-

sequent to the publication of the article, this

last

A. Yes. He, Beard and I were riding- in a cab

and he made the statement at that time he might be

on the way to the Governor's chair or it looked like

he might be. That is the only reference he ever

made to me personally of ambitions to political of-

fice.

Q. Did you state previously that Mr. McFar-

land was managing editor when you went to work

for the Empire? A. Yes, he was.

Q. I will ask you whether or not Mr. McFarland

was employed [114] as managing editor, in any ca-

]>acity at the Empire on September 25, 1952?

A. No, he wasn't.

Q. Do you know whether or not Mr. McFarland

quit the Empire or w^as fired?

A. That was a moot point. James Beard, I have

heard him state—in fact James Beard told me the

day that McFarland, to my know^ledge quit, that he

had fired him, but his severance with the Empire

occurred as a result of an argument over a news

stor}\ I don't recall the story which the,y wanted
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him to publish and he as managing editor refused

to do so.

Q. When you say they wanted him to publish,

whom do you have in mind?

A. Helen Munson and Jim Beard.

Mr. Manders: Has this story that you refer to

have anything to do with the basis of this libelous

suit ?

Mr. Nesbett: I can answer, John. It hasn't, but

it is strictly admissible as indicating the previous

attitude. You see we have alleged in our Complaint

a ''campaign," it is called, to discredit by distor-

tion and so forth.

Q. (By Mr. Nesbett) : When you say they

wanted McFarland to publish the story who do you

have in mind?

A. James Beard and Helen Munson. [115]

Q. Do you know the nature of the story that Mr.

McFarland refused to publish?

A. No, I don't know specifically and I don't

even know generally except that practically all the

arguments—in fact, I would say all of the argu-

ments that occurred between McFarland and Beard,

and usually that included Helen, concerned editorial

policy that referred to a story about either Gover-

nor Gruening or some member of the Gruening ad-

ministration, and I am quite sure that that story

did have something to do with that. I am saying

that I know that. I heard McFarland arguing and

telling those people in the office, the words were

very loud and I could hear them from Helen's of-
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iice into the newsroom, MeFarland told them they

could have their job and their ])aper and he was

<2:oing, and he subsequently went.

Q. Do you recall overhearing any conversation

concerning this publication of September 25 on the

day of the publication in the Emj^ire offices'?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. And was that conversation between Helen

Munson, Beard and

A. Originally the conversation was between

Helen Munson and Jim Beard. That occurred in

Helen's office.

Q. And were you there ? [116]

A. I Avalked in the office for some business pur-

pose, I don't recall what it was, and they were

discussing this at that time.

Q. What was that discussion?

A. It referred, of course, to this paper and

whether or not the Empire was in for a libel suit

and Helen apparently had already been told by

enough people that it impressed her because she

w^as very worried that it was a libelous edition and

Beard was telling her that they had nothing to

far

(Reading suspended.)

Mr. Kay : Apparently meaning '

' fear. '

'

(Reading resumed.)

—and that if they just stuck firm that there was

nothing anybody could ])rove. He also told Helen
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that if—the thing about this is that during that con-

versation there was a telephone call and the voice

was later identified as that of the Empire Attor-

ney, Faulkner, and the man wanted to know "Who
in the hell's idea it was to put that out," or some-

thing to that effect.

Q. Did you hear that voice say words to that

effect ? A. Yes, I did—very loud.

Q. To whom were the words spoken?

A. Helen answered the telephone.

Q. Did Helen say anything further to this at-

torney over the [117] phone?

A. There was conversation and Helen asked him

whether or not it was libelous and he told her it

was.

Q. Did he use exactly those words?

A. No, that is not a direct quote. I just recall

he informed her that they had a possible libel suit

on their hands.

Q. Just to refresh your memory, and I am look-

ing at my notes, did the attorney say or did Helen

Munson quote him as having said, ''It was libelous

as hell?"

Mr. Manders: Just a moment. I don't mind you

asking the question, but I do object to the leading

of the witness.

Mr. Nesbett: It was a matter of refreshing his

memory from notes here. Well, you can object to it

at the time of the trial.

Q. Does that

A. Well, he possibly said that sometime, but I
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don't recall exactly that except that it was very

strongly worded. It left nie with the ini])ressi()n that

Faulkner felt that the Enipii'e had committed a libel.

Q. Mr. Small, do you have any interest in the

outcome of this suit in any fashion?

A. No, I don't.

Q. I will ask you whether or not you overheard

any conversation between Beard and others concern-

ing this publication [118] of September 25?

A. Will you repeat that, please?

(Thereupon, the last question was read In'

the reporter.)

A. Yes, I know I did. I don't recall any exact

words, but I recall overhearing Daum and Beard

talking about it.

Q. I will ask you whether or not you overheard

Beard discussing this publication with Ed Coffey

and in your presence? A. This case?

Q. This publication? A. No, I did not.

Q. Well, I will ask you whether or not you over-

heard any conversation at all between Beard and

Ed Coifey subsequent to this publication and con-

cerning it?

A. Not subsequent to it, no, and not in reference

to this publication.

Q. Did you overhear any conversation between

Beard and Ed Coffey concerning the editorial pol-

icy and news reporting policy of the Empire as to

the Gruening administration?

A. I was a target of some conversation at one
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time between Coffey—or directed at me by Coffey

and Jim Beard about a month or so after I started

workinp,' for the EmTjire.

Q. And what was the nature of that target di-

rected towards you?

A. It was explained [119]

Mr. Manders : Just a minute. He said one month

after he started to work for the Empire which

Avould put him in about the month of April, 1952,

and this publication didn't take place until 1953, is

that right?

Mr. Nesbett: September of '52.

Mr. Manders : Some 6 months or 5 months later

and it is objected to as being too remote to connect

this editorial with such conversation.

Q. (By Mr. Nesbett) : What was that conversa-

tion, Mr. Small?

A. It was an explanation, forceful explanation,

I might say, by both men of the political situation

in Alaska and I was informed that there Avere 2 sides

and that the Empire was on one and the Gruening

machine was on the other and it concluded with the

remark that I recall today because it prejudiced

me against Ed Coffev to the effect that a smart bov

would know which side of his bread is buttered, or

words to that etfect. In other words, if I played

ball vdth the right people I would get somewhere

and if I didn't I would get nowhere. That was the

effect.

Q. Now, Mr. Small, do you recall overhearing

anv conversation between Mr. Beard and another
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person in Mr. J>eard's apartment afli r th.is ])iil)]i-

cation of Se])tember 25?

(Reading suspended.)

Mr. Nesbett: They mean '52 no doubt. [120]

(Reading- resumed.)

A. Yes, I do.

Q. State the circumstances and the nature of

that conversation?

A. Well, I don't recall the time. I I'ecall it was
([uite late at night and I don't even recall the busi-

ness I had for going up, but I was heading up for

another apartment and as I passed Jim Beard's

jipartment I heard loud voices and I stopped and
listened. I overheard some conversation that didn't

mean much to me except they were discussing' this.

Q. This what? A. This publication.

Q. Of September 25?

A. Yes. This was several weeks after this was
published and the voices were loud and angry and
the statement that I recall clearly was Jim Beard's

tlireat to some—whoever was in the apartment that

if he mentioned or published or made public some
letter that Beard would kill him.

Q. Did you hear anything further on that occa-

sion ?

A. I probably did, but I don't recall it now.

Q. Are you certain that their argument or

heated discussion was concerning this publication

of September 25, however ?
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A. Well, I am certain part of it concerned that

because [121] that was mentioned, but I don't know

whether it all concerned that.

Q. Now, can you state whether or not Governor

Gruening's reputation was injured by reason of

this publication of September 25?

A. I would say it was not permanently, perhaps,

but it was, at least to my knowledge, it was hurt

for the period aimed at hj the Empire and that

was the election period coming up in November.

Q. Can you state whether or not the reputation

of Henry Roden was damaged by reason of this

publication of September 25 ?

A. Well, Henry Roden appeared, from the in-

formation I gathered in my time in Juneau, to have

a very high reputation in the Territory and espe-

cially in Juneau and most of the conversations I

heard were directed at me expressed sorrow that

Henry had gotten himself mixed up in a thing like

this.

Q. Can you state whether or not the reputation

of Frank Metcalf was damaged by reason of this

publication of September 25?

A. I can only state that it is my opinion that it

was.

Mr. Nesbett: That is all.

By Mr. Manders:

(Reading suspended.)

Mr. Nesbett: Do you want to read that?

Mr. Faulkner : It doesn't matter, unless you want

me to.
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(Roadin.u- n'sunicd.)

Q. Mr. Small, you say you are now employed
by the Anchorage Times ^? A. Yes, I am.

Q. And how lono- have you been employed by
them? A. Since March 1st, 1953.

Q. 1953? A. Yes.

Q. Was that light after you left the Empire?
A. Yes, that was the day after.

Q. You mentioned a number of papers for whom
you worked? A. Yes.

Q. When you left those papers did you leave of

your own accord in each instance?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. And then you published papers of your own?
A. Not of my own. I have published papers as

editor. I have published 3 weekly newspapers, that

is, 3 periodicals for other owners.

Q. And when you left those papers what was the

reason ?

A. In one instance a union newspaper; I quit

])artially [123] because I wasn't in a type of posi-

tion that was pajdng me enough money; and for

the other reason that my wdfe and I wanted to move
to the West Coast. The other two were taken as

part-time jobs—not part-time jobs, but as tempo-
rary jobs and in one instance to do a favor for a

friend, that was at Eatenville, and in the other in-

stance to help out a man who asked me to go out

and do some trouble ^hooting for him. Incidentally,
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I have letters of reference from all my former

employers.

Q. Let me ask you this, Mr. Small: You have

testified that you were not familiar with Alaskan

politics at the time you came up here ? A. Yes.

Q. Now, on the papers you had previously

worked on or managed isn't it a fact that most

newspapers take a side one way or the other in

political matters ?

A. That depends on what you mean. Are you

talking about politics generally or on specific issues "?

Q. Different machines, let's say, as they are com-

monly known. One group opposed to another.

A. Not always, no.

Q. Did you work on newspapers that took one

side as opposed to another ?

A. If I may I will answer that this way : I have

worked on a paper that was Republican, which fa-

vored Republican [124] policies in general.

Q. Papers and the policies of those papers do

those things, do they not?

A. Some newspapers do, some don't.

Q. This Jack McFarland you mentioned, what

does he do now 1

A. I understand he is teaching school in Kake

or one of those little villages down in Southeast

Alaska.

Q. Is this the Jack McFarland you have stated

here who left the Empire and then did he go with

another newspaper ?
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A. He didn't \i,o with another newspaper. He
established the Jnneaii 1 iidepend(*nt.

Q. Is he with that Juneau Jnde})endent now'?

A. No. he isn't.

Q. And how loni;- was he with them, do you

know"?

A. I don't recall exactly. He had been gone for

a month or so, I suppose, when I first learned of it

by reading' an Independent, up here.

Q. Do you know who he established that with ?

A. Yes, Irvin Jensen and a printer whose name

1 can't recall right now.

Q. Was George Sundborg in that newspaper?

A. Not at that time, no.

Q. He is now?

A. He, as I understand it, now is the publisher

and principal stockholder, but I don't know that

for a fact. [125]

Q. Did I understand you correctly to state that

Helen took no part in the publication?

A. I didn't say she took no part. I said—you are

talking about this publication?

Q. Yes, prior to its publication.

A. I have no knowledge of her taking any part

in it except in that Helen was present there and

Helen generally tended pretty close to her business

in matters of publication, especially where they re-

ferred to the so-called Gruening Machine.

Q. Well, was there anything strange in a news-

paper taking sides politiealljr?

A. I would say no, there is nothing strange
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about a newspaper taking sides politically, but

there are extremes beyond which ethical nwespapers

don't go.

Q. I see. I understood you to state that Helen

never gave instiTictions in regard to this matter,

but expressed distaste for the Gruening Machine,

is that correct?

A. Helen has never given me any instructions to

do anything, but her attitude was expressed on

many occasions in conversations with me and in con-

versations I overheard that the Gruening Machine

could do no right and that

Q. Do you know the reason why she would have

any animosity, if you want to call it such, or feel-

ings toward the Gruening Machine ? [126]

A. I have her reasons, reasons expressed by

other people and reasons I arrived at myself.

Q. Was that by reason of her father having been

the former Governor ?

A. That is what it appeared to me and from

what I had heard people express around town. The

opinions they expressed was—the primary reason

for her antagonism towards the Governor was that

she considered he had ousted her father from the

Governor's chair. In fairness to Helen I will have

to say she vigorously denied that and said she op-

posed the Gruening Machine because she considered

it unethical.

Q. The evening you speak of being in the news-

room, w^hat was your occasion for being there?

A. It was common practice of mine to return
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to work at ni^ht and f'orni)l('te work on stories that

I hadn't linished durinii^ the day.

Q. By the way, have you discussed this case

with anyone prior to the taking of your deposition

here? A. Yes, I have.

Q. And with whom?
A. I have discussed it witli ni\' wife and I have

talked to the attorney here about the fact I was

going to—you are including any period from the

time of that publication on—T also discussed it with

Governor Gruening and at [127] that time he asked

me what my attitude was and I told him I thought

it was an underhanded blow and that I would be

willing to testify in a libel suit. That w^as after it

had been tiled. .

Q. After what?

A. After the libel suit had been filed I had a

conversation with Governor Giiiening which I told

him that.

Q. That was after he filed the libel suit?

A. Yes.

Q. Did he call upon you or did you call upon

him?

A. Neither actually. We met during the course

of my coverage of the Federal Building one day.

In other words, I went into his office on a matter

of business and we discussed this publication and

the libel suit.

Q. Was that conversation reported by you to

anyone in the Empire as to the fact that you would

testify in his behalf ?
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A. Well, it probably was discussed with some-

body, but if you are intimating or asking whether

or not I discussed it with Jim Beard or Helen

Munson the answer is no.

Q. Did Mr. McFarland quit the Empire or was

he dismissed?

A. To my knowledge he quit. I overheard him

tell Jim Beard and Helen Munson that he was

through and he made that threat several times be-

fore on similar arguments but hadn't carried them

out, this time he did, however. That [128] afternoon

Jim Beard, who apparently didn't know I had been

in the newsroom at that time, told me he fired Mc-

Farland.

Q. You made reference to a telephone conver-

sation between Helen Munson and a voice on the

telephone? A. Yes.

Q. And do you know positively whose voice that

was ?

A. If you mean did I recognize the voice, no,

but Helen Munson identified the voice as being that

of her attorney, Faulkner.

Q. And how did she identify that to you?

A. She didn't to me. She turned to Jim Beard

after the conversation and told him that Faulkner

thought it was a libelous publication.

Q. Faulkner thought it was a libelous publica-

tion, but that could have been by someone else.

A. You mean she was saying somebody else had

told her? No, the indication was she had just talked
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to l^^aiilkiicT and Faulkner was inroiTninj:: her of

this.

Q. Now, you have no interest in the outcome of

this?

A. Well, 1 answered no to that before. If you

mean pecuniary interest the answer is no.

Q. No, I didn't mean a monetary interest in any

sense of the word. Have you an interest in the out-

come of this litigation as to which way you would

like to see it terminated? [129]

A. I will put it this way: I have an Intercast in

seeing that justice is done and if this is a libelous

publication then I think it should be made known.

If it isn't, why, that is up to the court.

Q. Let me ask you this, Mr. Small: You have

been a reporter here on the Anchorage Times since

March 1,1953? A. Yes.

Q. And would you say that that newspaper im-

partially reports the news jjolitically in favor or

against one of the other parties as we know them

today? A. The Times?

Q. Yes.

A. I would say generally that it does, yes.

Q. Would you not say that it leans tow^ards the

Gruening Machine ? A. Its stories ?

Q. Yes.

A. Not in content, no, I wouldn't say they do.

Q. Would you say it leans in favor of the Re-

l)ublican party ? A. No, I would not.

Q. And what was this discussion you claimed to

have had with Ed Coffey?
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A. This was a discussion in which Ed Coffey and

Jim Beard were involved. I don't recall the exact

date except it was not too long after I came to work

for the Empire and [130] it was during the course

of a party in which a large number of people were

involved. We had left Helen Munson's house to go

over to Mike's place across the channel for dinner.

There was a woman in the cab and they stopped at

one of the hotels to let her get something and while

she was—during that interval Beard and Coffey

were attempting to impress on me the importance

of being on the right side and the political wars

that were in existence at that time down there.

Q. That was merely a matter of shop talk of

persuasion, wasn't it?

A. I certainly didn't consider it such. It affected

me to the extent that while—since that time I have

known of certain things that Ed Coffey has done

that I approved of, but I have been so prejudiced

against him from that conversation that I haven't

been able to regard Ed in a purely impersonal light

since then.

Q. What Ed Coffey are you talking about"?

A. The Ed Coffey who is an insurance agent

here in Anchorage and who, at that time at least,

was a member of the—I don't know the title—this

tourist

Q. Alaska Visitors Association? A. Yes.

Q. It is the Ed Coffey that lives here in Anchor-

age then? A. Yes. [131]

Q. And former Senator from this division?
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A. Yes.

Q. And it was that one coiivcrsatioii that preju-

diced you ai^ainst Mr. Coffey ? A. Yes, it did.

Q. Do you mean by that that you shouldn't have

loyalty to the person by whom you are employed?

A. That you should not?

Q. Or that you should?

A. I don't mean that. I don't quite understand

that question.

Q. That is what I am trying to find out. Just

what do you mean? Did lie mean that you should

])e loyal to the person who is employing you?

A. Do I mean what?

Q. You said Mr. Coffey said that you better go

along

A. Mr. Coffey was not in this. Incidentally, it

was not a two-sided conversation between Mr.

Coffey and myself. It included Jim Beard and

therc^ was no mention of loyalties as such. I was

being advised that for my own welfare I should

play along with the right people and I would get

somewhere in Alaska. If I didn't I would be gone.

Q. I see. And this evening that you refer to in

your testimony of a conversation at the apartment

of Jim Beard, you know that you heard loud voices

but you don't know [132] who the}^ were?

A. I know one was Jim Beard. I didn't recog-

nize the other.

Q. You don't know anyone else? A. Yes.

Q. Were you angry at the Empire when you
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were there? When I say the Empire I am speak-

ing of the publisher of this newspaper.

A. If you are speaking of personal anger the

answer is no. I have never been angry at Helen

Munson. I am not angry at her today. I like Helen

Munson as a person. In fact, it is unfortunate she

is being used as a tool by people with interests that

I don't think are parallel to hers and I only regret

that Helen has become involved in this sort of thing.

If 3^ou mean am I angry at the policies that were

practiced by the Empire the answer is, yes, I was.

I disagreed with them and

Q. Were you opposed to the policies from the

beginning? A. From the begiiming, yes.

Q. But you continued on? A. I did.

Q. Until the time you left?

A. That is right.

Q. Now, did you leave of your own accord?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. And what was your reason for leaving ? [133]

A. My primary reason was just what I have

stated—that I disagreed with them. The final trigger

was the fact I found employment elsewhere and my
wife had been pregnant the preceding period I had

been there, finally had given birth to our daughter

and I no longer felt the financial strain that I had

been under before.

Q. Let me ask you this, Mr. Small: Did you

leave because you weren't given certain assignments

or given a more responsible position?

A. No, I did not.
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Q. Yon (lid not?

A. J did not. In rcrcrence to that I mi<,dit say

licre that Jim Beard at one time promised me the

position of managiiii;- editor with the definite indi-

cation tliat it wonld he mine provided I j^layed ball.

(Reading sus])ended.)

The Conrt: Pardon me. We have gone a bit

overtime thinking that possibly we could conclude

this deposition. Is there nnich more of it?

Mr. Kay: There is still another ten or twelve

pages.

Mr. Nesbett: Still eight, nine, ten pages.

The Coui-t: I hesitate to impose on the jury so

long. We are fifteen minutes now overtime. It

would seem that we could continue that in the morn-

ing, so we will recess the case until 10:00 o'clock

tomorrow morning. [134]

(Whereupon, the jury was duly admonished,

and the trial was adjourned until 10:00 o'clock

a.m., November 16, 1955, reconvening as per

adjournment, with all parties present as here-

tofore and the jury all j^resent in the box;

whereupon, the trial proceeded as follows:)

The Court : We will resume the trial at this time

in the Empire Printing Company cases. You may
resume then the reading of the dei3osition of John

E. Small.

Mr. Nesbett: This w^as the deposition of John

E. Small taken by the plaintiffs in Anchorage,
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Small being tlie former employee of the Empire

and presently employed by the Anchorage Times.

The questions I was reading at adjournment yes-

terday were the questions put to Mr. Small by at-

torney John Manders of Anchorage, representing

the defendant Empire Printing Corporation. They

were not my questions.

Mr. Faulkner: What page?

Mr. Nesbett : We stopped at Page 30 at Line 16.

Mr. Faulkner: Thank you.

The Court: That is on cross-examination, in

other words.

Mr. Nesbett: This is on cross-examination. Mr.

Faulkner can be considered as having asked these

questions. Mr. Kay is representing Mr. Small in

making these responses, in reading the answers.

(Reading resumed.) [135]

Q. Now, I don't know if it's so important, but

you made some allusion or reference to the fact that

Jim Beard might be sitting in the Governor's chair.

That was, as I remember, after this publication.

A. Considerably after, I don't know the exact

date, but I can date it by saying it was at the time

of that ALCOA boom.

Q. x\t the time of the ALCOA entrance into

Alaska if he had gone into the area there—around

Haines or Skag'way ? A. Yes.

Q. Well, I guess Beard's ambitions were no

different than another hundred thousand in the

Territory were thev to be Governor?
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A. No, T wonldn't say tlicv wctc diffcT'cnt in that

respect.

Q. As a inattcT ol* fact, 1 inia,u,in(' you licai'd it

fi-oni a lot of people that were going to be Gov-

ernor ?

A. No, I didn't. That is the only man I ever

h(>ard make the statement that he might be Govei*-

nor some day.

Q. The only man that made a statement as such?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you hear of other people who thought

they would be Governor"?

A. Yes, I have heard they had that ambition.

Q. Plenty of them. Now the only persons I

understood you discussed this matter with were Mrs.

Small, your wife, [l'^6] Mr. Nesbett and Governor

Gruening ?

A. Well, no—did you say discussed my testi-

fying %

Q. Yes, this case ?

A. Oh, I think that there are probably others

—

Jack McFarland, I don't recall definitely discussing

it \vith him, but he was a friend of mine and un-

doubtedly I did at some time or another tell him I

was going to testify if it ever came to trial. And,

incidentally, Irvin Jensen, who is another member
of the Independent w^ho quit at the same time Mc-

Farland did for the same reason, I probably dis-

cussed it with him.

Q. Now% let me ask you this: Have vou anv
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intentions of leaving your present residence here

in Anchorage when this case comes to trial?

A. Eight now'?

Q. As it stands at the present day?

A. Eight now my plans for the future are a

little indefinite. My wife and I had been hoping

to get a year's leave of absence and attend the

University of Mexico, however, correspondence that

we received just recently indicates that those plans

won't develop and if they don't then we have no

plans for leaving.

Q. In other words, it is your intention to be

right here in the Territory ? A. Yes.

Q. Did I understand you to say the Universitj^

of Mexico? [137] A. Yes.

Q. Not New Mexico ? A. No. Mexico.

Q. By the way how old are you, Mr. Small?

A. 39.

Q. Let me ask you this question: Isn't it gener-

ally the run of the mill in newspaper offices for

reporters, editors and others to get together?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. And comment over the fact that they have

gotten a scoop, what they are trying to do, either

going to solve a murder or they are going to do this,

that and the other thing—I mean, there is usually

a feeling of working on a problem, isn 't there ?

A. No, not necessarily. When you get a scoop

you will probably discuss it over coffee conversa-

tions or bare conversations with your other members

of the editorial staff.
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Q. Now, just what coiivovsation did you Jiavo

with irdcu Munson

?

A. I be^ your pardon?

Q. Just what conversation did you have with

Helen ^lunson just shortly before or after this ])ub-

li cation that has been referred to as the publication

of September 25, 1952?

A. Well, I don't know what you are [138] get-

ting at.

Q. What were your conversation with her?

A. I have had many, many conversations with

Helen.

Q. I don't mean about automobile accidents

down the street, but in relation to this publication ?

A. None prior to the publication. After the

l)ublication I told Helen that Jim Beard had gotten

her into a lot of trouble; that that was a libelous

publication and it was at that time, I believe, or

just a few minutes after then that Jim Beard said

they could get around that l)y writing a retraction

in the following day's publication, which they did,

stating that it was not the intention of the previous

day's i^ublication to imply graft or corruption. I

told Helen that I thought that wouldn't do much

good. Helen was very much upset at that time and

Helen was angry with me.

Q. She was angry with you?

A. Yes, she was. Apparently she thought—

I

Y\"ill say that in any other matters besides Governor

Gruening Helen Munson was one of the nicest per-

sons I have known. When I attempted and I had

attempted during my time at the Empire, to discuss

that with her you just couldn't talk to her about
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that one subject. When you attempted to do so it

just led to anger on her part, as it did this time.

Q. Did she ever go into any details with you, or

generally, why her feelings towards Governor

Gruening was such as [139] it was?

A. Oh, yes. She has told me on various occasions

about the Gruening Machine; the graft and cor-

ruption which she said was perpetrated by that

machine, by Governor Gruening. She also brought

up the fact that she is aware of this feeling that

her antipathy arises from the feeling that Gruening

caused her father to be ousted from the Governor's

chair and she has brought that up and said that it

isn't so.

Q. And the Helen you are referring to in every

instance here is Helen Munson? A. Yes.

Q. And there is no question that there was

rivalry at all times between the Empire and

GiTiening 1

A. No question whatsoever. That was the first

thing I learned the day I got there.

Q. Since the time you came to Alaska—you

testified you knew nothing of the political situation

or Alaskan politics? A. No, I didn't.

Q. Since that time have you found out what they

are? A. Yes, I think I have.

Q. And is the same situation existing today as

was existent during the time you were, as to politics

now, with the Empire? [140]

A. Well, T don't know exactly what you mean by



Henry Roden, et at. 267

(Deposition of John E. Small.)

tliat. (Jovcrnoi- Oi'ucnin^^ was sul)S('(jU('ntIy de-

feat cd. Meteall' was

Q. Well, excepting when you say ''defeated'' you

mean not reappointed? A. Yes.

Q. Do yon find today there is a Gruening Ma-

chine and an Anti-(Jruening Machine?

A. 1 never found there was a (Jruening Macliine.

During my time there I found there was a Governor

Gruening who was administrator of the Territory

and that he had people working for him and people

who were in favor of him and his policies. I never

found any evidence that he had a machine, political

machine as I have been given to understand such

exists and to my knowledge none exists today. There

is a Democratic faction and a Republican faction.

There are a couple of them, I guess, in the Terri-

tory.

Q. At least there are enough factions?

A. Yes, that is tiiie.

Mr. Manders: That is all.

(Reading suspended.)

Mr. Nesbett: Questioning now

(Reading resumed.)

Q. (By Mr. Nesbett) : Mr. Small, when you

said, in response to one of Mr. [141] Manders'

questions, that you opposed the policies of the

Empire but continued to work there for some time
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what did you mean by the words "opposed poli-

cies"?

A. I meant that I considered not the Empire's

antagonism towards Gruening as being wrong, but

the editorial practices the}' used in attempts to unset

Gruening as being very unethical.

Q. Do you mean, in other words, the editorial

comments and news reporting was distorted in an

unethical manner in order to reflect upon Gruening

and his administrative officials'?

A. Yes, editorials were distorted, facts, stories

distorted and deliberately so to my knowledge.

Q. Xow, when you stated, also in response to

one of Mr. Manders' questions, that Jim Beard

had once told you that he would make you manag-

ing editor if you played ball did you understand

him to mean by "play ball" that you should con-

tinue to carry out that editorial policy of the

Empire ? A. Yes.

Mr. Manders: Just one minute. I didn't make

the statement about Jim Beard asking you to play

ball. I think that was your answer in response to

a question I asked you. A. Yes.

Mr. Nesbett : That was just the way I quoted it

I [142] think.

(Thereupon, the reporter read question line

17, page 36.)

Mr. Nesbett: I believe that is all.

Mr. Manders: Just a couple of questions.

(Reading suspended.)
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Mr. Nosbctt: Now, these are questions by Mr.

Manders on hclmlf of the defendant.

(Reading- resumed.)

Q. (By Mr. Manders) : Wliat is your feeling

toward the Emjjire? 1 am speaking of the news-

paper now.

A. Toward the newsi)aper? It is my feeling it

is a poor newspa})er as a journalistic enterprise.

Q. xVnd as to the people Avho operate it?

A. The people who operate if? I only know two

peoj^le who operate it now personally, Helen

Munson and I think Helen Munson, as J have said,

is a very fine j^erson with a fixation that is unfortu-

nate, as I have stated before. I know the man who

has the title, at least, of managing editor down

there, Bob Kedriek, who is, in my opinion, not

doing the job of newspapering that I expected him

to do down there. I have heard reports by the

grapevine that that isn't at all his fault that he is

not allowed to run the newspaper. He is a former

employee of the [143] News.

Q. My recollection is that you said that you (luit

of your own accord—the Empire? A. Yes.

Q. And was your reason for quitting there the

fact that you had been disappointed in your work

with them?

A. No, the reason I quit was that, as I stated,

the primary reason was that I disagreed with Em-
pire policies, I learned that those policies were not

going to be abated or were not going to cease ; that
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Jim Beard appeared at that time to be taking even

a stronger hold than he had had before on the

operation of the plant and I had asked Robert At-

wood, publisher of the Times, for employment here

and he told me, yes, I could come up here and go

to work. So my only reason for staying with the

Empire as long as I did was the fear of finding my-

self without funds or employment up here while

I had a pregnant wife. Those fears had been dis-

sipated and I had no further reason for staying

there.

Q. Then your reason for w^hatever feeling you

have against the Empire, whether it is one of ani-

mosity, would be by reason of the fact that you

didn't like their policies, is that it?

A. I object to the use of ^'animosity." I object

to the Empire today on the same ground I did be-

fore, on the [144] ground that they operate an un-

ethical newspaper.

Q. That the paper itself is an unethical news-

paper ?

A. The unethical operation. The journalistic

practices don't conform to my ideals of good im-

partial journalistic reporting.

Q. The real basis then is a difference in opinion

as to what you believe and what the policy is?

A. That is right. They apparently believe it is

all right to distort news. I believe that it isn't.

Q. And were there any differences by reason of

the personnel there?

A. Only indirectly in that at one time shortly
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before I quit I li.ul hecn uiven the impression that

Jim P>ear(l was on the way out and I liad reason

to believe then tbat Jack Daum, who was a good

news])aper man, was takinp: over and T had no ob-

jection to working- under him. I thought possibly

the practices that had been in effect there would

cease and shortly before I quit I was informed that

this was not going to be so and at that time Robert

Atwood happened to be in town so I asked him for

a Job and was given a job.

Q. The editor of the Anchorage Times was in

Juneau at that time?

A. He sto])ped in Juneau on his way some-

where from the states.

Q. You asked him? [145]

A. Yes, I met him at the hotel and asked him.

Q. To place you on his paper and he agreed

to it? A. Yes.

Q. And at that time he knew you were still with

the Empire?

A. I was still with the Empire, yes.

Mr. Manders : I think that is all.

Mr. Nesbett: That is all.

(Reading suspended.)

Mr. Nesbett: And in the back of the deposition,

ladies and gentlemen, is a correction which Mr. Small

later requested to have inserted and made a part of

the deposition, so he w^ent to the reporter's office,

the reporter who took this in shorthand and tran-

scribed it, and dictated the following: "Anchorage,
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Alaska, April 25, 1955. To Whom It May Concern

:

"I desire to correct testimony given in my depo-

sition on x\pril 15, 1955, regarding causes Henry

Roden, Plaintiff, vs. Empire Printing Company,

Defendant; Ernest Omening, Plaintiit, vs. Empire

Printing Company, Defendant; and Frank A. Met-

calf, Plaintiif, vs. Empire Printing Company, De-

fendant; Nos. 6725-A, 6726-A and 6727-A, respec-

tively, to be changed as follows:

"Page 39 of the deposition, regarding how and

when I was hired by Robert Atwood, in my testi-

mony I answered the [146] question as to whether

or not he hired me there and then and I answered,

'^Yes," which is not the truth. He told me he would

have to discuss it with his managing editor and

probably a week or two after that I called him up by

long distance telephone and asked him again and

at that time he told me to come on up." Signed,

"John Small."

(Reading concluded.)

Your Honor, at this time I should like to publish

the deposition of Neil Moore taken at my request

in Juneau in Mr. Faulkner's office, the original of

which is in the Court's file.

The Court: Very well. You wish that to be read

in the same manner as the other deposition?

Mr. Nesbett : If your Honor please, yes.

The Court: That is the proper procedure and

may be done.

Mr. Nesbett: Deposition of Neil F. Moore taken



ncnrn l^odcu, ct al 273

on October 10, 1!).");"), at Juneau, Alaska. Apy)ear-

auct's: Buoll A. Ncsbett, Attorney foi* T^laintiffs;

TL L. Faulkner, ol' Attorneys for Defendant. "Neil

V. Moore beinu' first duly swoi-n upon oatli de])oses

as follows: By Mr. Nesbett:"

(Whereu] )()]!, tbe deposition of Neil F. Moore

was r(^ad as follows—questions by Mr. Nesbett

and answers by Mr. Kay:)

(Reading.)

DEPOSITION OF NEIL MOORE

Q. Your name is Neil Moore, is it not?

A. Neil F. Moore. [147]

Q. And up until very recently you were Auditor

of the Territory of xllaska, were you not?

A. That is right.

Q. And you were Auditor on September 25, 1952,

were you not, Mr. Moore? A. Yes.

Q. And for some time prior to that date?

A. Since December 15, I think, of 1950.

Q. Now, Mr. Moore, you are familiar in general

with the front page of the Daily Alaska Empire

which was printed on September 25, 1952—the basis

of these suits—are you not?

A. I remember that.

Q. Concerning the ferry fund and so forth?

A. Yes.

Q. Mr. Moore, did you know^ that the special

ferry fund, so-called, existed prior to September

25, 1952?

A. I don't remember the exact dates. It was
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called to my attention by one of the crew members

and we got in touch at that time with the Attorney

General's office, but I don't remember what date it

was.

Q. Was that crew member one Steve Homer ?

A. I guess that is his name. Steve Homer Lars-

son.

Mr. Faulkner: Steve Larsson Homer.

Q. As Auditor, Mr. Moore, you knew that the

Ten-itory had [148] purchased the Chilkoot Ferry,

did you not?

A. Oh, I was well aware of that; yes.

In fact, you authorized the payment of the pur-

chase price, did you not?

A. When they bought the ferry, yes; the boat

itself.

Q. And that was something over a year prior to

September 25, 1952, wasn't it?

A. I don't remember just what the dates are.

Q. It was a considerable time prior to September

25 of 1952 ?

A. It could have been a year, all right.

Q. And you knew also that the Territory,

through the three members of this Board, was

operating the ferry, did you not?

A. Yes. It is part of the road extension, as it

was claimed.

Q. Yes. As a matter of fact, the voucher pay-

ments for the salaries and expenses of the operation

of the ferry passed through your office and Avere

subject to your approval, were they not?
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A. They were sup])osed to.

Q. Well, as a matter of fact, tlicv did, did they

not .''

A. Well, the way I remember it, not all oi' them

did.

Q. Now, 1 will ask you whether or not the

\'ouchers that did i)ass through your offiee and

a[)proved by you and paid, were not vouchers for

pa^^nent of the expenses out of the Motor Fuel

Tax Fund? [149]

A. That was where they were supposed to have

been paid from.

Q. Now, you were well aware that voucliers for

the expense of operating this feriy wdiieh were

being paid out of the Motor Fuel Tax Fund did not

pass through your office for a number of months

prior to September 25 of 1952, were you not?

A. I was aw'are of it?

Q. Yes.

A. I don't recall. I think maybe it came to my
mind now and then, but the reasons for holding

them up, paying them some other way, were not

brought to my attention. I didn't know what was

liorag on.

Q. Well, as Auditor, when the vouchers for the

payment of the expenses of the ferry failed to come

through your office, didn't you inquire as to how
the expenses were being met? A. No.

Q. You made no effort whatsoever to learn that

fact?

A. It wasn 't my business to. We had expenses of
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the Territory come in maybe five or six years after

the expenditure was entered into.

Q. Ordinarily during the time the Territory

owned and operated the Chilkoot Ferry, the vouch-

ers had passed through your office regularly every

month, had they not, to pay the crew and so [150]

on?

A. As I recall, I think some of them did, that

is right, and if they did, I wouldn't have been too

particularly concerned about other bills because I

wouldn't know if they had any on tap or not.

Q. Didn't you, after such vouchers discontinued

to come through your office, make any investigation

as to why they were not coming through?

A. I don't think they were discontinued. The

regular salary vouchers, as I remember, came

through every month, if I remember rightly. This

particular check that was brought to me was not a

salary check in the regular sense of the word. It

was an overtime payment check. I think that was

what it was, and there were two things wrong with

it: One was that it did not go through the Auditor's

office, and the other was that the Territory did not

recognize overtime payments. They still don't

—

overtime, that is.

Q. Was that check presented to you for pay-

ment ?

A. No, it was just given to me and I was asked

what about it, and I asked where he got it and he



ITni I'll linden, ct al. 277

(Deposit ion oCNeil F. Moore.)

Just said it was I'o]- (n^ertinic I said wlierc did lie

get it and he said that was tin* way he was ])aid, ;nid

T said yon can't be paid tlial way, so he asked me
wliat to do with it and 1 said to leave it with me,

he did, and J took it to the Attorney General's

office, and what ha])pened to it after tliat F don't

recall. That is what started it, anyw'ay. [151]

Q. Is it your testimony that that was the first

knowledj2:e you had of the existence of this fund?

A. That was the first knowledge 1 had that

money was being paid from this fund.

Q. Was that the first knowdedge you had that

this fund existed?

A. As I recall, the money collected by the var-

ious agents of the Chilkoot w-as put into the bank

account, which w^as perfectly all right, according

to the Attorney General, but wdien they started

paying expenses out of it, that is where the wrong

arose. You see, even right today the Department of

Taxation, for example, will deposit money into a

bank in their own name and then at the end of

the month they will get a cashier's check and trans-

mit the money to the Treasurer or to their head

office.

Q. Well, then, how long prior to Mr. Homer's

visit to your office were you aware that this fund

existed ?

A. That I do not know. I did finally find out

about it, but there was nothing we could do about

it so long as money was not spent; assuming they

are Territorial ex]oenses, that is. As soon as we
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found that out, we took it immediately to the At-

torney General. I didn't fiddle around with it.

Q. As a matter of fact, j^ou knew the fund ex-

isted for many months prior to September 25 of

'52, didn't you? [152]

A. Well, I could have, so long as money was just

]:>ut there and turned over to the Treasurer, but I

don't remember if they actually turned any money

over to the Treasurer or not. But so long as they

didn't spend it, it was supposedly Territorial money

and would be eventually turned over to the Treas-

urer.

Q. Did you know how the expenses and wages

in connection with the operation of the ferry were

being paid ?

A. As you pointed out to me, I was paying some

of the expenses, the regular salary expenses and I

don't recall what other expenses were paid, but as

long as some were being paid, I was in no position

to know if all of them were being paid or not.

Q. At a time long prior to September 25 of '52

all such vouchers ceased to come through your

office, did they not? A. I don't remember.

Q. You don't remember?

A. I don't remember. I

Q. Did you know that a special meeting had

been held by Gruening, Metcalf and Roden, with

the Attorne}^ General, in connection with establish-

ing this fund ?

A. That I do not know either, but I will say

this, that if there was such a meeting held, I don't
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think any authoTization was given to that Board to

spend money ont oT it, ))eeause it was liis opinion

to me that it eould not be [153] done.

Mr. Faulkner: Wliose opinion?

A. The Attorney General's. He was tlie one

who helped me when I brought it to their attention.

Q. You don't know that at that meeting that I

referred to the Attorney General was present and

approved the establishment of the fund?

A. No ; it was never called to my attention.

Q. Now, why did Mr. Steve Homer bring this

cheek which is I'eproduced on the front page of the

Alaska Empire on September 25 to your office, do

you know?

A. I don't know. I don't know why he brought

it to me, but he did. I didn't take the check. I

asked him if he would leave it and he said yes, and

that is how I got my hands on it.

Q. Did you give him any money for the check ?

A. No.

Q. You just asked him to leave it there, is that

correct ? A. Yes.

Q. AMiat did you do then ?

A. I took it up to the Attorney General's office.

Q. Did you call Governor Gruening or Henry

Roden or Frank Metcalf about it ? A. No.

Q. Why didn't you? [154]

A. Because I didn't think they should be con-

cerned with it. I took it to the Attorney General

and then if he w-anted to talk to them, fine and

dandy. I don't know, maybe he did.
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Q. Ordinarily in a case like that, if you thoiiglit

disbui*sement5 were not being properly made,

wouldn't you take it up \^'ith the officials concei-ned

fil'St?

A. In that case. no. because it was not a payment

according to law and it should have gone right di-

rectly to the legal officer, the Attorney General, and

that is where it went.

Q. How did you know from looking at the check

that it was a payment not according to law?

A. It wasn't a Territorial waiTant, to begin with.

and it was signed by—I don't know what his title

was—skipper of the Chilkoot Feriy. Mr. Steve

Larsson Homer.

Mr. Faulkner: It was signed by Bob Coughlin.

A. That is right, the pui'ser. but Mr. Homer
brought it to me and he said this is for overtime pay

on the ferry. Well, the feny wasn't chartered out

or imder contract to anyone—the Territory w:^

actually running the feny.

Q. TThy did JSlr. Homer bi*iug the check to you ?

A. I don't know. I don't know why he brought

it to me. He could have just as well taken it to the

Attorney Genei"al himself. [155]

Q. Did you call the Behrends Bank and ask

them what the Chilkoot Feny Fimd was aU abou

A. I don't know whether I called them lig'^

then or waited until the Attorney General and I

talked it over, but we did go down, that is, the At-

tomev Genei-al and I.

I
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Q. And you never at any time called any of the

three members of the Board, the plaintiffs in these

cases? A. I never did no.

Q. As a matter of fact, you were not on speak-

ing terms with most of them, were you?

A. I had to be. We were on the same boards.

Q. Well, ordinarily, wouldn't you have con-

tacted them and said, "What's cooking here"?

A. Xo. I didn't do it in the other case.

Q. Which other case ?

A. The Treasurer's defalcation. I went directly

to the Attorney General.

Q. Well, now, didn't you also go to the Daily

Alaska Empire on that day or the following day?

A. Xot that I recall.

Q. Well, you did go there in connection with

this matter, didn't you?

A. I think they came to me, if I recall correctly.

Q. Don't you recall going to their office with this

check? A. To their office? [156]

Q. Yes.

A. Xo. I didn't take the check down there.

Q. Did you call them about the check to visit

you in your office?

A. I don't think I even had the check when they

came to talk to me about the story. I think I

turned it directly over to the Attorney General. I

don't recall, though.

Q. Then you could have not remembered at this

date is that vour testimonv?
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A. No ; I think I took it right straight up to the

Attorne,y General's office.

Q. And with whom did you talk there?

A. John Dimond, the Assistant Attorney General.

Q. Was Mr. Williams in?

A. He wasn't even in town, if I remember

rightly.

Q. And did you cause this Chilkoot Ferry Fund

in the Behrends Bank to be frozen?

A. The Assistant Attorney General, John Di-

mond, and I both did ; we both went down together.

Q. Did John Dimond actually take part in dis-

cussion with the bank and tell them to freeze the

fund, that it was illegal?

A. We were both there and we just pointed out

to them that these were Territorial expenses being

paid in an illegal manner, and that was it. I don't

know whether we told [157] them to freeze it or not,

but they automatically would.

Q. Now, if I told you that John Dimond denies

having anything to do with freezing the fund, would

you still testify as you just have ?

A. I don't recall whether we told the bank to

freeze it or not. We just told them it was illegal to

make payments from it.

Q. You told them that, didn't you?

A. We both did, I think.

Q. Well, you knew that if the fund was frozen

that there would be no money to pay the employees

or expenses of the ferry?
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A. It would come out oi.' the Gas Tax money.

That is where all of it sliould have been paid from.

Q. Didn't you call any ol' the members of that

l^oai'd and say ''there is an incorrect procedure

here and let's get it straightened out''?

A. No.

Q. Why didn't you?

A. I took it to the Attorney General.

Q. In the interests of harmony and permitting

the Territory to smoothly operate the ferry, you

should have gone to one of the three to straighten

it out peacefully, shouldn't you?

A. The matter, as I recall, was thrashed out

before and the [158] device used was the same de-

vice used by the former Treasurer. There was a

special account and illegal payments from it, and

they were just as well aware of it as 1 was.

Q. This Chilkoot Ferry Fund check was signed

by Coughlin, wasn't it? A. Yes.

Q. And the members of the Highway Board or

the operators of the feny had nothing to do with the

checking account, that is, to check on it, did they?

A. I don't imagine that Bobby Coughlin would

have ever signed the checks without authority. He
must have had some authority some place.

Q. I am not questioning Coughlin 's authority.

I am saying that he was the one in whose trust the

account was made; isn't that correct?

A. As I understand, he deposited the money
in it and he also drew the checks on it, but in both

cases I don't see him doino- that without anv au-
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thority from some source, some place. He could have

just as well deposited it in the Territorial Treasury

and submitted the vouchers for the payment of his

crew and his expenses in regular order.

Q. From the Motor Fuel Tax Fund'?

A. From the Motor Fuel Tax Fund, yes, just

like some of them were. [159]

Q. Isn't it a fact, Mr. Moore, that you were

bitterly opposed to Gruening and most of the officials

serving under him at that time?

A. You mean personally or in a business way?

Q. Both.

A. Well. I imagine there were one or two that

I wasn't compatible with, but we all had our dif-

ferences in the way we did things, but I didn't have

any animosity towards HeriTy Eoden, and I don't

think I had any at the time toward Frank Metcalf

.

I did with Gruening because of the way that things

had happened before. I didn't have any love for

Gruening and he had none for me.

Q. As a matter of fact, you were very unfriendly

toward Metcalf practically from the time you both

took office, weren't you?

A. I don't know where you got that information,

but that isn't true.

Q. Didn't your animosity toward Frank ^Tct-

calf commence on or about the day you called him

and asked him to come down to visit you in your

office and he said to come up to his office if you

wanted to visit; do you recall that?
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A. No, T don't recall tlmt. Do you kiiow of any

of the conversation lliat took i)lacef

Q. r am asking you if you do.

A. Well, if you eould tell me a little bit [IGO]

Q. ^\'e]l, I told you oC tlie iucident. Do you

iveall \U

A. AViien I called him to eonie up and see me?

Q. Yes.

A. And he said come do\\ii and see liim

Q. Oi* words to that effect.

A. No, T don't remember that. The only time I

was ever called down to his otlice—no, if T did, I

don't recall wlu^n it was.

Q. Didn't that feeling you have for Metcalf

deepen after the incident in August of 1951 when

you disapproved a $5.00 expense item that he had

incurred in connection with Governor Dewey's

visit here?

A. No, I don't think so. I don't remember, but

I don't think so.

Q. A"ou recall that incident ?

xV. Yes, I remember it.

Q. A^Tien you told him that Democrats had no

business paying expenses of Republicans?

A. That's right, or words to that effect—^par-

ticularly when it was not Territorial business.

]Mr. Nesbett : I think that is all.

Bv Mr. Faulkner:

(Reading suspended.)

Mr. Nes])ett: These questions then were pro-
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pounded by Mr. Faulkner on cross-examination of

Mr. Neil Moore, the [161] Auditor.

(Reading resumed.)

Q. Neil, when you went to the Behrends Bank

to tell them that this ferry fund set up there was

illegal or was wrong, you say Mr. Dimond went

with you, the Assistant Attorney General"?

A. Yes. It Avas a highly technical thing, and I

wanted him with me down there. In fact, I asked

him to go with me.

Q. Did Mr. Dimond say that you were wrong

about it or did he make any objection to what you

were doing at the bank when you went down there?

A. No, no ; if I recall rightly, I asked him if it

was right or wrong and he said it was wrong. But

I think we both had two different things in mind.

I had the deposit of the money in mind there, and

he may have had the thought in mind that the with-

drawal of the money to pay Territorial expenses

w^as wrong.

Q. Now, under the law you had an interest in

this matter as Auditor?

A. For instance, as soon as any of the money

was being spent for Territorial expenses, yes. As

far as the deposit was concerned, no; that was the

Treasurer's.

Q. That proportion was supposed to be turned

over to the Treasurer as the law requires ?

A. Yes. [162]
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Q. As Auditor y(Mi, by law, were roquirod to

sei'utinizc all ])ayni('iits ol' all xouchers?

A. Yes.

Q. That was your interest in tin's matter?

A. That's rio-ht.

Q. When this s])e('ial bank aecount was elosed,

do you remember liow mueli was in it?

A. No, T don't. Tt seems to me it was two or

three thousand dollars, but I don't recall.

Q. You don't recall. Vou don't recall whether

it was two, three or t(Mi thousand .^

A. It seems to me it w^asn't above the ten thou-

sand mark, but T don 't remember.

Q. All right, if you don't remember, that is all

right.

Now, let's go back to this check of Steve Homer's.

Is it a fact that Steve brought this check to you

after that bank account had been closed and that

the reason he brought it to you was that he could

not cash it?

A. No, he brought it to me—I don't know why
he brought it to me, as a matter of fact, but the

Assistant Attorney General and I went dow^n there

and the account, as I recall it, was still active.

Q. Didn't Steve Homer bring- the check to you
afterward because he couldn't get it cashed? If you
remembei'—if you don't remember, why just say

so. [163]

A. Now that you mention those things, it seems
like there was something there, why he brought it

to me.
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Q. Yes, othermse he would just take it up there

and cash it. Isn't it a fact that he took it there

and couldn't cash it, and brought it to you to see

Avhat was the matter? A, I don't remember.

Q. He would rememl^ier that. A. Yes.

Q. Now, Neil, when this article ajopeared in the

Empire, or before it appeared, did the reporter

come to you for this story? He quotes you in the

paper as telling' about the account.

A. The story came out after I had written to

the Attorne}^ General about it.

Q. And your letters to the Attorney General

were published in the same issue? A. Yes.

Q. In that same issue there was an interview

with Roden and Metcalf, the plaintiffs, about the

setting up of this fund and the payments out of the

fund. Do you recall that?

A. Was it in the Empire?

Q. Yes. A. No, I don't recall that. [164]

Q. Do you recall any remark that Frank Met-

calf made that it vras a bookkeeping trick to avoid

going through the regular procedure of the Audi-

tor's office?

A. That was told me to. That was what was

told to me; yes.

Q. To avoid going through the Auditor's office?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, Neil do you know—the law requires,

does it not, that the accounts of the Territory be

audited by a firm of public accountants once each

vear?
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A. x\t that time it was at least once each I'i-

onninm.

Q. IJieiiiiiuni :* .\. 1 think it was.

Q. Now, at the end of the bienninni concerned,

was thcTe a firm of auditors employed to audit the

TeiTitory's accounts?

A. Ves; Ai-thur Anderson and Company.

Q. Arthur Anderson and Company; of Seattle?

A. Yes.

Q. They made and filed a report inchiding a re-

])(^rt of this fund? A. Yes.

O. And did they find there a shortage in the

fund ? A. Yes.

Q. Something over three hundred dollars?

A. T think it Avas three hundred dollars

even. [165]

Q. Three hundred and a few cents. A. Oh.

INfr. Faulkner: If it is agreeable with you, Mr.

Nesbett, T would like a recess now until eight

o'clock. There are only a few more questions I

Avould like to ask at that time.

:\rr. Nesbett: All right.

(Mr. Moore being previously sworn, con-

tinued his testimony at 8:00 o'clock p.m.)

(Reading suspended.)

Mr. Nesbett: Resimiing questioning by Mr.

Faulkner on cross-examination of Neil Moore.

(Reading resiuned.)
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Q. (By Mr. Faulkner) : Neil, this copy of the

Empire of September 25—have you looked over

that since we adjourned at five o'clock?

A. Yes.

Q. September 25, 1952. Now, in the articles

regarding the feriy, where they give the facts here

about the setting up of the account, did you give

those facts to Jack Daum, who wrote the article?

A. I don't rememl)er if it was Jack Daum or

not, but if it were, yes, I did. He came in and

asked various questions and he was answered.

Q. And he was the reporter for the [166]

Empire ? A. Yes.

Q. And this copy of the letter that you wrote

to the Attorney General, did you give him that too,

that Avas published in the paper?

A. He asked for it and he was given a copy of

it, or he copied it, I don't know which.

Q. Now, in connection with the ferry and the

payments from the so-called ferry account, were

there some payments made to aliens on that boat?

A. Well, that is what I learned, and that was

one of the things that was wi'ong, that you have to

l)e a citizen to work for the Territory.

Q. Yes.

A. And any payments to an alien, well, that was

entirely wrong, illegal payment.

Q. Illegal payment. Now, with reference to the

Oscar Olson account, you refer in this letter to the

Attornev General to the Oscar Olson case. In what
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j-cspect was that siiriilar—you say it was similar

—

(lid Olson sot up a soparato aocoiint?

A. Tt was a j)arall('l case in that in both cases

tlierc was a separate account set up and money

^vithd.rawn from tliat account.

Q. Yes; and now we refer to the Anderson re-

j)ort, wliicli you talked about here before five o'clock,

where they audited [167] the Territorial accounts

and in the portion of the report on the feny ac-

count, you say they showed a shortage of three

hundred dollars and some cents?

A. Yes, that's right.

Q. What period did that report cover?

A. Well, the audit by Arthur Anderson and

Company was for the biennium ending December

31, 1952.

Q. That would be the years 1951 and '52?

A. That's right.

Q. Up to the end of December of 1952?

A. That's right.

Mr. Faulkner: I think that's all.

(Reading suspended.)

i\lr. Nesbett: Questions

(Reading resumed.)

Q. (By Mr. Nesbett) : What facts do you refer

to, Mr, Moore, when you say you gave the facts to

Mr. Daum?
A. The facts regarding the handling of the

Chilkoot Ferry money, the Territorial money.
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Q. Which article would that be reported in. the

feature article on the right-hand side '?

A. Yes.

Q. entitled "Gruening, Metcalf, Roden Di-

vert 'Chilkoot' Cash to Private Bank Account"?

A. Yes. That deal—when they came up to me
they asked me what I had found out and what we

had done, and those are the facts we gave them, that

is, I gave them.

Q. Did you give them these facts, namely the

leader here entitled ''Gruening, Metcalf, Roden

Divert 'Chilkoot' Cash to Private Bank Account"?

A. No, T didn't give them those exact words.

The wording that I used is more or less in the

letter that is published there too.

Q. Did 3^ou give them the wording farther on

down in that article in the second sentence of the

subheading, entitled "Illegal Payments," the sen-

tence which says, referring to the fund, "Into it

have gone the receipts from the operation of the

ferry, which was purchased by the Territory in

May, 1951, and there have been thousands of dollars

of illegal recepits and disbursements recorded in

the fund to date, Moore charged."

A. I don't think I said "illegal receipts," but

it was illegal payments.

Q. The receipts were not illegal, in your opinion,

Avere they?

A. No, the receipts they deposited according

to the Attorney General, but according to the At-

torney General's opinion, the receipts could not be
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deposited in the l);u)k ])ui in tlic General Fund

only, so if I did say that, I had in mind the At-

torney General's opinion, which T pointed ont [lOf)]

in the letter, too.

Q. Bnt it isn't yonr opinion and yon didn't say,

as far as yon recall A. To the re])orter ?

Q. That there have been thonsands of dollars

of illegal receipts ?

A. No, it couldn't be termed that way, because

the receipts were perfectly legal. It was the deposit

of the money that was ille.i»aL

Q. Well, then, you didn't tell them how to write

this feature article on the right-hand side of the

page, did you ? You gave them certain facts

Mr. Faukner: I object to that. That isn't what

I asked him. I asked hiin if he gave them the facts.

I don't claim that he wrote the article or used the

language that is in the article.

Mr. Nesbett: I know that, Bert, but I am just

bringing it out.

Mr. Faulkner: Yes.

(Reading suspended.)

Mr. Nesbett: Questioning resumed by Mr. Nes-

bett.

(Reading resumed.)

Q. You didn't have anything to do with Wn^

drafting or the setujj of this article at all, did you,

Mr. Moore?

A. No, I didn't have anything to do Avith the
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writing of the [170] story ; no. I just gave them the

information that they asked for and that was it.

Q. And no proof of the story was given to you

for checking before they published the same, was

it?

A. No, I don't recall that. They may have called

me up occasionally and verified certain facts, to see

if they had them correct or not.

Q. They called you quite often, didn't they?

A. Yes, in fact up until I resigned here a couple

of weeks ago they were up every day to the office.

They visit all the offices, all the reporters.

Q. Now is it your testimony now that monies

were paid out of this fund to aliens ?

A. Some of the money was; yes.

Q. Do you know who those aliens were?

A. Their names? No, I don't.

Mr. Faulkner: I think we can furnish that. I

have another witness who will be at the trial.

Q. Was Steve Homer an alien ?

A. No. Do you mean foreign-born, not a natural-

ized citizen?

Q. Well, you used the word ''alien." Under 1

your definition, Avould he be an alien? A. No.

Q. At the time Steve Homer brought that check

into you. you knew of no other payments out of

that fund to other [171] people, did you?

A. Not until that check was brought to my at-

tention.

Q. Well, as a matter of fact, you didn't know

any payments had been made out of that fund to
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aliens at the time you nislicd up to tlie Attorney

rMMieral's office, did you'?

A. At that time—I don't know whetlici- it was

>)efore or after. I don't recall now.

Q. Well, Steve Homer's check was the first

clieck ))rought to your attention drawn on this

Chilkoot Feny Fund, wasn't it*?

A. That's what I recall; yes.

Q. Well, if any previous checks bad been drawn

to your attention, you would remember them,

wouldn't you?

A. Yes, I would have done the same thing- as

T did now.

Q. All right. Tben Steve Homer's check, we

can assume, is the first check that came to your

attention, is that right?

A. We assume it
;
yes.

Q. And up to that time naturally you didn't

know any funds had been paid out to aliens, would

you ?

A. No, it w^asn't until afterwards that I heard

about it.

Q. That wasn't your reason then for going to

the Attorney General in the first place, w-as it?

A. No ; in the first place

Q. Now^, with respect to Oscar Olson, what type

accomit did [172] he have that ^vas, as you term, a

separate account?

A. It w^as money established in a separate ac-

count in the bank wiiich was not authorized by an}'

law.
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Q. Which bank? A. Behrends Bank.

Q. What was the name of the account ?

A. I don't know if it was in his name or the

Treasurer's name, but money was diverted into

that account and he drew checks on it, personal

checks on it.

Q. Well, actually, as a matter of fact, it was in

the Treasurer's name, wasn't it?

A. I don't remember how he had it set up in

the bank.

Q. Well, if you can't remember what type ac-

count he had, how can you say it was a parallel

case?

A. Well, when the Auditors found it, it showed

it.

Q. Showed what?

A. Showed that he had a special account in the

bank.

Q. What was the special account?

A. It was a de^dce that he was using.

Q. What was the name of the account? How
did he use it?

A. He used it for any jDurpose he saw fit.

Q. Well, what title did he give these checks to

allow the bank to determine which one to charge?

A. I think some were just charged—written

—

Oscar G. Olson, if I remember righth^ As a matter

of fact, some were [173] not signed by him but by

his holp, ''Oscar G. Olson by so and so."

Q. Then the account had no particular title,

is that right? A. I don't know.
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Q. Well, now, where do you ^et this wordinc:,

"})arallel ease"? What are you trying: to do, justify

in your testimony the statement in the Empire that

the ease closely parallels that of Oscar Olson and

so on?

A. No. I wrote that in my letter to the Attorney

General so that he would know exactly what we
had discovered, that it was another device similar

to the one that the former Treasurer had used, that

they had a fund which no one could touch except

the Treasurer, no one could draw a check on it

except the Treasurer. The same way with the other

one. The Chilkoot Ferry Fund was the same iden-

tical thing. Nobody could draw money out of that

except wdio was told to.

Q. Except who v/as told to—what do you mean ?

A. Well in this case apparently it was j3obby

Coughlin who was told that he could draw checks

on that fund.

Q. Well, as a matter of fact, Bobby Coughlin

was the only one authorized to draw any checks

on it, wasn't he?

A. That's what I said. He must have had

authority to do so.

Q. But he was the only one authorized to draw
checks on that fund? [174]

A. I don't know if he was or wasn't.

Q. You don't know?
A. If he was the only one who was authorized

to draw checks on it.
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Q. Well, didn't you look into the fund to deter-

mine whether you were going to close it or not ?

A. We closed it because they Avere paying Terri-

torial expenses illegally.

Q. How can you say that it paralleled the Oscar

Olson situation if you didn't even look into it to

see who was authorized to draw checks on the fund ?

A. That is another problem, but checks were

being drawn on this particular fund, by Bobby

Coughlin in this case. In the other case Oscar Olson

was drawing funds out of a special fund. So 3^ou

have two special funds—one was handled by the

Treasurer and one by the Road Board, and one is

being drawn on by the Treasurer to pay everything

and anything that he saw fit. The same thing on

the other side—it is a parallel case.

Q. No check was ever drawn on this fund by

Metcalf, Roden or Gruening, Avas it?

A. I don't know.

Q. Well, didn't you look to see?

A. I only saw the one check.

Q. Well, then, how can you say it was a parallel

case? [175]

A. It was a device. The device was similar in

both respects, in ])oth cases. I told the Attorney

General that here was a case similar to the one that

had just been cleaned up.

Q. If the checks had been drawn on the Motor

Fuel Tax earmarked Fund, you would have ap-

proved the vouchers, wouldn't you, for operating

the ChiJkoot Ferry?
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A. Yes, if thoy were legal.

Q. Tlie cliecks drawn on this rund were used

to pay the same ex])enses, were they not?

A. Yes, ]3ut tliere is a law that says they eouldn 't

do it.

Q. Well, then, how can you eall this special

device similar to Olson's?

A. Because it l)y-passed the channels that were

set up by the Legislature for the payment of Terri-

torial expenses, the same way on the other side.

Q. Well, what grounds did you have for stating

that this paralleled the Olson case in imyniting

fraud? A. Who had control over it?

Q. Did you know? A. No, I didn't know.

Q. But you immediately went out and said it

closely paralleled the

A. That's right; it did.

Q. You would have done almost anything to

bring the Gruening group into disrepute, wouldn't

you have? [176]

A. I didn't have to do anything. They did it

all by themselves.

Q. You did all this, though, to do it, didn't you?

A. Well, I called a halt to it; yes. I didn't do

it by myself. I had the Attorney General with me.

Q. Now, you say the Attorney General approved

it, did he? A. What?

Q. John Dimond, you say, the Assistant Attor-

ney General A. To stop it?

Q. Yes. A. He was right with me.

Q. Did he do it? A. What?
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Q. Did he do it? A. Did he do what?

Q. Did he cau?e the funds to be frozen and stop

payment

A. He was with nie when we talked to the bank.

That stopped the funds from being spent.

Q. But 3^ou were the one who told the bank to

close the fund or freeze it, weren't you?

A. I was with John Dimond. I don't know if it

was Mm or me or both of us.

Q. You don't know?

A. I don't recall. That is over three years ago.

Q. Well, now, didn't you testify just a bit

previous here [177] that the device was similar to

that of the Olson situation because in the Oscar

Olson case only he could draw on the fund?

A. The parallel is this : that here were two bank

deposits, one made by the Treasurer and one made

by the Board

Q. Will you please answer that question?

A. All right. It was money that should have

been put in the General Fimd and was not put into

the General Fund in both cases; it was put into a

special bank account. Checks were draA\Ti on it in

both cases. There is your parallel. It doesn't mat-

ter who drew the checks. They were drawn illegally,

dei^osits made illegally, because the deposited money

should have gone into the funds that were set up

by the Legislature and they weren't, and the money

was not deposited to the fund in both cases.

Q. But I thought you just testified previously

that the deposit was legal?
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A. At tin* time thoy said it was, l)nt thou T got

an opinion.

Q. Bnt yon didn't have the o])ini()n at tlie tiine

yon talked to Mr. Damn when this avtiele was

printed, did yon? A. Oh, yes I did.

Q. The opinion ([' the Attorney General?

x\. That the money from the Chilkoot Ferry was

supposed to «:o to the General Fund.

Q. Well, what wonld. that be? Information that

would, cause [178] you to believe that it was an

ille.^'al deposit?

A. Well, it o'oes like this: if the money had been

deposited into this special bank account and held

for any particular reason that the Road Board

thoui^ht was necessary to hold it for a short ])eriod

of time, the money should then have been taken

from that account and turned over to the Treasurer

to 2:0 into the General Fund. It could not have

gone into the Gas Tax Fund under that particular

opinion, but it never w^as transmitted until this

thing- happened.

Q. Transmitted—you mean to the General

Fund ? A. Yes.

Q. Until this thing happened?

A. Until it came out in the paper.

Q. Well, the funds were frozen then, weren't

they?

A. That's right, they were frozen and they

stayed frozen for I have forgotten how long, but

eventually the xittorney General and the Treasurer,

I tiiink—sonie1x)dy—got together and thev Vx'orked
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out a S3'stem of how they could get the money trans-

mitted into the General Fund, and I think that is

where it went, what was left of it.

Q. Well, now, will you go back and answer my
question. I am putting it to you for the third time.

Didn't you testify here previously this evening that

in the Olson situation the Territorial Treasurer, or

Olson, was the [179] only one who could draw

monies out of the fund?

A. He fixed it that way
;
yes.

Q. How did he fix it that Avay?

A. I don't know w^hat he told the bank.

Q. What sort of an account was it?

A. What?

Q. What sort of an account was it?

A. It was just a special fund and all forms of

taxes were dumped into it.

Q. Did it have a label?

A. It might have been Oscar Olson, or it might

have been Oscar Olson, Territorial Treasurer, I

don't know.

Q. Is it your testimony now then that he was

the only one who could draw upon the fund?

A. Well, apparently so, because the checks that

anyone else wrote on his behalf were signed by that

person for Oscar G. Olson, or '

' Oscar G. Olson by so

and so."

Q. Well, then others could draw^ on the fund,

couldn't they, by writing a check, signing Oscar

Olson and their name, "by"?

A. They were his employees.
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Q. All Ti,<;lit. TTow was that similar or wlicrc

does that situation elosely })arallel this one, where

Robert Conghlin is the only one authorized to draw

on the fund?

A. But was Robert Coui;lilin tli(> only one that

was authorized'? [180]

Q. Didn't you check the fund?

A. I don't know who was authorized. T didn't

see the miimtes.

Q. Well, then, how can 3^ou speak indiscrimi-

nately and say to Mr. Daum that the case closely

paralleled th(^ Oscar Olson case without any inves-

tigation?

A. I am saying the parallel is this: there were

two

Q. That isn't the question. Please answer the

question.

A. Regardless of who drew the checks or who

deposited them, you had two accounts in the l)auk

not authorized. Money is dumped into it ; with-

drawals from both of these accounts. There is th(^

parallel. Now who did it or didn't do it—that

has nothing to do with what T was telling the At-

torney General. I was pointing out to him that

here is another account similar to the one that

had already been cleared up, wdth withdrawals simi-

lar to the other one. There is the parallel.

Q. But you knew at that time that Oscar Olson

had admitted his guilt of defrauding the Territory

of funds properly in his possession, didn't you?

A. Yes.
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Q. And you said this case closely parallels the

Oscar Olson case ? A. Yes.

Q. ImiDlying that the three members of the

Board were defrauding [181] the Territory, didn't

you I

Mr. FauUaier: I object to that question.

A. I didn't say they were defrauding the Terri-

tory. I just said the device was similiar.

Q. You haven't pointed out wherein it was simi-

lar. You don't know who was authorized to draw

on this checking account.

A. It doesn't make any difference. The device

was the same in both cases. There is your parallel.

It was up to the Attorney General, if he wanted to

follow through, to find out w^ho was wrong and who

was right. Here is the device which is being used.

There is the parallel.

(Reading suspended.)

Mr. Nesbett: Just to interrupt a moment, your

Honor, with respect to these objections. I noticed

your Honor might be making notes. We have

stipulated that—Mr. Faulkner wanted to permit

Mr. Moore to go on "Outside"; he was no longer

going to live in the Territory—and the deposition

would be admitted regardless of the form of any

question, and so any objection that Mr. Faulkner

makes during the reading of the deposition is

waived in the stipulation.

The Court: I take it in the reading of all these
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<loi)ositions that objections made at the time of

taking are waived unless th(\v are i'<'n(\ved lier<-?

Mr. Kay: Right. [IS:^]

Mr. Faulkner: We don't ha\e an}', your Honor.

'i'lie Court: So that, if any objections were

made, that you waiuld make them.

Mr. Faulkner: We liaven't any.

(Reading- resumed by ])laintiffs.)

Q. Why didn't you say th.at tlie account was

an miauthorized-type account rather than compare

it to a case of admitted fraud and admitted guilt?

A. How^ did I know? There is three hundred

dollars short.

Q. You didn't know it then?

A. Well, I know it now.

Q. You didn't know it then?

A. Yrell, here is something else that is wi'ong

with it, then. Here I knew^ that payments were be-

ing made out of it. Every single pajmient made

was illegal.

Q. You only knew^ of one payment at that time ?

xV. One was all that was necessary.

Q. You only knew of one payment at that time,

didn't you, that is, a proposed payment to Steve

Homer ?

A. The check was written and was all that was

necessary, because that certainly would lead you to

believe that others had been made.

Q. Actually, you knew that the account had

]')een in existence for months, didn't you?
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A. No. [183]

Q. Back to the time when the vouchers for pay-

ment out of the Motor Fuel Tax Fund had ceased

to come through your office?

A. I didn't know payments were being made

from it until this check was brought to my atten-

tion.

Q. Maybe you didn't see any actual checks on

it, but you knew the fund existed and that they

were paying expenses in some manner, didn't you?

A. Sure they were paying them on the vouchers,

because I was getting vouchers.

Q. You weren't getting A'ouehers the last two

or three months, were you ?

A. I don't know if they were or not.

Q. You hadn't been getting any vouchers to be

paid out of the Motor Fuel Tax Fund for several

months j^rior to the check for Steve Homer on the

Chilkoot Ferry Fund?

A. I must have been. If I hadn't, it didn't

concern me too much, because as I said before, we

might be a month or two months in some cases

getting expense vouchers in for some of the offices.

A lot of the offices hold them up until the end of

the month, or whenever they get enough. We might

get two or three hundred of them at a crack. The

big departments, for instance, they will send theirs

in once a week, not day by day, but once a week, j

Some of the others maybe once a week, and some

send them in [184] as they write them, maybe one

a dav.
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Q. Af'tTially you know llial finid existed for

some time, didn't you? A. No, I didn't.

Q. And tliat they were not j)ayin^ the expenses

out of the Motor Fuel Tax Fund by su])mitting

\()U('hers to you for sevei'al months i)rior to the

runninj;* across of Steve Homer's check, and you

held it u]) so that you could break the iRnvs to the

Daily Alaska Empire just before election time?

A. No. T can answer that just plain "no."

Q. All right. Tell me about this three hundred

dollar shortage. Where did that occur in the fund ?

A. When the auditors got through there was

three hundred dollars short.

Q. Did you check with the auditors to see where

it might occur?

A. I asked them. It proved out three hundred

dollars short.

Q. That audit was made at the end of 1952, was

it ? A. Yes.

Q. Was the check of Steve Homer ever cashed

out of that fund? A. No.

Q. Was that money ever paid to Steve Homer?
A. As I understand, the Legislature had to pass

a special [185] act to pay him.

Q. You were Auditor when the result of that

audit came out, were you? A. Yes.

Q. Did you do anything about the three hundred

dollar shortage? A. Yes.

Q. What did you do?

A. Gave it to the Attorney General.

Q. What did you say?
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A. I called it to his attention that there was

three hundred dollars short and that eleven or

twelve thousand dollars in illegal payments were

made. I don't know what else, but that was the

gist of it.

Q. What did the Attorney General say to you

or do about it?

A. He didn't say anything to me.

Q. He never answered your letter*?

A. I don 't recall if he did or not.

Q. Well, did you let the matter drop right there ?

A. It was his baby then. I couldn't do anything

more.

Q. Well, you don't know Avhether he answered

your letter or not?

A. I don't recall. He may have answered it, but

I don't recall what else he did.

Q. Did you ever talk Avith the auditors, Ander-

son and Company ? [186] A. About what ?

Q. The result of their audit which showed a

shortage.

A. Well, yes, I always went over it with them.

It isn't the first audit they ever made. We used

to go over all of them to see that we both under-

stood one another.

Q. Where did the shortage occur?

A. Well, they collected three hundred dollars

apparentl}^ in fares or on freight, and there is no

record of it other than what Arthur Anderson and

Company found, and where tliey found it I don't

know.
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Q. Are th(>y in Seattle? A. Yes.

O. Artliiu' Aiuleisoii aiul C()ni])anv ?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you lia])})en to recall tlieir address?

Mr. Faulkner: Arthur Anderson and Company,

Dexter Horton l>uildino-, Seattle, WashinL!,ton.

Q. A regular complete audit i-epoi-t was made

to you on that fund, wasn't it, Mr. Moore?

A. Yes. It isn't what they call a detailed audit,

a hnlance sheet. That would include all the depart-

ments that handle money.

Q. All the de])artments that handle money?

A. Yes.

Mr. Nesbett: I think that is all. [187]

(Reading concluded.)

Mr. Nesbett: That is all of the deposition of

Neil Moore.

(Whereupon, Court recessed for five minutes,

reconvening- as per recess, with all i)arties

present as heretofore and the jnry all present

in the box; whereupon the trial proceeded as

follows :)

Mr. Nesbett : Your Honor, at this time we would

like to publish the deposition of Jack E. McFarland,

formerly an enqjloyee of the Empire, taken in An-

chorage, Alaska, on October 1, 1955.

The Court: Very well.

Mr. Nesbett: Appearances were Buell A. Nes-

bett, of Attorneys for Plaintiffs, and Norman Ban-
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field, of Attorneys for Defendant. ''Jack E.

MeFarland being first duly sworn upon oath, de-

poses as follows on Direct Examination by Mr.

Nesbett:"

(Whereupon, the deposition of Jack E. Me-

Farland was read as follows—questions by Mr.

Nesbett and answers by Mr. Kay :)

DEPOSITION OF JACK E. McFARLAND

(Reading.)

Q. Is your name Jack E. MeFarland?

A. Jack E. MeFarland.

Q. McF-a-r-1-a-n-d? A. That is right.

Q. What is your profession, Mr. MeFarland?

A. At the present time I am teaching school.

Q. And where are you employed?

A. For the Territory of Alaska at Nondalton,

Alaska.

Q. And I will ask you whether or not you were

employed by the Empire Printing Company in

Juneau in the year 1951-52? A. I was.

Q. And in what capacity were you employed

there?

A. First as a reporter covering the Federal

Building and general reporting, feature writing,

and later as managing editor.

Q. Mr. MeFarland, do you recall the dates of

your employment with that corporation?

A. From October 1, 1951, until late in the sum-
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iriorof T)2 and F don't kiiow my exact date of termi-

nation.

Q. Can yon state tlic niontli of tcnnination

?

A. I

Mr. Bantiold: An^iist 9, .Jack. T looked that n[).

A. Thank yon.

Q. Now, Mr. McFarland, had yon had any news-

paper experience prior to going to woi-k for the

Jnnean Fjmpire? A. Yes.

Q. Will yon state briefly the experience yon had

had in newspaper work prior to working for tlie

Jnnean Empire?

A. Well, my first full-time job, other than work-

ing aronnd [189] varions small papers, was with

the Wichita Beacon, a daily, at Wichita, Kansas.

Q. In what capacity were yon emjiloyed by that

paper? A. As reporter and night editor.

Q. State any other newspaper experience you

have had, if any ?

A. Leaving the Beacon I went into the Marine

Corps. After my service with the Marine Corps,

1 got out in January, 1945, I went to work at

Halstad, Kansas, for a weekly, The Halstad Inde-

pendent. I was employed there for approximately

2 years and again I don't know the date of when
I left there.

Q. Did you have any newspaper experience

subsequent to working for the Halstad Independ-

ent ?

A. I left the Halstad Independent to go to w^ork

for the Hutchinson News Hearld, a daily.
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Q. And in what capacity were you employed

there ?

A. I w^as a reporter for the courthouse with the

Hutchinson News Hearld and I was employed thei

for about a year at which time I quit for the pur-

pose of trying my hand at free-lance writing. My
wife and I moved out to Colorado. We bought a

very small business out in Fairplay, Colorado, and

I spent considerable time w^orking with the Court

County, a small paper there. I was hired as a

publicity man for the tlien ])ig celebration they

had each [190] year there and I did writing for

the Rocky Mountain News and the Denver Post,

both Denver papers.

Q. Now^, Mr. McFarland, will you state the cir-

cumstances connected with your going to w^ork for

the Juneau Empire?

A. Well, I was hired by ]^lr. Beard on the tel?

phone—before then I had worked for another small

paper in Colorado and had gone to Denver as

public relations man, press relations man for Gates

Rubl^er Company, which entailed work that I did

not exactly care for, which w^as turning news stories

over to the Denver papers which sort of patted

Gates on the back and it soon became rather de-

pressing to me. So I wrote letters to Alaska. Hav-

ing long wanted to come up here I wrote letters

to Alaska papers. I received replies from 2 or 3

of them ; one of them from the Daily Alaska Em-
]^ire, and it sounded favorable and I answered their

letter. The letter w^as from James Beard. I said

I
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that T would like to come, but T wanted to know

more detail ai)out what the work would ])e and in

a day or 2 after there had been time for him to

receive my letter, I £»aiess, I got a call at tlie office

of Gates Rubber Com})an}'. The switchhoard girl

said, "Mr. McFarland, you have an ovei-seas tele-

])houe calk" Everyone was very surprised and,

frankly, I was rather embarrassed. I had to take

the call in front of my boss and fellow emploj^'es

there, but I did and I acce])ted the [191] job,

although I had to give notice to Gates.

Q. Novr, prior to coming to Alaska to work for

the Daily Alaska Empire, did you have any knowl-

edge of the political situation in Alaska?

A. None at all.

Q. After arriving in Juneau were you given any

instructions by ofHcials of the Daily Alaska Empire

with respect to editorial policy in connection with

your political reporting?

A. Yes, I soon found out—well, I rememl}er

that the Denali Alaska Steamship boat docked

there at Juneau at night. I remember it was very

rainy. I remember Beard met me at the gangplank.

Q. What was Mr. Beard's capacity with the

Empire ?

A. He was formally business manager, however,

he had rather strange power around there. He was

more or less in control of all the functions of the

])aper, although Helen Munson, of course, w'as the

l)oss of the whole operation.
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Q. Mr. McFarland, go ahead with your answer

in connection with Mr. Beard'?

A. Beard met me at the dock. We went over

to Mike's for a midnight snack and a few drinks

and he was very happy for me to arrive. I would

not have any preconceived notions of the political

scene, according to him, and he felt that I would

be just the man to help him in this [192] job, which

seemed to be the main purpose of the paper at that

time to find something which would either cripple

or embarrass the Gruening Machine and talk with

Beard that night was rather long and nearly all

concerned what had to be done to find something

on the Gruening Machine, Gruening and his co-

w^orkers. After that I met Helen Munson the next

day.

Q. I will ask you whether or not you received

any instructions from Helen Munson with respect

to editorial and reporting policy as concerned the

Gruening administration ?

A. Well, it was always first there. It was always

with Jim and Helen together. I was with them

a great deal.

Q. Now, Jim is Jim Beard, is it?

A. Jim Beard, yes.

Q. And Helen is Helen Munson?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was Helen Munson 's connection with

the Daily Alaska Empire?

A. She was publisher and majority stockholder.

Q, Now, go ahead and answer the question.
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A. AVoll, Mrs. Miinson and l^cai-d seemed to be

^viiii;' nie an indoetrination course. That is the way

it ap])eared to me, and, frankly, I was ^-een. T was

interested. I wanted to know everything-, however,

from their viewpoint. [193] T only got one side of

the story, of course, and that was that Gniening

and most of the people who worked under his ad-

ministration were absolutely no good and it was a

machine that had to be broken uj) for the good of

Alaska. That took place over some time. It was a

matter of talking over a few drinks in Mr. Beard's

apartment and at Helen's house, out to dinner to-

gether, a party here and there, and other people

were drawn in to help me get started on the right

track, I guess, such as Mark Jenson, he is a senator,

and Pete Gilmore, who is a lobbyist for the Salmon

Industry, and other people.

Q. Will you explain what you mean when you

say Mark Jenson and Pete Gilmore were brought

in to assist Mrs. Munson and Mr. Beard?

A. Well, that w^as my impression and they were

brought in and introduced to me with such remarks

as "Here is somebody that can give you the right

dope now.'- That was the trend to get me started

right there so I would knoAV what the true picture

was concerning the political scene in Alaska be-

cause I was—I might say, I was brought up to be

the managing editor and they wanted someone they

could trust.

Q. Mr. McFarland, I will ask you whether or
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not Helen Miinson ever expressed any i)ersona]

opinion of Governor Gruening to you ? [194]

A. She did at several times, yes, and it was with

the utmost hatred. There were at least two specific

times that I can remember where she said some-

thing of the sort that Gruening was absolutely

no-good and anything that could be done to get him

out of there was not imethical to do it which was

the reason that question came up, Avhen I ques-

tioned certain policies, and I might say there was

some heat wdth her remarks concerning Gruening.

It was not a matter of calm instruction to me. Her
remarks were made with evident feeling of hatred

and dislike.

Q. Can you state the degTee of hatred she ex-

hibited to you in these remarks concerning Gover-

nor Gruening?

A. It was quite vehement and it was a hatred

which seemed to me to border on phychosis. Now,

I am interested in psychology, but I don't claim

to be an expert, but certain things would make
anyone realize that, I believe. There could be no

joking or humorous talk with her about Gruening.

It all had to be serious. Any mention of his name
was likely to ])ring on a, I would sa}^ an angry

flush to her face. It was something that I don't

believe I had ever seen i^efore—such an intense

hatred of anyone and it was undoubtedly dee])

seated. I don't know what the original motivatiori

was, but I have noticed when, at certain events,

Governor Gmening might be one of the [195]
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speakers of llie exciiinu' luid slie was ])Tesent off-

liand Iminorons i*eniavks by (Jnieiiiiin' wliieli ini,u-bt

l)riiiu,' ('lniclvl(>s froin anyone (>lse only ])r()U,t;ht an

a.n^'ry fiusli to liei- fjiee and it evidently made liei*

unliappy that otluM* ])eople thon^lit it \v;'s runny.

Q. Now, Mr. McFarland, T will ask you wlietiier

or not Mr. Beard ever expressed any ])ersonal

opinion of Governor (J]'nenin<2,' and his administra-

tion to yon?

A. Many, many times and T v.'onld say that

Beard's feelings on the subject were not the same

as Mrs. Munson's, although his efforts were v(^ry

intense toward tiying to discover something that

might embarrass Governor Gruening or his admin-

istration, ])ut he had a very scheming attitude about

the whole thing and it was not like Helen's—

a

deep hatred in the man. I have heard liim say that

he is probably one of the smartest men in Alaska

and said, "All the more reason we have got to do

something about it," and well, the whole purpose of

the paper, while I was there, as far as I could see,

was to get something on Gruening and the admin-

istration. The business end w^as going to pot and

it was obvious to ever3d:)ody and whether there was

money in the bank was not important, it seemed

to me. If there was something in the news that

tended to eml3arrass Gruening and his administra-

tion that made up for all the deficit, I think. [196]

Q. Mr. McFarland, I will ask you whether or not

Mr. Beard ever exi^ressed any o])inio;i of Franl:

Metcalf personally to you?
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A. Ob, yes. I might say that Beard thought that

Metcalf was incompetent, if not crooked and I can

recall him talking about Mr. Metcalf being a stupid

son-of-a-bitch and no-good. Another thing I would

like to say here which seems to me to show how low

Beard was in his attitude, I remember at one time

I accompanied Beard to the Democratic meeting

over in Sitka. It was a convention.

Q. Do you recall the approximate date?

A. It was—should have been about November of

1951.

Q. Go ahead.

A. And I walked into Bob DeArmoun's shop

over there with Beard and Bob and Beard greeted

each other very cheerfully and the first remark of

Beard's w^as, "Well, Bob, have you thought of any

way we can get that God-damn kike out of office

yet," and DeArmoun's remark was, ''No, but we

should have a chance to work on it."

Q. Now, I will ask you whether or not Mr. Beard

or Mrs. Munson ever expressed any personal opin-

ion of the plaintiff, Henry Roden, to you ?

A. I can't answer that except for hearing Helen

talk about Henry and being with Helen when she

talked to Henry. I [197] would say that Mrs. Mun-

son had some regard for Mr. Roden and I don't

know that she had any feeling about Henry except

that, I believe, since this business came up that

since Henry was under Gruening, that whether he

was a friend or not did not make any difference

with her, or at least not enough to prevent his being
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iiiNolvod as lon^' as soFiictliiiio; could he done to get

Gruelling out of office.

Q. I will ask you whether or not Mrs. Munson
ever expressed any o])inion of Frank Metealf to

you '?

A. 1 can't answer that. All 1 ean answer is that

T don't know, exce])t, I mean, tliere was a whole

run-down from time to time about who was okay

and who was not okay and I suppose Frank's name
was mentioned.

Q. Would you state that Frank's i)osition, as

far as Mrs. Munson was concerned, was somewhat

to that of Roden or any other official connected witli...
the Gruening administration ?

A. I would say it was somewhat diiferent. My
opinion is that I don't believe Mrs. Munson cared

a great deal for Frank Metealf. T just cannot say

anything specific to supjiort that, but I do know
she did have some regard for Heni'y Roden and I

don't believe she did for Frank Metealf. They both

fell into the same category eventually so [f-^S]

Q. I will ask you whether or not you had, during

the period of your employment, differences of opin-

! ion with Mr. Beard and Mrs. Munson over their

editorial and reporting policy as concerned the

f
Gruening administration ?

A. I certainly did have. It began not too long

I after I was there but I always felt that something

could be changed around there to make that Daily
' Alaska Empire the paper that it should be. I w^anted

to try to help make the paper it should be for the
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capital city dail}- paper, h\\\ arguments did go on

from the time I took over the desk until the time

I quit because there was one scene after another

around there. I might say, even before then I did

a very bad job of covering the Federal Building

simply 1because I could not write what I thought

was the news of the day because I never knew what

Helen was going to say about what I wrote about

the various officials. What I mean is, your job as a

reporter is to interview your officials on your beat.

Well, if I were to intei^sdew Governor Gruening

or George Sunborg or Frank Metcalf or others I

never knevr how Helen would feel about what I had

written, although I was reporting the news as it

was given to me at least and what I saw.

Q. Mr. McFarland, will you state as nearly as

you can vvhen the first such diiference of opinion

and argument arose ?

A. The first serious breach was before I took

over the desk. [199] I cannot recall the exact date.

I could check very easily. It was the date of the

publication of the photographic reprints of the

pages of the California Investigating Committee's

book on Un-American Activities ]3urporting to show

that Governor Gruening had been tied up with

Communist front organizations and I felt it was a

very low, very unethical thing to do because these

—^well, it was just the plain tactics that McCarthy

used, which to me was entirely wrong, and they

gave Gruening no chance. They blasted—he was

all over the front page and with headlines which
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seemed to make it no doubt tliat he was a Commu-
nist and we had him as Governor in office and 1 felt

very strongly tliat tliat was wrong as far as gov-

ernment practices went and 1 argued with Beai'd

about that; to no avail, of course. It went in the

paper. The next day my job was to go up and ask

Gruening whether lie was now oi- ever had Ix'en a

Communist and I don't believe he hid behind the

5th Amendment, but I forget what his answer was

at the time, but it was the evidence that they pro-

duced which was actually so flimsy that I, and the

sources from wliich it came

Q. What were those sources?

A. As I subsequently learned this so-called dis-

covery that Gruening had been connected with or-

ganizations which were somewhat subversive came

from, well, what I consider [200] a wild-eyed fa-

natic in the mid-west. I don't remember the man's

name. He did have a radio program out of Tulsa,

Oklahoma, I believe. He is a very wealthy man and

is in the oil tool business, I believe. I can't recall

his name now% however, I do recall seeing a letter

written to Beard by this man commending him for

liis publication and offering further help and prob-

ably from—now here is where my memory fails

me—it was either Gerald L. K. Smith, or Gerald

Winrod, both of whom have been condemned, by

at least as many people, of certain Communist ideas.

Q. Can you state whether or not any of these

so-called sources had criminal records?



322 Empire Printing Co. vs.

(Deposition of Jack E. McFarland.)

A. I believe that Winrod was convicted during

the war of—I can't state the charge. He was found

guilty, I believe, of—it was against the war effort,

at least, or something like that.

Q. Can you state any other instances where you

had differences of opinions and arguments with Mr.

Beard and Mrs. Munson in connection with their

reporting and editorial policy as concerned the

Gruening administration ?

A. It went on from day to day, of course. Some-

times maybe we would stay clear of each other for

a week or two and at other times it was just a con-

stant battle around there. However, the next major

thing that I recall, as [201] I remember now, was

during these—something about this Palmer Airport

case up here. Now^, when the story originally broke

I was not at the Empire. That was before my com-

ing there. However, there was some decision made

by the Comptroller General of the United States

while I was on the desk there and some very brief

wire story came through concerning the Palmer

Airport and I believe that it Avas a decision which

was adverse to its successful transaction. At least

it was encouraging to Beard and Mrs. Munson and

there was some happiness over it, as I remember.

Something about the Comptroller General had made

a decision to not pay for the land, but to pay for

certain other costs, but not the major cost. But it

was the story, it was probably a 2-paragraph story,

and when Beard saw that he wanted it splashed

all over the front page. I told him it seemed im-

I
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portant eiioii^li to nic all ri^lit, wc should liave it

])romiTU'ntly dis])lay('{l, but the story itself would

not cany a big licadline. It was a small story and I

sent it out to the back to be set in bold-i'ace tyj)e.

1 intended to })lace it in a box up in the upper right-

hand corner of* the papei'. That did not satisfy

Beard at all. ITe wanted a l)ann('r hcadliiu' across

the front i)age that the decision had gone against

Gruening and we had a very hot argument about it

and I offered my desk and cliair to Mr. l>eard, sa\'-

ing that if [202] he wanted to nm tlic ])ap('r he

better sit there and run it.

Q. What was your objection to giving the story

the prominence^ Mr. Beard apparently desired?

A. Well, it was not that much of a story. I had

no feeling about it one way or the other. In fact,

I did not and still don't kiiow the details of the

case, but it was not important enough story to be

given more than what A.P. gave it with perhaps a

little background on it. A banner headline on a

story like that would be plain ridiculous and would

make the paper look ridiculous and very biased,

which, of course, it was intended to be by Beard

and Helen. When I say Beard, I mean that he was

the errand boy between the newsroom and the front

of&ce as much as he was the general manager and

he would confer with Mrs. Munson about these

things at times and at other times he would tend to

make the decisions himself. Whether Mrs. Munson
was even in towTi at that time I don't know, but

at any rate, we had a real falling out over that and
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I don't believe we had a whole lot of social contact

after that because it was obvious that we couldn't

agree about what was right and what was wrong

with the newspaper.

Q. What objection did you have in general with

the reporting policy sponsored by Mrs. Munson and

Mr. Beard?

A. Well, just too many attempts for distortion

of facts and [203] to me unethical procedures in the

newspaper business. My idea of running a news-

paper is to get all the news that you can, print

and present it as fairly as you can, and if you

want to say—whatever you want to say, say it in

your editorial column; that is your business and

probably part of the function of a newspaper, but

it is not the function of a newspaper to editorialize

in all the news columns and it was done time and

again in the Empire, directlj^ and indirectly, by

the emphasis given certain stories and like empha-

sis given other stories. Now, that goes against any

newsman and I never worked for a paper before

where that was done. I might say that it is an odd

thing, and I never thought about it until just the

other day, but the Daily Alaska Empire was the

first Democratic paper I ever worked for. All the

rest had been Republican papers, and I had never

seen that much bias on any papers that I have

worked for.

Q. Mr. McFarland, will you state why you left

the employment of the Daily Alaska Empire on A\\-

gust 9, 1952?
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A. Well, it was a combination of aiiotlici- artru-

ni(»nt which had no way of Ix'ing- resolved.

Q. What was that argument about?

A. it again concerned the Gruenin<; gani;. (jov-

ei-nor Gniening had just returned from the Demo-

cratic Convention ol' 1952, National Convention,

where Adlai Stevenson was nominated [204] and he

liad been on the scenes and I thought it would make

a fine story getting a local person's picture of what

had happened back at the National Convention.

Since Juneau is rather political minded 1 was sure

tlie story would be widely read. I sent one of my re-

porters, Erv Jenson, to talk to Governor Gruening

about his experiences at the Democratic Convention

and he got a long interview with Governor Gruen-

ing and I thought it was very intei'esting and it

was the best story of the day as far as I was con-

cerned. I think if we could check back we would

find out there was nothing else that good of a story

lor the day, and I ran it in the top position in the

])aper and there was certainly an emotional ex]jlo-

sion around there when the paper came off the

press. Helen acted as I had never seen her act be-

fore. She tore into the newsroom and slammed the

' paper down and she was almost in tears, in hyster-

ics. She was hysterical and saying she had never,

never thought she would see any such thing in her

paper and why did I do it to her and—oh, she was

very upset and I tried to reason with her, which was

always a futile thing where Governor Gruening was

concerned, but she said that nothing like that should
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ever be in her paper; that Governor Gruening was

no-good and, oh, she said a lot of things, that he

should be exterminated and such things as that, but

at any rate I [205] got no satisfaction in talking

to her and I offered her my job, that I would quit,

and I don't believe that she was hardly aware that

I was telling her that I would quit, but I did talk

with Beard and he agreed and raved and ranted

about what a terrible thing I had done and I told

him that it was time that I left there I thought and

that I thought they should get someone else and

he better just fire me. Well, I will say now that I

tried more than one time to get Beard to fire me.

I had had enough and I really didn't want to quit.

I wanted to do a job there and it was eternal opti-

mism, I guess, I thought perhaps I could, but I

did tiy to get Beard to fire me and he wouldn't

fire me. My motive for trying to get him to fire me

was probably confused—I hadn't been there a year

and I thought I might as well get out of the Ter-

ritory and since I hadn't been there a year the Em-

pire would probably have to pay my way back down

to the states if I was fired rather than quit and

he wouldn't fire me so I quit and I gave him 2

weeks' notice.

Q. Now, is it your testimony then that the edito-

rial and reporting policy of the Daily Alaska Em-

pire continued up to the time you quit on August 9,

1952 ? A. Then and after then, yes.

Q. Now, do you have any personal interest in

the outcome of this casef [206]
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A. None at all.

Mr. Ncsbctt: I Ix-licvc that is all.

Cross-Exaniination

By Mr. ]^>anfield:

(Reading suspended.)

Mr. Nesbett: Mr. Bantield representing the de-

; fendant.

(Reading resumed.)

Q. This Democratic Convention you spoke of, is

that the one at which Gruening supj^orted Ke-

I fauver so strongly and then came back and told

I you how he supported Stevenson ?

A. He supported Kefauver strongly, 1 under-

• stand, but I don 't believe that he said in that story

that he supported Stevenson, although his personal

likes were Stevenson.

Q. What do you think—he wrote the article?

A. Yes, he wrote the article.

Q. GiTiening"? A. Yes.

Mr. Nesbett : Oft the record.

(Reading suspended.)

Mr. Nesbett: The next one is an answer.

(Reading resumed.)

I
A. Erv asked him for an interview^ and for his

ideas on the convention and Gruening sat down and

wrote the story of [207] the convention and gave it

to Erv and I ran it.
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Q. It was a very glowing account of Stevenson,

wasn't if? A. I believe it was.

Q. You wanted to send it back to Stevensor,

didn't you? A. Possibly.

Q. Jack, sometime after that you did get inter-

ested in some other newspaper in Juneau, didn't

you ? A. That is correct.

Q. What paper is that?

A. Juneau Independent.

Q. And what company publishes that paper?

A. That is called News, Incorporated.

Q. How long had you left the Empire before

you joined that paper?

A. Well, the first issue of the Independent came

out September 3, I believe, and, of course, there was

2 weeks preparation or more.

Q. Well, you left the Empire with the intention

of joining the Independent, too, didn't you?

A. Not really. As I say, I was ready to leave

the Territory. I will tell you exactly what happened.

Maybe this will clear it up. James Woodruff, who

was circulation manager for the Empire at that

time, wanted to know what I was going to do. I told

him I really didn't know, that I would probably

leave. [208]

Q. Then you did decide soon after that, however,

you, to help form the Independent?

Very shortly.

Just to make it brief

Yes, before I had—after I had p;iven notice

did

A
Q
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and ))oroiT I liad (luit I made up my mind to start

the liidepeiidt'nt, yes.

Q. You are still a stockliuldcr oi' it ?

A. I don't know how to answer that. 1 dun'i own
any stock in it rigid now, although Mr, Sunborg

owes nie some money from the shares

Q. Shares that you did have?

A. Yes, and if he doesn't pa\- me I can take the

stock back.

Mr. Bantield: That is all.

A. One thing T would like to say here for the

record though no one asked me, but it sounds ridicu-

lous after what I said, but I have a great deal of

personal regard for Mrs. Munson and I think she

has some for me. I think she is a warm hearted

woman and she is a fine person, but I do think she

was, for some reason, misguided in her hatred for

Gruelling and it hurt her. That is about all.

Mr. Nesbett: No further questions.

(Reading concluded.)

Mr. Nesbett : That is all of the deposition. [209]

FRANK A. METCALF

"

called as a witness on behalf of the plaintiffs, being

first duly sworn, testified as follows:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Nesbett

:

Q. Will you state your full name, Mr. Metcalf ?

A. Frank A. Metcalf.
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Q. Where do you reside, Mr. Metcalf?

A. In Juneau.

Q. And how long have you resided in the Terri-

tory of Alaska ? A. Forty-two years.

Q. And did you commence to reside in Juneau

inmiediately upon coming to Alaska'?

A. I came direct to Juneau; yes.

Q. And isn't it a fact that your entire residence

in Alaska has been m or very near Juneau except

when away on work?

A. With the exception of the World War ; I was

in Sitka for three years during the War.

Q. Mr. Metcalf, what is your profession?

A. Civil and mining engineer.

Q. Will you state briefly, give the Court briefly

a biographical sketch of your backgromid from the

time you studied to become a professional engineer

U13 to the present?

A. Well, I graduated in engineering and was

later given a master's degree in civil. [210]

Q. Where did you receive that master's degree

in civil engineering? A. Cornell.

Q. And go on from there, Mr. Metcalf.

Q. I was with the Milwaukee Kailroad on the

early work in the Bitter Root Mountains in Eastern

Washinaton and on location and then I went to work

for the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mine in Warner

and transferred from there to Alaska Juneau in

Juneau. I worked for them for two years, three

years probably. Then T went into work for myself.
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Q. And wliat was the natui'c (»!' your scir-ciiiploy-

jiicnt ?

A. (Jcneral engineering;-, sui-veyinu,- and patent

work on mining- elaims, anything that required an

iMigineev's report.

Q. 1 will ask you whether or not you liave a wide

acquaintance in Southeastei-n and all over Alaska?

A. T w^ould. say, yes, I did—1 have.

Q. Now, as of September 25, 1952, isn't it a fact

that you were the Territorial Highw^ay Engineer,

.Mr. Metcalf? A. Yes, I was.

Q. And when did you lirst assume that office?

A. J was ap])ointed to the job to fill out the term,

the unexpired term, after the death of Leonard

Smith, who had been the Highw^ay Engineer prior.

(^. And in wdiat year were you appointed? [211]

A. I thhik that w^as in '47.

Q. I will ask you w^hether or not you subse-

quently ran for election for the office of Territorial

Highway Engineer ?

A. I ran for election the following spring.

Q. That would be in 1948, Mr. Metcalf?

A. It was the first election after that, I know.

Q. Were you elected?

A. I was elected; yes.

Q. For w^hat period of time?

A. For a four-year period.

<. Q. And I vdW ask you whether or not you served

during the entire four-year period as Territorial

Highway Engineer? A. Yes.
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Q. And at the coming of the next election for

that of&ce did you run again?

A. I ran again the next election.

Q. And in what year was that, Mr. Metcalf?

A. That was in '53.

Q. Well, the election, what year was the election

in? A. Well, the election was in '52.

Q. Do you recall the month in 1952 ?

A. It was in November.

Q. Well, now, are you sure it was November, or

might it have been October?

A. Well, it was in the fall elections. It would be

October, [212] I believe.

Q. It is a matter of common knowledge, isn't it,

that the election was held in October?

A. Yes. But I held office until the first of April

the following year.

Q. Of 1953? A. Yes.

Q. Were you elected in the election of 1952-53 ?

A. I was defeated in the fall election
;
yes.

Q. And who defeated you, Mr. Metcalf?

A. The present incumbent, Mr. Reed.

Q. Now, I will ask you whether or not Mr. Reed

was your opponent in the primary election for the

office of Territorial Highway Engineer?

A. Yes, he was.

Q. Can you state, roughly, by refreshing your

memory from these papers I hand you, the relative

vote standings between you and Candidate Reed at

the conclusion of the primary election?

A. At the conclu'=:ion of the primary I received



Ilcnrj/ liodcn, ct al. 3ll'J

(Testimony of Frank A. Metcalf.)

10,703, and lie I'oceived 8,170, leaving a majority of

2,5ii3 in the primary.

Q. Pardon me. A\'ill you ro])eat that phrase—the

majority wliat ^

A. That was a majority of 1^,533 in the i)ri-

mary. [213]

Q. In whose favor? A. In my Favor.

Q. And can you state the results of tlie general

election for the oftiee of Highway Engineer?

A. In the general election he received 12,528, and

I received 11,907, leavini;' a difference of 621 in his

favor.

Q. Now, that was the general election of October

of 1952, was it not, Mr. Metcalf ?

A. Yes, sir ; it was.

Q. Now, after \'ou left office—did you say you

left office in April of 1953?

A. The termination of my term; yes.

Q. Did you then conunence to practice your pro-

fession, that of civil and mining engineer?

A. A^es.

Q. And were you immediately em])loyed after

leaving office in April, 1953?

A. I was that summer; yes.

Q. AVell, then, what month, can you recall, in the

summer of '53? A. Well, it wasn't until July.

Q. And what was the nature of your work from

July onward?

A. T was ^^ith the Admiralty Alaska Gold Min-

fing Company on Admiralty Island.

O. AVhat was vour ^^alarv, Mr. ^fetcalf. as Ter-
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ritorial Highway [214] Engineer during the time

you held office ? A. Eight thousand.

Q. Eight thousand dollars per year?

A. Yes.

Q. And what was your monthly salary, approxi-

matel}' ?

A. Well, I would say around seven hundred.

Q. Seven hundred dollars per month?

A. Take-home.

Q. Now, Mr. Metcalf, I show you a copy of Plain-

tiffs' Exhibit 1, the front page of the Daily Alaska

Empire of September 25, 1952, and ask you if you

recall seeing that edition on or about that date ?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Will you state your first reaction after read-

ing that portion of the front page concerning the

operation of the Ferry Chilkooti

A. Well, I can certainly say I was deeply hurt,

to start vith, having lived in the Territory all tiris

length of time, to have my name spread over the

front page of a pajier as being a crook and compared

to an admitted criminal.

Q. Mr. IMetcalf , was there such a thing as the so-

called ferry fund? A. Yes.

Q. Can you briefly give the Court a background,

the Court [215] and the jury, a background sum-

mary as to how that fund was commenced and why

it Avas commenced?

A. The year prior to this I had been operating,

as a member of the Board, operating the ferry be-

tween eluneau and Haines on the INTotor Fuel Tax.
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(^). Now, when you say tlic yi'ar hof'oi'c this, you

mean the year VXA, (1(» you?

A. Tlie year 1951—wliic.li took a eonsideiabh*

annnnit of money ['vowx the, reeeij)ts from the Motor

Fuel, and traveling over tlie Tei-ritoiy

Q. AVell, Mr. Metealf, possibly it would keep it

more in chronological order if I asked you questions.

Did the Territory of Alaska buy this ferry called

Ithe Chilkoof? A. Yes; it bought it.

Q. And in what month of the year did they buy

Ithat ferry? A. In the spring of '51.

Q. Do you recall the month?

A. 1 think it was in May.

Q. Had the Territory owned the ferry prior to

May of 1951 ? A. No.

Q. Can you state to the Court and the jury why
:the Territory pui'chased this Chilkoot Ferry in Ma}'

of 1951

?

A. It was to close a gaj) between the highway oi*

the Interior and Southeastern and it was to sn))stan-

tiate the promises and the advertising which we liad

done through the papers [216] in the States whereby

pei^ple could make the connection from the highway

lo the Inside Passage and south.

Q. You mean advertising throughout Alaska and

he States that people could drive over the highway

ystem of the Territory and take their cars from

Haines, the terminal of one branch of the Territorial

lighways, and travel to Juneau on the ferry, and

>u])sequently to Ketchikan and on ''Outside" on

Maska Steam?
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ritorial Highway [214] Engineer during the time

you held office ? A. Eight thousand.

Q. Eight thousand dollars per year?

A. Yes.

Q. And what was your monthly salary, approxi-

mately ?

A. Well, I would say around seven hundred.

Q. Seven hundred dollars per month?

A. Take-home.

Q. Now, Mr. Metcalf, I show you a cop}^ of Plain-

tiffs' Exhibit 1, the front page of the Daily Alaska

Empire of September 25, 1952, and ask you if you

recall seeing that edition on or about that date ?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Will 3^ou state your first reaction after read-

ing that portion of the front page concerning the

operation of the Ferry Chilkoot %

A. Well, I can certainly say I was deeply hurt,

to start mth, having lived in the Territory all this

length of time, to have my name spread over the

front page of a pa])er as being a crook and compared

to an admitted criminal.

Q. Mr. ^letcalf, was there such a thing as the so-

called ferry fund? A. Yes.

Q. Can you briefly give the Court a background,

the Court [215] and the jury, a background sum-

mary as to how that fund was commenced and why
it was commenced?

A. The year prior to this I had been operating,

as a member of the Board, operating the ferry be-

tween Jimean and Raines on the j\Totor Fuel Tax.
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Q, Now, wlicii you say the year hoforc this, you

mean the year 1951, do you?

A. Tlie year 1951—which took a eonsi(UMabh'

amount of money from the, receipts I'l-om the Motor

l^'uel, and traveling over the Territory

Q. Well, Mr. Metcalf, possibly it would keep it

iii(»re in ebronological order if I asked you questions.

Did the Territory of Ahxska buy this ferry called

the (liilkootf A. Yes; it bought it.

Q. And in what month of the year did they buy

tliat ferry? A. In the spring of '51.

Q. Do you recall the month?

A. I think it was in May.

Q. Had the Territory owned the ferry prior to

May of 1951? A. No.

Q. Can yon state to the Court and the jury why

the Territory purchased this Chilkoot Ferry in May
of 1951?

A. It was to close a gap between the highway of

the Interior and Southeastern and it w-as to substan-

tiate the promises and the advertising which we had

done through the ])apers [216] in the States whereby

people could make the connection from the highw^ay

to the Inside Passage and south.

Q. You mean advertising throughout Alaska and

the States that people could drive over the highway

>;.\'stem of the Territory and take their cars from

Haines, the terminal of one branch of the Territorial

highw^ays, and travel to Juneau on the ferry, and

subsequently to Ketchikan and on '* Outside" on

Alaska Steam?



336 Empire Printing Co. vs

(Testimony of Frank A. Metcalf.)

A. Yes. That was our advertisement.

Q. I will ask you who operated that ferry prior

to the purchase by the Territory in May of 1951 ?

A. I think Bob Somniers owned it prior to that.

Q. Then, is it your testimony that it was o^Mied

and operated prior to the purchase by the Territory

hy private individuals? A. Yes.

Q. Well, then, why did the Territory not permit

those private individuals to continue to operate the

ferry rather than have the Territory purchase it?

A. I don't quite get your question on that.

Q. Well, why didn't the Territory, or why didn't

you as Territorial Highway Engineer, encourage

Sommers to continue to operate the ferry rather

than have the Territory buy the ferry and operate it

themselves ?

A. Well, he bought it for his own use. He had

several [217] contracts in different sections of the

country and he would transfer his machinery on this

boat to the different places, but the strictness of the

Coast Guard prevented his landing on the beach,

and it became of no further use to him.

Q. I will ask you this. Did Mr. Sommers in the

spring of 1951, prior to the purchase by the Terri-

tory, propose to operate that ferry between Haines

and Juneau so that you could live up to your adver-

tising promises?

A. Yes, he did, but his requirements were too

stringent, and he couldn't meet them.

Q. Then, is it your testimony in essence that Mr.

Somir.ers, as a private individual and owner of the
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ferry, was unable to operate tlie rei-i-y ;is you iiccdi-d

to have it operated.^ A. NCs.

Q. Was that the reason then tor tlie jniiehase by

the Territory f

A. Well, that was one of them. U'c had to main-

tain this service.

Q. Were there any otlier reasons?

A. Well, it was a ])art ol' our road system and

was the cheapest maintenance of sixty- tive miles of

]'oad that I could figure.

Q. Aft(»r the Territory j)urchased the ( /hilkoot in

May of [218] 1951, what method was used to defray

the operating expen.ses of the ferry?

A, It came in on the Motor Fuel Tax.

Q. Now, what is the nature of this ^lotor Fuel

Tax Fund?

A. It is two cents on a gallon for all motive fuel

collected from all over the Territory.

Q. Now, in other words, the Territory taxes

every gallon of gas purchased two cents and that

money is paid into the Territorial Treasury into this

fund?

A. Yes ; and is used by the Alaska Road Commis-

sion, or Board of Road Commissioners.

Q. All right. Is this fund, called Motor Fuel Tax

Fmid. what is called or known as an earmarked

fund?

A. It is an earmarked fund for purposes for

which it is collected.

Q. xViid what is, in short, an earmarked fund, so

th(^ jury will understand it thoroughly ?
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A. Well, it is collected for purposes, can be only

used for the purposes for which it is collected. In

this case it was for roads and harbors and harbor

facilities.

Q. All right. Now, Mr. Metcalf, can you state, in

l)rief, and not in great detail, how a disbursement

would be handled from the commencement of the in-

currence of the obligation to receiving final jDayment

when the money was taken out of this earmarked

Motor Fuel Tax Fund? [219]

A. The vouchers were written on and w^ere

turned over to the Auditor and paid by the Treas-

urer.

Q. And, as a general matter, how long did it take

for those vouchers to be 23rocessed and the person en-

titled to receive payment to actually get his money ?

A. Considerable time elapsed. It was not an im-

mediate cancellation of the debt. It took sometimes

Aveeks to get vouchers through.

Q. And, now, how were the receipts, that is, the

cash receipts, from the operation of the ferry han-

dled after the purchase in May of '51
'?

A. They were directed right into the Treasurer's

Office. It didn't go through my office at all.

Mr. Faulkner: What was the question?

Mr. Nesbett : Will the reporter read it ?

Court Reporter: "Q. And, now, how were the

receipts, that is, the cash receipts, from the opera-

tion of the ferry handled after the purchase in May
of '5ir'

Mr. Faulkner : Thank you.
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Mr. Xcsbctt : And will yoii i-('})oat, tlie answer

please i

Court Kepoi'ter: "A. They were directed riglit

into tlie Treasurer's Offiee. It didn't go through my
offieeatall."

Q. (By Mr. Nesbett) : Then, Mr. iVIetcalf, after

the receii)ts

The Court : Is it a convenient place to stop, coun-

sel ? [220]

Mr. Nesbett: Yes, sir.

(Whereupon, the jury was duly admonislicd,

and the trial was recessed until 2:00 o'clock

p.m., November 16, 1955, and resumed as per

recess, with all pai'ties present as heretofore

and the jury all present in the box; whereupon

the trial pi'oceeded as follow^s:)

The Court: Before proceeding, I dislike to dis-

connnode you, ladies and gentlemen of the jury, but

I would like to ask that you be excused for just a

very few minutes, three or four minutes, while we

discuss a matter, and then we will call you back. The

grand jury room is now available for your con-

A'enience at any time.

(Whereupon, the jury retired from the court-

room ; and the following proceedings were hadt)

The Court: Is Mr. Allen in the courtroom? Mr.

Allen, would you come forward please ? I understand

that you are the new publisher

Mr. William Prescott Allen : That is rio-ht.
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The Court : of the Daily Empire ?

Mr. Allen: That is right.

The Court: Word has come to the Court, Mr.

Allen, that you are offering to bet in public places

on the outcome of this trial. I wonder if that is

true?

Mr. Allen: Well, could I explain that, or do I

just have to answer? [221]

The Court : Well, it can be answered yes or no.

Mr. Allen: Then 1 don't choose to answer.

The Court : Well, then it is the duty of the Court

to admonish 3^ou that offering to bet upon the out-

come of the trial in the progress of the trial before

the Court is a contempt of court and

Mr. Allen: I will stand on my constitutional

rights if I have to answer.

The Court: Very well. Well, then I must ad-

monish you that that is a contempt of court for

which 3^ou can be punished and that you must desist

from it. It is particularly dangerous if any such

word might possibly come to the attention of the

jury. It is also dangerous to make general com-

ments about the town w^hich may come to the atte]i-

tion of the jury. Surely, you must avoid that sort of

thing. I am sure that you were not aware of any vio-

lation of ethics or conduct in oifering to make such

bets, and that is why we informed you that

Mr. Allen: I didn't say that I offered it, and I

offered to explain it, and you haven't saw fit to per-

mit me that American privilege.

The Court: ^Hiy, you said you did not care to

make a statement.

Mr. Allen: I said if I could explain it.
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The Court: Xvvy well; 1 aiii soriy. You said

you [222] stood ou your eoustitutioii;il i)rivil(\<;v aud

would uot

Mr. Allen: Constitutional pi'ivilc^c to make it

;nid to be luuird.

The Court: Well, yes; surely; if you wish to

make a statement, you may do so.

Mr. Allen: I can make a comi)lete statement ex-

])lainin^ exactly what happened'?

The Court : X'ery well.

^Ir. Allen: You want me to make it under oath?

The Court : Tt is not necessary.

Mr. Allen : It will just take a minute, and I don't

v.ant to make a s])eech, but I want to make a state-

ment.

I come here in June and bought this newspaper,

and one of the tirst men i met was Mr. Roden, and,

when 1 met Mr. Roden, I met him with Mrs. Mon-
sen. I have been in this kind of business all my life,

down here at Olympia, \Vashin,oton, and on.

^Ir. Roden told me what a fine man the former

STOvernor was, how he regretted being in a suit

ag'ainst—he was telling me: I wasn't telling him

—

how he regretted being- in a suit against Mrs. Mon-
sen, or the former governor's daughter, how the

paper had favored him, how the governor had

favoi'ed him, how the whole family had favored

him, and he regretted it yery much. There was no

bet made. There was eventually, i)Ossibly. Xow, he

went on to tell me all this. Meantime T [223] had

met the former governor.

The Court: Pardon me, Mr. Allen. Perhaps this
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is not understood. The report that has come to the

Court is your offering to bet here in Ketchikan dur-

ing this session. Now, that, you sa}^, you do not wish

to state. I am merely admonishing you that

Mr. iVllen : I said, if I could make a statement, I

will tell exactly what happened and how.

The Court : Well, all that we are concerned with

is as to whether j^ou are making these offers here in

Ketchikan at the present time. That is all that the

Court is concerned with.

Mr. Allen: I can't finish what I said with Mr.

Eoden?

The Court: AVell, if it explains what you are

doing now, .yes.

Mr. Allen: Well, it does, because he is the man
that I talked to.

So, I told Mr. Roden, I said—a day or two later

—

I was, you might say, in business with him, up to a

point that I failed to have any confidence in him—

I

told him I wouldn't print his Journal any more, his

Mining Journal, for a man that would make a state-

ment that he didn't want to be in a suit against peo-

ple that he loved and

The Court: I think your statement is entirely

out [224] of order. All that you were asked to state

is whether or not you were making bets during the

progress of this trial here in Ketchikan regarding

the outcome of this suit, offering to make bets to

the litigants or the parties representing the litigants.

That is all that you are admonished that you should

not do. Now, whether you have done it or not, I do

]iot know.
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Mr. Allen: Well, I am lici-c I'or you now. You

Just, go ahead and liaudlc nic like you liavo. I have

respect for your court, totally. Vou handle me just

like you want to liandle me.

The Court: I nmst admonish you then, sir, thai,

if any repetition of offerin«i; to make such hets comes

to the attention of the Court and if that is proven,

that you will he i)unished for contempt of court.

Mr. Allen: Well, you can be assured that I will

not make sucli a statement.

The Court: Very well. That is all we want to

kinnv.

Mr. Allen: Privately or otherwise.

The Court : Tliat is all we w^ant to know\

Mr. Faulkner: If the Court please, I didn't know

about this. Mr. Nesbett just called my attention to

it. But I want to state to the Court that T am very

iilad to have you admonish Mr. Allen or anybody

else, because it is very embarrasvsiiii^- to me and to

Mrs. Monsen to have anybody interfere [225] with

the trial of this case outside of the trial. We are

here to try the case, the two of us and nobody else.

Nobody has any right in it at all or to try to i^o

around bothering' the plaintiffs. AVe haven't bothered

them. AVe have the highest regard for them. It is

unfortunate we have to try this case, but there is no

animosity, and T don't want— T am sorry Mr. Allen

did this; I am very sorry; and T certainly am s^lad

that the Court called it to his attention, and, if there

is anyone else on either side who stei)s out of line in

this case anywhere, I want the Court to admonish
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them, because we don't want to try a lawsuit that

way. We want to try it only on the evidence.

The Court : Thank you, Mr. Faulkner ; I am sure

that you would not.

Will you call in the jury?

(Whereupon, the jury returned and all took

their places in the jury box; whereupon the

trial proceeded as follows:)

The Court : Do counsel stipulate that all the jury

are present without the necessity of calling the roll ?

Mr. Nesbett : Yes, your Honor.

Mr. Faulkner: Yes, your Honor.

The Court : You may proceed. Mr. Metcalf may

be recalled to the stand.

(Whereupon, the witness Frank A. Metcalf

resumed the [226] witness stand, and the Direct

Examination by Mr. Nesbett was continued as

follows:)

Mr. Nesbett: Your Honor, may I have the last

question and answer read?

The Court Eeporter: "Q. And, now, how were

the receipts, that is, the cash receipts, from the op-

eration of the ferry handled after the purchase in

May of '51 r' ''A. They were directed right into

the Treasurer's Office. It didn't go through my office

at all." Mr. Faulkner asked for a repeat of the

question, and Mr. Nesbett asked for a repeat of the

answer, and then the next question commenced :
'* Q.

Then, Mr. Metcalf, after the receipts"—there was

adjournment thereafter.
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Q. ( I^y .Mr. Nosbott) : Then, M r. Met calf, after

monies had been received as a result of the operation

of the ferry, they were given to tiie Territorial

Treasurer, were they not ? A. Yes.

Q. And into which Territorial fund did those

luonies go?

A. Those were earmarked for the Motor Fuel

Tax Fund.

Q. Well, I mean monies from the receipts of tlie

ferry ; did they go into the Motor Fuel Tax Fund or

to the General Fund'?

A. They went into the General Fund.

Q. And were you or your purser, who oi)erated

the Ferry Chilkoot, able to draw on monies received

as a result of [:227] the operation of the ferry iti

oi'dei- to i)ay the expenses of operation?

A. No, w^e couldn't. The only ones that could

withdraw that money would be an act of the Legis-

lature.

Q. And how long prior to the purchase of the

ferry in May of 1951 had the Legislature met?

A. They met in the spring of that year.

Q. In the spring of 1951? A. Yes.

Q. And at the time the Legislature met in lf/51

was it known to your office that you would be forced

to ])urchase the Ferry Chilkoot in order to close that

link in the highway svstem?

A. No ; no, we didn't know it at that time.

Q. Then, when w^ould the Legislature have met,

after their adjournment in 1951, in the ordinary

course of events? A. Two years later.
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Q. Would that be in 1953? A. 1953.

Q. Xow, I believe you stated, did you not, that

monies received from the two cents per gallon tax

on gasoline went into the earmarked Motor Fuel Tax

Fund ; is that correct ? A. Yes.

Q. And what was the purpose of that Motor Fuel

Tax Fimd [228] which was earmarked ?

A. For building roads and harbor facilities.

Q. And then how was the Ferry Chilkoot paid

for when it was purchased by the Territory in May
of 1951?

A. It was paid out of that fmid, the Motor Fuel

Tax Fund.

Q. Out of the Motor Fuel Tax Fund ?

A. Yes.

Q. And how were the operating expenses, after

the purchase, met?

A. They were also met out of that same fund.

Q. But then is it your testimony that, although

the earmarked Motor Fuel Tax Fimd was used to

pay the expenses, it was not possible for you or your

purser to use any of the monies, received as receipts,

for the services of the ferry?

A. No, we couldn't use them at all.

Q. And you were in the position, were you, of

having to pay all the expenses of the ferry out of the

earmarked Motor Fuel Tax Fund, but being unable

to use any of the receipts to pay the crew and the

operating expenses ; is that right ?

A. That is true.

Q. How long did that method of handling re-
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('oij)ts and (lisbnrsenu'nts in coiniection witli tlie

TeiTy continue to exist?

A. It went all through that hrst }ear. [229]

Q. Can you state, roughly, when you ceased to

use that method. ?

A. We ceased to use that method immediately

after we had established this special fund for using

the returns of the feriy for its operation.

Q, Now, Mr. Metcalf, will you ex])lain to the

( "ourt and the jury why a different method of han-

dling the receipts and disbursements was devised by

the Territorial Board of Road Commissioners?

A. Yes. We had a meeting, and I explained the

situation from my standpoint and told them where I

was using funds which I didn't think related to that

on account of being collected from sections of the

country which received no benefit from it, and T

thought that, as all other boats that came up to this

country the purser was furnished with a cash ac-

count to pay for longshoremen, pay his advance

freight rates, and other expenses due at that time,

that I thought that we ought to be able to use the

i'unds that we were collecting from passenger and

h*eight receipts to operate it, to buy the oil and to

pay the men when it was due.

Q. I will ask you what, if you know, the requii-e-

nients were in connection with the i^ayment, for

example, of longshoremen who handled the cargo on

the ferry at the ports ?

A. That is a Federal law, and we had to pay
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them as soon as [230] their time was up and they

finished their work.

Q. Then, would it create a great deal of difficulty

in attempting to handle the method by vouchers

through the Auditor and then payment out of the

Motor Fuel Tax Fund?

A. It would be weeks sometimes before they

would get their pay.

0. Now, in connection with pajrment of the mem-
bers of the crew, it is a fact, is it not, that payment

to those people of their wages, earned while working

on the ferry, were governed by Federal regulations ?

A. Yes; the Marine Law.

Q. Sir?

A. The Marine Law, as I understand it.

Q. Now^, to state as an example, if one of the

sailors, able-bodied seamen, quit his job on the ferry,

what requirements would the Federal law lay down

with respect to the payment of that man's wages?

A. He had to be paid immediately upon ceasing

w^ork.

Q. Now, you mentioned advance freight rates.

Would you explain that just briefly for the Court

and the jury and what difficulty you experienced in

connection with the meeting of that requirement ?

A. Well, often shipments came up from the

States for Haines on the Alaska Steamship and were

proba]i]y left at Juneau. We had to pay, oftentimes

we had to pay, the freight [231] that far and collect

it when w^e got to Haines.

Q. Then, in a situation of that sort would your
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purser of necessity be recpiired to pay Alaska

Steanishij) Coni])any i'or the fi-ei,i;ht before he could

receive the freight, place it on the ferry and carry

it to its ultimate destination where he would collect

for it? A. That liappened several times.

Q. Now, (lid th;jt result in considerable incon-

venience and involve bookkeeping- to try and run

those matters through on vouchers through the vari-

ous offices'?

A. Yes. It held up the shij)ment of that freight

often quite a number of days and weeks.

Q. Now, going back to the purchase of the Ferry

Ohilkoot, did you state that one, Mr. Sommers,

owned that ferry prior to the pui'chase of it by the

Territory? A. Yes.

Q. Did ]\Ir. Sommers ])ropose to operate that

ferry between Haines and Jmieau and other phues

during the '51 season as a private enterprise?

A. He tried it
;
yes.

Q. Will you explain what you mc^an when you

say "He tried it"?

A. Well, he couldn't make it pay.

Q. Was any other agency or organization or com-

pany asked to attempt to take the ferry over and

operate it as a private enterprise? [232]

A. That I do not know.

Q. I will ask you, isn't it a fact that you went to

Alaska Steam and asked them, "Would you operate

this ferry as a private enterprise?"

The Court: Coimsel, aren't we going rather far
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afield? Again, can we limit the issues as ~ar - ?-

sible to what is material and essential t*:- Oc ^ . >vu

here? I do not find that to be material in this pres-

ent inquiry.

Ati*. Nesbett: Very well, youi' Honor.

Q. (By Mr. Xesbett) : Now, do you recall the

date that the method of handling the receipts and

disbursements of the Ferry Chilkoot was changed ^

A. Immediately after the action of the Board.

Q. And do you know the date of that action?

A. June 5, I believe.

Q. Of 1952? A. '52; yes.

Q. Xow, can you teU the Court and the jin

briefly what occurred at that meeting of the Teni-

torial Board of Road Commissioners on June 5.

1952?

Mr. Faulkner: If the Court please, I think tl

record of that would be the best evidence.

The Coiui: : I presmne that minutes were kept

the Board meetings? A. Yes. sir. [233]

The Coui-t : I presiune such minutes would be the

luest evidence.

Q. (By Mr. Xesbett) : Mr. MetcaLf, I hand you

this paper and ask you if you can identify it?

A. Yes. This is the minutes of the Territorial

Board of Boad Conunissioners on June 5, 1952,

10:00 ajQtt.

Q. And in which office were those minutes pre-

pared? A. They were prei)ared in my office.

Q. Is the signature to those minutes your signa-

ture? A. Yes. sir.
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Mr. Nesbott: Your Honor, I will offer this in

evidence. (Handing- proposed exhibit to defendant's

counsel.) Do you have any objection?

• Mr. Faulkner: No.

The Court : It may be admitted.

The Clerk: That will be Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 9.

(,). (By Mr. Nesbett) : Mr. Metcalf, is this

])aper I just handed you, which is Plaintiffs' Ex-

hibit No. 9 now, a true copy of the minutes of the

Board as reflected from the official records in the

Highway Engineer's Office ?

A. It is certified to, I think.

Mr. Nesbett: I will read this, your Honor. It is

^'ery short.

The Court: Very well. [234]

Mr. Nesbett : The heading is : "Territorial Board

of Road Conunissioners. June 5, 1952. 10:00 a.m.

I^resent. Governor Gruening, Chairman ; Mr. Henry

Roden, ^leniber; Mr. Frank A. Metcalf, Secretary.

Also present: Mr. J. Gerald Williams, Attorney

General."

"The problem of financing the M/V Chilkoot was

discussed. It w^as pointed out that the fair and equit-

able method would be to redeposit the receipts from

the ferry back into the Motor Fuel Tax Fund in

order to defray part of the operating costs. Mr. Wil-

liams stated that there w^as no provision so far as he

knew for this but would do further research on the

matter. Mr. Roden felt that as long as every cent is

accounted for, the ferry could be operated in part ns
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a private enterprise and the purser could meet some

of the expenses out of the receipts rather than turn-

ing the money back into the General Fund. Thi*^,

recommendation was mianimously approved by the

Board. The Attorney General, Mr. Williams, offered

no objections.

''A discussion as to the number of cars waiting in

both Haines and Juneau led to a decision that in

the public interest this backlog should be taken care

of before the freight that was to go to Yakutat for

Wallace Westfall is delivered. Mr. Westfall was

called into the meeting and advised of this decision.

It was pointed out that the ferry would maintain

two full crews until the backlog is caught up [235]

and the freight delivered to Yakutat in order to run

continuously and better serve all concerned."

The rest of the minutes concerns only action taken

by the Board in connection with the Homer Dock,

and the Committee then resolved itself into another

committee to handle other business. Unless Mr.

Faulkner objects

Mr. Faulkner: No.

The Court: Such references may be omitted.

Mr. Faulkner: No objection to its going in.

Mr. Nesbett: Signed ^'Eespectfully submitted,

Frank A. Metcalf, Secretary."

Q. (By Mr. Nesbett) : Then, Mr. Metcalf, will

you explain to the Court and the jury how then the

receipts and disbursements in connection with the

operation of this ferry were handled subsequent to

that meeting of the Board?
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A. They wore ])laccd in a special accoiinl in P>.

M. Behrends Bank at the dis])()sal of our })Uiser.

(^. And who was the purser?

A. Bobhy (^oui^hlin.

Q. And who eini)loyed Mr. Coughlin to be

purser'?

A. I did; that is, I reconnnended to the Board

tliat he be employed because he had twenty-five or

thirty years' experience in actual ])urser's work.

Q. How long had you known Mr. Couglilin pi'ior

to his eni]:)loyment ? [236]

A. Oil, thirty-odd years anyway.

Q. Now^, Mr. Metcalf, tell the Court an.d the jury

then how Mr. Coughlin handled the receipts and

disbursements after June 5, 1952.

A. He collected them as the}^ came due on the

boat. Ofteii the fares were not paid until they got

aboard the boat, and often the freight was paid

after it got aboard the boat, as far as the cars were

concerned and the trucks.

Q. And to whom was the passenger fare and the

freight cost paid? A. Paid to the purser.

Q. Mr. Coughlin? A. Mr. Coughlin.

Q. And what would Mr. Coughlin then do, after

he had made a round trip to Haines, wdth the money

he had received?

A. He deposited it directly into the bank.

Q. And did Mr. Coughlin at the end of each

trip make any report or check in with anyone con-

nected with the Board, the Territorial Board of

Road Commissioners?
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A. It was his custom; yes.

Q. His custom to do what?

A. To report and to make his weekly report to

the office.

Q. And where did he make the reports?

A. To my office. [237]

Q. And, usually, whom did he work with in your

office in that connection?

A. With my administrative assistant.

Q. And is it your testimony that at the end of

each round trip Mr. Coughlin would come in and

make a complete report with your secretary as to

monies taken and monies expended during that

voyage ?

A. No, not after each voyage. Sometimes it was

the end of the month before he would come in with

his reports.

Q. And after he had checked in with your office

did he—rather, I will ask this—strike that question.

Did you attempt to acquire a Territorial bookkeeper

to handle the books with respect to this new method

of disbursing receipts?

A. Yes. I contacted the Auditor.

Q. Who was the Auditor? A. Neil Moore.

Q. And what did you request of Mr. Moore?

A. I asked him to fix up a set of books that

would comply completely with our operations, and

he said he had no funds to do that with, and he re-

fused my request.


